

The Health and Social Dimensions of Adult Skills in Canada

Findings from the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC)



Government Gouvernement of Canada du Canada



This report is published under the aegis of the Council of Ministers of Education, Canada (CMEC) and the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). Founded in 1967, CMEC is the collective voice of Canada's ministers of education. It provides leadership in education at the pan-Canadian and international levels and contributes to the exercise of the exclusive jurisdiction of provinces and territories over education. PHAC is an agency of the Government of Canada health portfolio, with a mission to promote and protect the health of Canadians through leadership, partnership, innovation, and action in public health.

The PIAAC Thematic Report Series is being developed as part of a broader joint effort of the Ministers of Education of the provinces and territories, through CMEC; the Government of Canada, led by Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC); and a number of federal departments and agencies, such as PHAC. This joint effort was established to support Canada's participation in the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC) and the consequent research and analysis that can inform policy development.

We thank the more than 27,000 Canadians who gave of their time to participate in PIAAC. We also thank the federal, provincial, and territorial officials for their support, participation, expertise, and guidance in the development of this report.

CMEC and ESDC co-chair the PIAAC Advisory Committee in Canada. Members of the committee, together with the people who contributed to the project, are acknowledged at the end of this report.

The opinions expressed and arguments employed here do not necessarily reflect the official views of CMEC, ESDC, PHAC, or the other provincial/territorial or federal departments and agencies involved in PIAAC.

Council of Ministers of Education, Canada 95 St. Clair Avenue West, Suite 1106 Toronto, Ontario M4V 1N6

Telephone: 416-962-8100 Fax: 416-962-2800 E-mail: cmec@cmec.ca © 2017 Council of Ministers of Education, Canada

Ce rapport est également disponible en français.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURESi
Executive Summary 1
Objective1
Key findings2
Implications
Note to Reader 5
What is PIAAC?5
Foundational skills: Literacy, numeracy, and problem solving in technology-rich environments (PS-TRE)5
Main elements of PIAAC in Canada6
Background questionnaire6
Direct assessment of skills
Module on the use of skills8
Interpreting the data in the report8
Rounding9
Placing results in the proper context9
Introduction
How are education and skills connected to health and social well-being?
Objective of this report14
Structure of this report14
CHAPTER 1 : OVERVIEW OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL OUTCOMES IN CANADA AND ABROAD 17
The health and social outcomes of Canadians in an international context
Self-reported health

Trust	. 20
Volunteering	. 22
Political efficacy	. 24
Summary	. 26
CHAPTER 2: SKILLS AND HEALTH AND SOCIAL OUTCOMES OF CANADIANS	. 27
Self-reported health	. 30
Trust	. 38
Volunteering	. 42
Political efficacy	. 47
Summary	. 51
CHAPTER 3: HEALTH AND SOCIAL OUTCOMES OF INDIGENOUS PEOPLES AND IMMIGRANTS TO CANADA	
Indigenous peoples	. 54
Immigrants to Canada	. 61
Summary	. 69
CHAPTER 4: THE IMPACT OF SKILLS ON HEALTH AND SOCIAL OUTCOMES AND LABOUR MARKET PARTICIPATION	. 71
Unemployment	. 72
Precarious work	. 75
Summary	. 84
CHAPTER 5: IMPLICATIONS	. 85
Conclusion	. 89
References	. 90
APPENDIX I: METHODS OF ANALYSIS	. 97
APPENDIX II: STATISTICAL TABLES	105
APPENDIX III: LIST OF PARTNERS	179

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I	Conceptual model of the relationships between education, skills, and the health and social outcomes measured in PIAAC
Figure 1.1	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, OECD average, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012
Figure 1.2	Literacy — Average scores with 0.95 confidence interval and scores at the 5 th , 25 th , 75 th , and 95 th percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by self-reported health, Canada, 2012
Figure 1.3	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, OECD average, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012
Figure 1.4	Literacy — Average scores with 0.95 confidence interval and scores at the 5^{th} , 25^{th} , 75^{th} , and 95^{th} percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by level of trust, Canada, 2012
Figure 1.5	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, OECD average, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012
Figure 1.6	Literacy — Average scores with 0.95 confidence interval and scores at the 5 th , 25 th , 75 th , and 95 th percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by frequency of participation in volunteering activities, Canada, 2012
Figure 1.7	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive political efficacy, OECD average, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012
Figure 1.8	Literacy — Average scores with 0.95 confidence interval and scores at the 5^{th} , 25^{th} , 75^{th} , and 95^{th} percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by political efficacy, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.1	Literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.2	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by gender, age group, and educational attainment, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.3	Numeracy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by gender and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.4	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by proficiency level and age group, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.5	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.6	PS-TRE — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.7	Literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting excellent, very good or good health, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.8	Numeracy — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting excellent, very good or good health, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.9	PS-TRE — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting excellent, very good or good health, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

i

Figure 2.10	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 with a longstanding illness or activity limitation due to longstanding illness, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012
Figure 2.11	Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting an activity limitation due to longstanding illness, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.12	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by gender, age group, and educational attainment, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.13	Numeracy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by gender and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.14	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by age group and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.15	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by age group, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012
Figure 2.16	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.17	Literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive level of trust, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.18	Literacy — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive level of trust, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.19	PS-TRE — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive level of trust, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.20	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by gender, age group, and educational attainment, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.21	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by age group and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.22	Numeracy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.23	Literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 volunteering, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.24	Literacy — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 volunteering, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.25	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive political efficacy, by gender, age group, and educational attainment, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.26	PS-TRE — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive political efficacy, by age group and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.27	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive political efficacy, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.28	Literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive political efficacy, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.29	Literacy — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive political efficacy, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 2.30	PS-TRE — Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive political efficacy, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.1	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive health and social outcomes, by Indigenous identification, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.2	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by Indigenous identification, Canada, oversampled provinces and territories, 2012

Figure 3.3	Numeracy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by Indigenous identification and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.4	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by Indigenous identification, Canada and oversampled populations, 2012
Figure 3.5	PS-TRE — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by Indigenous identification and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.6	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by Indigenous identification and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.7	Numeracy — Adjusted likelihood of Indigenous populations aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.8	Literacy — Adjusted likelihood of Indigenous populations aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.9	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive health and social outcomes, by immigrant status, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.10	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by immigrant status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.11	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by immigrant status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.12	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by immigrant status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.13	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive political efficacy, by immigrant status, Canada and oversampled provinces, 2012
Figure 3.14	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive political efficacy, by immigrant status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.15	Literacy — Adjusted likelihood of recent immigrants aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.16	PS-TRE — Adjusted likelihood of recent immigrants aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 3.17	PS-TRE — Adjusted likelihood of established immigrants aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 4.1	Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive health and social outcomes, by employment status, Canada, 2012
Figure 4.2	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by employment status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 4.3	PS-TRE — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by employment status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 4.4	Literacy — Adjusted likelihood of unemployed population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 4.5	Numeracy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 employed in secure, precarious, or "no contract" employment, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
Figure 4.6	PS-TRE — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 employed in secure, precarious, or "no contract" employment, by proficiency level and age group, Canada, 2012
Figure 4.7	PS-TRE — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 employed in secure, precarious, or "no contract" employment, by proficiency level and educational attainment, Canada, 2012
Figure 4.8	Literacy — Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 employed in secure, precarious, or "no contract" employment, by proficiency level and immigrant status, Canada, 2012

- Figure 4.9 Numeracy Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 employed in secure, precarious, or "no contract" employment, by proficiency level and hourly earning quintiles, Canada, 2012
- Figure 4.10 Literacy Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 in precarious employment reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
- Figure 4.11 PS-TRE Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 in precarious employment reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
- Figure 4.12 Numeracy Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 in "no contract" employment reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012
- Figure 4.13 Numeracy Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report leaving or not seeking employment for health or family reasons, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Executive Summary

Skills matter for individual and societal well-being. The importance of skills for securing employment and succeeding in the labour market is well established. Increasingly, evidence also suggests that skills are important for realizing other outcomes, including good health and social and civic participation.

The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC) is a survey of adults aged 16 to 65. It assesses key cognitive skills used at work and at home that are needed to fully participate in society and the economy in the 21st century. Led by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) in partnership with countries around the world, PIAAC directly assesses proficiency in three information-processing skills: literacy, numeracy, and problem solving in technology-rich environments (PS-TRE). The survey also collects information on a range of personal, socioeconomic, and other traits, including four health and social outcomes that are the focus of this report: self-reported health, trust in others, volunteerism, and political efficacy (understood as a person's sense of having an influence on government). This report also considers other PIAAC elements connected to health and social well-being, including longstanding illnesses or health conditions, activity limitations, reasons for leaving or not looking for work, and employment type (e.g., secure versus precarious).

Objective

Evidence from the OECD and other research studies shows that individuals with lower skills often struggle to participate in social activities, manage chronic conditions, find and interpret health information, and access other social services (OECD 2013a; Kickbusch et al. 2013). This report examines the extent to which literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE are associated with health and civic and social engagement. It considers two aspects of this issue: (1) whether skills have an independent influence on the health and social outcomes measured in PIAAC, and (2) whether improved skills proficiency supports better health and social outcomes for certain populations. Together, these analyses assess the contribution that skills make to the well-being of individual Canadians and Canadian society.

Both descriptive and regression analyses of PIAAC survey data are included. Descriptive analyses present the distribution of health and social outcomes across Canadian jurisdictions, and in comparison to other countries. Results are presented by key socioeconomic and sociodemographic variables, including gender, age, education, Indigenous identity,¹ and immigrant status. Regression analyses assess skills' independent effect on health and social outcomes in Canada, and at different levels of educational attainment. The report also presents results for certain groups considered to be at risk of poorer health and social outcomes: unemployed Canadians and those employed in precarious work.

As a cross-sectional survey that collected data at a single point in time, PIAAC cannot confirm the direction of influence between skills proficiency and health and social outcomes. Longitudinal data would be required to assess whether stronger skills *cause* people to enjoy better health and social outcomes, and/or whether

¹ PIAAC 2012 used the word "Aboriginal" to indicate respondents who self-identified as First Nations, Métis, or Inuit. As a result of changes in terminology since then, these respondents are referred to collectively as Indigenous peoples in this report. For more information on Indigenous respondents, see *Skills in Canada: First Results from the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC)* at http://www.cmec.ca/Publications/Lists/Publications/Attachments/315/Canadian-PIAAC-Report. EN.pdf.

positive outcomes *cause* people to be in a position to attain and maintain stronger skills. Instead, the report explores how skills and health and social outcomes are associated to strengthen understanding of inequalities and vulnerable groups in the Canadian population, inform targeted interventions, and create a foundation to support further research.

Key findings

Health and social outcomes are unevenly distributed within Canada.

Canadians generally report health and social outcomes that are above average for the OECD countries that participated in PIAAC. However, the distribution of these outcomes varies across levels in literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE, as well as by socioeconomic and sociodemographic characteristics.

Descriptive analyses of PIAAC data reveal that results for self-reported health follow a step-wise gradient by skill level: those with the highest average proficiency levels report better health, with health status worsening as skills decline. Trust and political efficacy do not follow a similar gradient pattern but show a clear demarcation in the proficiency scores of those reporting positive outcomes (with higher scores on average) compared to those reporting negative outcomes (with lower scores on average). Results for volunteering are more complicated—the lowest levels in literacy are found in the groups who volunteer most frequently *and* in those who never volunteer.

Certain groups of Canadians tend to have poorer health and social outcomes, particularly those with less education and the unemployed. Differences in health and social outcomes by gender tend to be small, with women generally reporting better outcomes than men. Older Canadians report higher levels of trust and lower levels of volunteering. Self-reported health also tends to decline with age, though PIAAC results suggest that skills may have the potential to moderate this decline because older Canadians with higher skills tend to report positive health in similar proportions to younger age groups. Outcomes for Indigenous peoples and immigrants to Canada are more nuanced, influenced by a range of historical and contemporary factors, including social and economic exclusion, and for Indigenous peoples, the legacy of Canada's history of colonization.

For all of these groups, the proportion reporting positive health and social outcomes increases with skill level. According to PIAAC, Canadians who score above 335 (or Level 4) in literacy report only positive health and social outcomes. This suggests that a highly literate population may also be characterized by good health, stronger social cohesion and connectedness, and greater civic participation.

Higher skills are associated with better health and social outcomes.

Regression analyses confirm that Canadians with stronger literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills are more likely to report positive health, trust, volunteering, and political efficacy than those with lower skills. These relationships persist when controls are added for factors likely to influence the relationship between skills and health and social outcomes, including age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, Indigenous identity, immigrant status, and language in which the PIAAC assessment was completed. Literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE are all strongly associated with each of the four measured health and social outcomes. The likelihood of reporting good health and higher levels of trust, volunteerism, and political efficacy generally rises as proficiency improves.

Skills are associated with health and social outcomes independently of education.

Four levels of educational attainment are considered in this report: less than high-school diploma; highschool diploma; postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree; and postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher. Within each of these levels, rising skills proficiency is associated with greater odds of reporting positive health and social outcomes. For certain outcomes, the effect of skills appears to be stronger for those with less education. Among people with less than a high-school diploma, those at the highest literacy levels are more likely to volunteer than those at the lowest levels, after controlling for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, Indigenous identity, immigrant status, and the language in which respondents completed the PIAAC skills assessment.

Higher educational attainment is not as strongly associated with positive health and social outcomes when skills proficiency is low. Conversely, when proficiency levels are high, there is a strong likelihood of reporting positive health and social outcomes—even among those who did not complete high-school. These results suggest that skills are more than a corollary to education. They have an independent effect on self-reported health, trust, volunteering, and political efficacy. These results suggest that further research is warranted to better understand the role of adult competencies as a social determinant of health independently of education.²

Indigenous peoples tend to report poorer outcomes—but skills may narrow some gaps.

PIAAC data on the health and social outcomes of Indigenous peoples³ should be interpreted in the light of ongoing social, cultural, and economic marginalization—including the implications of colonization. PIAAC data indicate that at the national level, Indigenous peoples score lower on literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE compared to the non-Indigenous population, and that a smaller proportion of Indigenous peoples self-report positive outcomes for health, trust, and political efficacy. Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples report comparable levels of volunteerism. As with other population groups, health and social outcomes tend to improve as proficiency levels rise. In fact, there is no statistically significant difference in the proportions of Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples reporting excellent, very good or good health at the highest levels of literacy and numeracy proficiency. Conversely, the gap in levels of trust reported by Indigenous and non-Indigenous and non-Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples widens as skills improve.

Regression analyses reveal that rising skills proficiency is associated with a greater likelihood of Indigenous peoples having positive self-reported health, trust, and volunteering after controlling for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, and test language. Higher levels in numeracy appear to most strongly predict positive outcomes.

Immigrants' outcomes vary with length of residence in Canada.

Immigrants to Canada⁴ generally report lower levels of trust and volunteering than the Canadian-born. Recent immigrants (in Canada for less than 10 years) report higher levels of positive health than either established

² "The social determinants of health influence the health of populations. They include income and social status; social support networks; education; employment/working conditions; social environments; physical environments; personal health practices and coping skills; healthy child development; gender; and culture." "Social Determinants of Health," Public Health Agency of Canada, Canadian Best Practices Portal, retrieved from http://cbpp-pcpe.phac-aspc.gc.ca/en/public-health-topics/social-determinants-of-health.

³ Indigenous respondents surveyed in PIAAC include First Nations people living off-reserve, Métis, and Inuit.

⁴ An immigrant is a person who is, or has ever been, a landed immigrant/permanent resident. This category includes people who have come to Canada as refugees.

immigrants or the Canadian-born, likely as a result of the well-documented "healthy immigrant effect."⁵ There are no significant differences between immigrants and the Canadian-born with respect to feelings of political efficacy. Results for immigrants are influenced by sociodemographic factors (such as age), as well as cultural, linguistic, and other factors that likely shape perceptions and practices around health and civic and social engagement.

Similar to results for other groups, the health and social outcomes reported by immigrants tend to improve as proficiency rises. For recent immigrants, this relationship persists even after controlling for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, and test language. Literacy tends to be the strongest predictor of positive outcomes for this group, particularly with respect to volunteering and political efficacy. For established immigrants (in Canada for more than 10 years), connections between information-processing skills and health and social outcomes are less clear. However, PS-TRE proficiency does appear to have some significant influence on self-reported health, volunteering, and political efficacy.

Skills are not enough to show an improvement in health and social outcomes for unemployed Canadians.

As with other surveys, PIAAC data confirm that people who are employed enjoy better health and social outcomes than those who are unemployed.⁶ However, the health and social outcomes of unemployed Canadians, unlike other population groups, do not consistently improve as proficiency levels rise. In fact, self-reported health actually declines at the highest levels in literacy.

More research is needed on the skills, health and social outcomes of workers in precarious employment.

Precarious employment is generally understood to encompass "nonstandard" work arrangements, such as casual or temporary positions. Research has found that precarious employment is accompanied by a range of adverse effects, including impacts on health and social well-being. This is of concern given rising levels of precarious work in Canada and internationally.

PIAAC allows for the initial exploration of relationships among precarious work, skills, and health and social outcomes. However, these analyses should be interpreted with caution because of data limitations. These exploratory analyses indicate that young adults, those with lower educational attainment, recent immigrants, Indigenous peoples (at lower skill levels), and women (at higher skill levels), are more likely to be employed in precarious jobs. The proportion of Canadians engaged in precarious work does not change as skills improve, although more Canadians at higher skill levels report having permanent jobs and fewer work in "no contract" jobs. Increased skills proficiency does not affect the self-reported health of those who are precariously employed, but skills do appear to modify the negative impact of precarious employment on social outcomes. Additional research and more nuanced data are needed to better understand these relationships.

Implications

Analysis of the PIAAC health and social outcomes data provide evidence on the relationship between literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE proficiency and the health and well-being of Canadians. Existing theoretical

⁵ The health advantage enjoyed by recent immigrants is understood to stem from the selective nature of international migration—healthy individuals are more likely to migrate, and admission criteria often favour factors associated with good health (e.g., education and work experience).

⁶ The "unemployed" in PIAAC consist of those who were neither working nor self-employed in the month prior to PIAAC, were able to work, and were actively seeking work or expecting to begin a job for which they had been previously hired (Statistics Canada et al., 2013, p. 61).

and empirical evidence confirms that there is a connection—likely a causal one—between education and health. This report builds on that literature by confirming that skills are associated with the health and social outcomes measured in PIAAC independently of factors like education, and that skills may help to ameliorate health and social outcomes for Canadians at greater risk of social and economic disadvantage. These findings suggest that increased proficiency in information-processing skills has the potential to provide social and economic benefits to both individual Canadians and Canadian society.

Note to Reader

What is PIAAC?

An initiative of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC) is a household survey of adults aged 16 to 65. Its aim is to assess key cognitive and workplace skills needed for successful participation in 21st-century society and the global economy.

PIAAC directly assesses cognitive skills in the areas of literacy, numeracy, and problem solving in technologyrich environments (PS-TRE). PIAAC's extensive background questionnaire also provides information about a number of other skills and personal traits.

In Canada, PIAAC was conducted by Statistics Canada and made possible by the joint effort of the Ministers of Education of the provinces and territories, through the Council of Ministers of Education, Canada (CMEC), and the Government of Canada, led by Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC). For definitions and background information about PIAAC in Canada, please refer to the pan-Canadian report titled Skills in Canada: First Results from the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC), (Statistics Canada, 2013) or visit www.piaac.ca.

Foundational skills: Literacy, numeracy, and problem solving in technology-rich environments (PS-TRE)

To measure skills in an international context, Canada joined PIAAC.⁷ The program, which builds on previous international assessments, provides internationally comparable measures of three skills that are essential to processing information: literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE. Given the centrality of written communication and fundamental mathematics in virtually all areas of life, as well as the rapid integration of information and communications technology (ICT), individuals must be able to understand, process, and respond to textual and numerical information in both print and digital formats if they are to participate fully in society.

Literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE are considered key to that ability. Literacy and numeracy, developed in any language, provide a foundation for the development of other, higher-order cognitive skills. Together with PS-TRE, they are prerequisites for gaining access to, and an understanding of, specific domains of knowledge. They are also necessary in a broad range of contexts, from education, to work, to everyday life.

⁷ The OECD refers to PIAAC as the "Survey of Adult Skills."

Main elements of PIAAC in Canada

The PIAAC survey is made up of three main parts: a background questionnaire, a direct assessment of skills, and a module on the use of skills.

Background questionnaire

The PIAAC background questionnaire puts the results of the skills assessment into context, classifying survey participants according to a range of factors that influence the development and maintenance of skills. In particular, the questionnaire facilitates the analysis of skills distribution across sociodemographic and socioeconomic variables. It also permits the study of outcomes that could be associated with skills. The questionnaire is divided into the following sections:

- Demographic characteristics (e.g., Indigenous identity,⁸ age, gender, immigrant status);
- Educational attainment and training (e.g., level of education, where and when attained, field of study);
- Employment status and income (e.g., employed or not, type of work, earnings); and
- Social and linguistic background (e.g., self-reported health status, language spoken at home).

Direct assessment of skills

The direct-assessment component measures the three foundational information-processing skills described earlier. Assessment participants are tested in the official language of their own choice (English or French), and thus the results are influenced by their proficiency in that language. Each skill is measured along a continuum and within a context of how it is used. To help interpret the results, the continuum has been divided into different levels of proficiency. These do not represent strict demarcations between abilities but instead describe a set of skills that individuals possess to a greater or lesser degree. This means that individuals scoring at lower levels are not precluded from completing tasks at a higher level—they are simply less likely to complete them than individuals scoring at the higher level. Descriptions of the different levels and the abilities that they comprise are available in Appendix I.

PIAAC recognizes that concepts such as literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE are too complex and varied to be captured by a single measure. For example, there are multiple forms of literacy, rather than a single one. The assessment's aim, therefore, is not to redefine or simplify such concepts; rather, it is to evaluate a specific, measurable dimension of them. The skills assessed by PIAAC are defined in terms of three parameters: content, cognitive strategies, and context. The content and cognitive strategies are defined by a specific framework that describes what is being measured and guides the interpretation of results (OECD, 2012). The context defines the different situations in which each of these skills is used, including professional, educational, personal, and societal.

⁸ PIAAC 2012 used the term "Aboriginal" to indicate respondents who self-identified as First Nations, Métis, or Inuit. As a result of changes in terminology since then, these respondents are referred to collectively as Indigenous peoples in this report.

Literacy

For the purposes of PIAAC, literacy is defined as "understanding, evaluating, using and engaging with written texts to participate in society, to achieve one's goals, and to develop one's knowledge and potential" (OECD, 2012, p. 19).

Respondents are measured for their ability to engage with written texts (print-based and digital) and thereby participate in society, achieve goals, and develop their knowledge and potential. This requires accessing, identifying, and processing information from a variety of texts that relate to a range of settings (see Appendix I for more information).

PIAAC also includes an assessment of reading components designed to provide information about adults with very low levels of proficiency in reading. It measures skills in print vocabulary (matching words with the picture of an object), sentence processing (deciding whether a sentence makes logical sense), and passage comprehension (selecting words that make the most sense in the given context). Results from the assessment of reading components are not presented in the thematic report series. Once OECD publishes reading-component results, the findings can then be replicated at the Canadian and provincial/territorial levels.

Numeracy

PIAAC defines numeracy as "the ability to access, use, interpret and communicate mathematical information and ideas, in order to engage in and manage the mathematical demands of a range of situations in adult life" (OECD, 2012, p. 33).

Respondents are measured for their ability to engage with mathematical information and manage the mathematical demands of a range of situations in everyday life. This requires understanding mathematical content and ideas (e.g., quantities, numbers, dimensions, relationships), and the representation of that content (e.g., objects, pictures, diagrams, graphs).

The PIAAC definition is designed to evaluate how mathematical concepts are applied in the real world—not whether someone can solve a set of equations in isolation (see Appendix I for more information).

PS-TRE

Respondents are measured for their ability to use "digital technology, communication tools, and networks to acquire and evaluate information, communicate with others, and perform practical tasks" (OECD, 2012, p. 45).

This requires understanding technology (e.g., hardware, software applications, commands, and functions) and solving problems with it. Measurement is divided into two different but related parameters: (1) familiarity with computers and how to use them; and (2) the ability to solve problems commonly encountered in a technology-rich world (see Appendix I for more information).

Module on the use of skills

The module on the use of skills collects self-reported information on how a range of skills are used at work and in everyday life, including the frequency and intensity of use. It includes information about the use of: cognitive skills (such as engagement in reading, numeracy, and ICT); non-cognitive skills (such as the capacity to work collaboratively or as a member of a team); organizational skills (such as communicating, planning, and influencing); and skills in the workplace (such as autonomy over key aspects of work and what kind of skills are employed at work).

Interpreting the data in the report

As with all comparative studies, PIAAC was designed and implemented in a way that would ensure the validity, reliability, comparability, and interpretability of results. It identified and quantified possible errors and issues that could interfere with or bias interpretation, and wherever such errors and issues might be present, they were highlighted for the reader in notes to figures and tables. There is a reference under every figure shown in this report to a corresponding table in Appendix II that includes extra information that could prove useful to the reader. Efforts were made to provide valid international and cross-jurisdictional comparisons throughout the report. In some cases, however, such comparisons were omitted, either because of methodological challenges or because they provided limited analytical value, given the objectives and scope of this report.

The data presented in this report are estimated from representative samples of adults in Canada, as well as from the OECD countries that participated in PIAAC between 2008 and 2016 (Round 1 and 2) whose combined average score is referred to as the "OECD average." Consequently, there is a degree of sampling error that must be taken into account in analyzing the results. Sampling error decreases as the size of the sample increases so that the likelihood of any error is larger at the provincial/territorial level than at the level of Canada as a whole. This is complicated further by "measurement error": the variation that may be created because respondents do not all answer the same questions. (They answer only a selected number and their results are then extrapolated onto the questionnaire in its entirety.) The aggregate degree of uncertainty that the sampling and measurement errors introduce is expressed by a statistic called the standard error.

When comparing average scores among provinces, territories, or population subgroups, the degree of error in each score must be considered to determine whether differences in scores are real or only apparent. Standard errors are used as the basis for making this determination. If the ranges within which the scores could fall when the standard error is taken into account do not overlap, then the score differences are statistically significant. The differences highlighted in the text are statistically significant unless otherwise stated. This does not necessarily mean that the differences have an impact in practice but simply that a difference can be observed.

The results from PIAAC do not permit readers to infer a causative relationship between variables (e.g., level of education or age) and a corresponding score. While such a relationship may in fact exist, the statistical analysis offers only a description of that relationship. More detailed research into the underlying factors would be needed to understand why particular patterns are observed.

Rounding

In the text of this report, all numbers other than standard errors are generally rounded to the nearest whole number. Proportions and average scores are presented as whole numbers. The numbers shown in the Figures have been rounded to the nearest number at one decimal place. There may, however, be inconsistencies in the tables and text when referring to score-point differences. All score-point differences mentioned in the text are based on un-rounded data. Therefore, if readers calculate score-point differences using the numbers in the tables, they may obtain results that differ slightly from those in the text.

Placing results in the proper context

Comparisons between different countries, as well as jurisdictions within Canada, should be tempered by the recognition that the populations surveyed began their schooling at any time between the early 1950s and the early 2000s, a half-century that has been marked by enormous change. Consequently, the results are affected by a number of factors that vary from place to place, such as:

- the evolution of education and training systems;
- changes in education policies;
- technological advances;
- the development of regional and national economies;
- patterns of immigration; and
- changes in social norms and expectations.

9

Introduction

Canadians who lack the skills necessary to function in today's information economy risk substantial disadvantages. They may have difficulty finding and retaining satisfying and appropriate employment—particularly in secure and well-paying jobs. Increased turnover and associated hiring and training costs can undermine the bottom line for firms and businesses. At the macro-economic level, poorly allocated or wasted human capital can drive higher rates of unemployment and reduced gross domestic product (GDP) growth and productivity (OECD, 2013a).

Canadians with lower skills may also struggle to participate in social activities and networks, or to take advantage of opportunities to engage in government initiatives and policy-development processes (OECD, 2013a). From a health standpoint, limited skills can create difficulties finding, evaluating, and interpreting health information, interacting with health professionals, and managing chronic conditions. As well, Canadians with lower skills may struggle to navigate increasingly complex health-care and social-service systems (Kickbusch et al., 2013). Given the well-documented decline in skills that accompanies biological aging, ensuring that adults continue to have the skills they need to adapt to economic and social changes is especially relevant in societies with an aging demographic.

Limited skills proficiency may be connected to increased use of publicly funded programs and services – and correspondingly higher costs. Adults with limited health-related knowledge are more likely to be in poor health (Murray & Shillington, 2012), and as such, tend to need and use more health-care services (PHAC, 2016). Those with lower skills are also more likely to use publically funded income supports (such as Employment Insurance and Social Assistance) compared to those with stronger skills (Murray & Shillington, 2012).

This report builds on what is known about the importance of skills for health and social well-being at the individual and societal levels using Pan-Canadian PIAAC data. By linking information-processing skills with specific health and social outcomes, PIAAC enables researchers to explore the distribution of these outcomes across the Canadian population, as well as the influence of skills in mediating these outcomes for all Canadians and for specific subgroups.

PIAAC's four specific health and social outcomes—self-reported health, trust, volunteering, and political efficacy (a person's sense of having an influence on government)—are the focus of this report and are described more fully throughout. PIAAC also measures some other attributes related to well-being, including the presence of longstanding illnesses or health conditions, activity limitations, health- and family-related reasons for leaving or not looking for work. It also offers some preliminary data on employment type (secure versus precarious). This report then provides an overview of PIAAC results on these attributes.

As a cross-sectional survey that collected data at a single point in time, PIAAC cannot confirm the direction of influence between skills proficiency and health and social outcomes. Longitudinal data would be required to assess whether stronger skills *cause* people to enjoy better health and social outcomes, and/or whether positive outcomes *cause* people to be in a position to attain and maintain stronger skills. Instead, this report explores how skills and health and social outcomes are associated to strengthen our understanding of inequalities and vulnerable groups in the Canadian population, inform targeted interventions, and create a foundation to support further research.

How are education and skills connected to health and social well-being?

Skills and education are closely connected. Formal education is a critical process through which essential skills like literacy, numeracy, and problem solving in technology-rich environments (PS-TRE) are initially acquired. Educational systems are designed to equip people with the skills necessary to participate in economic and social institutions. Formal educational credentials can also play a role in shaping access to further education, training, and professional development that help adults maintain and develop their skills. Education systems are sites in which "characteristics, attitudes and practices that facilitate lifelong learning, such as an interest in reading or positive attitudes towards learning, are developed" (OECD, 2013a, p. 118).

There is a large body of evidence linking education to a broad range of nonmarket outcomes, including health, social engagement, and political participation (Feinstein et al., 2006; OECD, 2007, 2010; PHAC, 2008; WHO, 2008; Zimmerman & Woolf, 2014). Longitudinal studies have made compelling arguments that this relationship is causal—that education helps to create healthy populations and well-functioning societies (Feinstein et al., 2006; Mackenbach, Meerding, & Kunst 2007; van Lenthe et al., 2013; Zimmerman & Woolf, 2014).

Education contributes to achieving these positive outcomes through both indirect and direct channels of influence. *Indirect* pathways of influence include the ways in which education facilitates access to better, safer, or more prestigious jobs, which in turn results in increased earning potential (Zimmerman & Woolf, 2014). In short, education indirectly influences health and social outcomes by improving social position or socioeconomic status. The conceptual model developed to support PIAAC expresses this influence as the "effect on allocation" (OECD, 2009). As educational attainment increases, so do the chances of obtaining good jobs and belonging to social networks in which civic and social engagement are valued.

This report is primarily concerned with *direct* pathways of influence between education and health and social outcomes—namely, the effect of education on individual skills and capabilities. As recognized in the PIAAC conceptual framework, education directly builds and affects the knowledge and skills relevant for healthy lifestyles and behaviours, and social and civic engagement (OECD, 2007, 2009).

A number of models have been developed to explain both the indirect and direct relationships between education, skills, and health, based on theory and available empirical evidence. In these models, education plays a multifaceted role with respect to health and social outcomes. For example:

- Education is an *indicator* or measure of socioeconomic position that in turn drives life chances (occupation, income, working conditions) and behaviours that support health and well-being (Mackenbach, Meerding, & Kunst, 2007).
- Education is a social determinant of health.⁹ Education influences material circumstances, behaviours, and psychosocial factors, which in turn influence health and well-being (WHO, 2008).

⁹ The WHO Commission on Social Determinants of Health (2008) defines *social determinants of health* as "the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age" (p. 26). Differences in the distribution of resources for healthy living, or conversely, exposures to health risks, coupled with structural drivers (such as social and economic policies, governance, and cultural norms), contribute to inequalities in health outcomes and prevent many people from achieving "the good health that is biologically possible."

 Education is a *foundation* for developing skills and competencies through lifelong learning in multiple contexts (home, work, and civic life). This learning generates the human¹⁰ and social capital¹¹ necessary to achieve a range of economic and social outcomes (OECD, 2007).

Figure I presents a simplified conceptual model of the relationships between education, skills, and the health and social outcomes measured in PIAAC, drawing from the results presented in this report. In this model adult competencies may be considered as both an outcome of formal education and lifelong and life-wide learning, as well as a determinant of health and social outcomes independently of formal education.

Figure I. Conceptual model of the relationships between education, skills, and the health and social outcomes measured in PIAAC



Source: Adapted from Understanding the Social Outcomes of Learning (OECD, 2007) and PIAAC BQ JRA V5.0—Conceptual Framework (OECD, 2009).

¹⁰ Human capital is defined by the OECD as "the knowledge, skills, competencies and attributes embodied in individuals that facilitate the creation of personal, social and economic well-being" (2007, p. 38).

¹¹ The OECD (2007, p. 38) defines social capital as "the networks, together with shared norms, values and understanding, that facilitate cooperation within or among groups, combining a structural component (social networks and civic participation) and a normative component (trust, reciprocity, tolerance, understanding and respect for others)."

Skills, education, and health outcomes

Canadian and international research demonstrates that those with higher levels of education consistently tend to enjoy better health (CPHI, 2008; PHAC, 2008; WHO, 2008). Higher levels of educational attainment tend to facilitate greater access to financial resources, permitting the purchase of goods and services that support healthy lifestyles. More educated people are also thought to be better able to change their behaviours in response to messages about their health.

With respect to skills, education is also importantly connected to health literacy—the ability to gain access to and use health information to make appropriate health decisions and maintain basic health in a variety of settings across the life course (CCL, 2007; Rootman & Gordon-El-Bihbety, 2008). This affects health by improving a person's ability to understand and apply health-related information and to adopt positive health-related behaviours (such as using preventive care and maintaining healthy lifestyles).

Skills, education, and social outcomes

Education and learning have also been found to influence outcomes in a range of life domains, including civic and social engagement. Education has not only been found to influence individual outcomes, but also generates broader social returns (OECD, 2016, pp. 3–18). Understanding the potential of investments in education and skill development is therefore of particular interest to OECD-member countries, many of whom are experiencing declining levels of voter participation and other civic indicators (OECD, 2007, p. 30). The social outcomes in PIAAC—trust, volunteering, and political efficacy—represent key indicators of civic and social engagement that have a strong theoretical underpinning and have been validated in other research.

Trust is often understood as a component of social capital that enables people to act cooperatively to advance common goals. There are a number of different dimensions of trust, including interpersonal trust (within-group social engagement), intergroup trust (between-group social engagement), and institutional trust (the belief that societal institutions will generally act in people's best interest). In PIAAC, trust primarily refers to social or generalized trust—the degree to which one can trust others whom one does not know personally. Social trust is thought to be particularly important as a "social lubricant" promoting broad social interaction and cooperation (Nevitte, 2008).

Education is thought to influence trust by building knowledge of and tolerance for other groups, and by changing aspects of the self—such as values and attitudes (OECD, 2007). Both individual attainment and the educational environment interact to build trust in a cumulative fashion—"trust begets trust" (Campbell, 2006, p. 47). Although the link between education and trust is widely accepted, empirical evidence is relatively scarce. It has been hypothesized that the role of literacy in supporting effective communication and informed decision-making contributes to citizenship, community participation, and sense of belonging, which are in turn linked to trust (McCracken & Murray, 2008).

Volunteering contributes to healthy and cohesive communities because "it fosters a social outcome that may benefit the *volunteer*, but mainly, benefits the society as a whole" (da Costa et al., 2014). Higher education is generally positively associated with volunteering, as well as increased charitable activity. However, research also suggests that education could be functioning as a marker for other characteristics or circumstances that influence the likelihood of participating in volunteer activities, such as family and community background, a commitment to altruism, and attitudes and beliefs (Dee, 2004; Huang et al., 2012).

Other factors can affect the relationships among education, skills, and volunteering, including marital status, presence of children in the home, or the types of volunteer activities available. These mechanisms may operate differently in different contexts. For example, it has been theorized that highly educated and skilled individuals may tend to volunteer less because of a greater likelihood of being employed in full-time, well-paying jobs—or conversely, that they may be more sought after by voluntary organizations because of their skills. Given ongoing empirical uncertainty, any positive effect of education on volunteering should not be interpreted as causal (da Costa et al., 2014).

As noted earlier, the concept of political efficacy measured in PIAAC refers to an individual's sense of having influence on governments and political processes more generally, and is considered to be a good general indicator of the health of democracies (Craig, Niemi, & Silver, 1990). There are both internal and external dimensions of political efficacy. Internal efficacy is understood to include "beliefs about one's own competence to understand and to participate effectively in politics" (Niemi, Craig, & Mattei, 1991, p. 1407). PIAAC measures internal political efficacy. External political efficacy encompasses "beliefs about the responsiveness of governmental authorities and institutions to citizen demands" and is not measured in PIAAC (Craig, Niemi, & Silver, 1990, p. 290).

Higher levels of education are associated with higher levels of political efficacy, as well as greater political participation, but there is little evidence of a direct relationship between skills and political efficacy. Interaction effects between political efficacy and political participation have also been observed. Higher political efficacy is associated with increased political participation, which in turn enhances the level of political efficacy (Brady, Verba, & Schlozman, 1995).

Overall, stronger education can help equip people with the capabilities needed for civic and social engagement and political participation. By influencing these societal-level outcomes, education is considered a critical policy lever for achieving social inclusion, equity, and cohesion (da Costa et al., 2014).

Objective of this report

This report examines the extent to which information-processing skills are associated with health and civic and social engagement. Descriptive analyses assess the distribution of health and social outcomes in the Canadian population, and whether they vary by key traits (such as gender and age) and by skill level. Regression modelling considers whether skills mediate health and social outcomes independently of education levels. These analyses include certain groups considered to be at greater risk for poorer outcomes (unemployed people and individuals employed in precarious work), as well as immigrants to Canada and Indigenous peoples. Together, these analyses provide an overview of the roles of skills outside of work, and the important contribution they make to the well-being of individual Canadians and Canadian society. Data are mostly presented for Canada as a whole rather than for individual provinces or territories, although provincial and territorial data are provided in the tables in Appendix II of this report.

Structure of this report

The results of the descriptive and regression analyses outlined here are presented in chapters 1 to 4 of this report.

Chapter 1 summarizes the health and social outcomes of Canadians and compares these results to other OECD countries participating in PIAAC.

Chapter 2 examines the proportions of Canadians reporting positive health, trust, volunteering, and political efficacy by key socioeconomic and sociodemographic variables, and also by level in literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE. It also discusses the results of regression modelling of the independent effect of skills on the health and social outcomes that PIAAC measured. Additional modelling demonstrates the relationships between skills and health and social outcomes at different levels of educational attainment.

Chapter 3 analyzes the role of skills and the health and social outcomes of two Canadian subpopulations: Indigenous peoples and immigrants to Canada.

Chapter 4 considers the influence of skills on outcomes for unemployed and precariously employed Canadians.

Chapter 5 provides some concluding thoughts about the results presented here and their implications for policy development and program design and evaluation strategies.

Appendix I provides detailed information on the methods of analysis that the report uses.

Appendix II presents complete statistical tables to support the data presented in the report.

Appendix III lists the analysts, partners, and advisers who supported the writing of the report.



CHAPTER 1

OVERVIEW OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL OUTCOMES IN CANADA AND ABROAD

This chapter presents the results of descriptive analyses of PIAAC data on the distribution of health and social outcomes across the Canadian population. Comparisons with other relevant Canadian data are provided, along with information on how Canada's results align with—or diverge from—international findings.

The descriptive analyses presented here do not control for the impact of some factors that likely influence both the skill level and the health and social outcomes of Canadians, such as age or level of education. As such, these data are just a starting point from which to interpret the results of the regression analyses presented in subsequent chapters. Comparisons between countries, or across Canadians jurisdictions, should be tempered by the recognition that PIAAC respondents began formal schooling between the 1950s and 2000s—a half-century marked by enormous change. As a cross-sectional survey, PIAAC does not account for tremendous differences in the educational, labour market, and social contexts experienced by respondents across the 16 to 65 age range.

The health and social outcomes of Canadians in an international context

Self-reported health

Self-reported health is a subjective measure of a respondent's general health. It is intended to capture not only the presence or absence of disease, but also to reflect a sense of physical, mental, and social well-being. Self-reported health is widely used in international surveys as a validated indicator of an individual's general health status (Idler & Benyamini, 1997). PIAAC respondents were asked to describe their health as excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor. For this report, responses of "excellent," "very good" or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

Canadians report some of the best health outcomes among participating PIAAC countries. Across the OECD, the percentage of the population reporting good, very good or excellent health ranges from a low of 50 per cent (Korea), to a high of 89 per cent (Canada). All Canadian provinces and territories are at or exceed the OECD average of 81 per cent, except for Nunavut at 76 per cent (Figure 1.1). Nunavut's results reflect the health status of its overwhelmingly Indigenous population, which makes up 81 per cent of the population. These results are discussed further in Chapter 3. PIAAC results on self-reported health align with findings from the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) for 2012,¹² the year in which PIAAC was completed in Canada. CCHS data indicate that almost 90 per cent of Canadians aged 12 and over report being in good, very good or excellent health—very close to the 89 per cent of Canadian adults aged 16 to 65 who report a similar health status in PIAAC.

Although a majority of Canadians self-report good health, there is a clear gradient in results across literacy and numeracy proficiency, with health status worsening as skills decline (Figure 1.2).¹³ Not only do those reporting better health score higher on the literacy proficiency scale but the range of scores tends to be narrower for those reporting excellent or very good health. The same gradient is reflected in results for each Canadian province and territory (except for Yukon).

¹² Statistics Canada, Canadian Community Health Survey, CANSIM table 105-0501 and Catalogue no. 82-221-X.

¹³ The World Health Organization explains the concept of the social gradient in health as following: "The poorest of the poor, around the world, have the worst health. Within countries, the evidence shows that in general the lower an individual's socioeconomic position the worse their health. There is a social gradient in health that runs from top to bottom of the socioeconomic spectrum. This is a global phenomenon, seen in low, middle and high income countries. The social gradient in health means that health inequities affect everyone." ("Key Concepts," WHO, http://www.who.int/ social determinants/thecommission/finalreport/key_concepts/ en). Measurable differences in health between individuals, groups, or countries are generally referred to as "health inequalities" while "health inequities" are those unfair differences in health associated with social disadvantages that are modifiable (National Collaborating Centre for Determinants of Health, Glossary (http://nccdh.ca/ resources/glossary/).



Figure 1.1 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, OECD average, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

Source: Table 1.1a

Note: PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.



Figure 1.2 Literacy – Average scores with 0.95 confidence interval and scores at the 5th, 25th, 75th, and 95th percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by self-reported health, Canada, 2012

Note: PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?"

Source: Table 1.1b

People who attain Level 3 or above in literacy tend to report excellent, very good or good health. There are no differences in the skill level of Canadians reporting very good versus excellent health—both score over 276 on average (Level 3). It is similar for numeracy. Those reporting excellent or very good health score on average just below Level 3. Almost all Canadians with literacy scores at 335 or above report excellent, very good or good health.¹⁴

Trust

20

The PIAAC conceptual framework defines trust as "confidence in the reliability of a person or system" (OECD, 2009; Giddens, 1990). Trust is considered essential to the stable functioning of the economy and of society. It promotes cooperation, facilitates business and interpersonal transactions, contributes to feelings of safety, and fosters collective action in the pursuit of shared objectives (da Costa et al., 2014). Along with volunteering and political efficacy, interpersonal trust is considered one of the cornerstones of social capital.

PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement "There are only a few people you can trust completely" (OECD, 2009). Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive levels of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative levels of trust.

A majority of the population in almost all OECD countries report relatively low levels of trust. The highest trust levels are found in Denmark (52 per cent), followed by Sweden (38 per cent), Norway (38 per cent), Finland (36 per cent) and the Netherlands (36 per cent). Indonesians appear to be the least trusting, with only 7 per cent of the population reporting positive levels of trust. In Canada, 28 per cent report positive trust, compared to the OECD average of 22 per cent. By comparison, the 2013 General Social Survey (GSS) reported that 54 per cent of Canadians believed that most people could be trusted, while 46 per cent of Canadians felt that you cannot be too careful in dealing with people (Turcotte, 2015b). It is unclear why GSS results are notably different from PIAAC, but the GSS uses different questions than PIAAC to assess generalized/social trust levels.

Variation in positive levels of trust between provinces and territories ranges from 33 per cent in Saskatchewan to just 20 per cent in Nunavut (Figure 1.3).

Skills are linked to the levels of trust reported by Canadians. Figure 1.4 illustrates the pattern for literacy. Those who believe that there are only a few people one can trust completely tend to have lower average literacy scores than those who are more trusting. Those reporting positive trust attained an average score at Level 3 or above in literacy and just below Level 3 in numeracy. Those scoring above 345 (Level 4) in literacy did not report negative levels of trust.

¹⁴ It is worth noting that there is a great deal of variation in results for self-reported health by skill level across participating OECD countries. For instance, in Japan, the score at the 95th percentile of those who reported *poor* health was 343 in literacy, whereas in Turkey, the score at the 95th percentile of those who reported *excellent* health was 291.



Figure 1.3 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, OECD average, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

Source: Table 1.2a

Note: PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.





Source: Table 1.2b

Note: PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely."

Volunteering

Volunteerism is defined as "any activity in which time is given freely to benefit another person, group, or cause" (Wilson, 2000, p. 215), and is considered an important indicator of social engagement and civic participation. According to United Nations Volunteers (2011, p. i), "volunteerism benefits both society at large and the individual volunteer by strengthening trust, solidarity and reciprocity among citizens, and by purposefully creating opportunities for participation." Similarly, data from the 2013 GSS indicate that many Canadians who volunteered did so to contribute to the well-being of their communities, and for the chance to acquire or improve their skills (Sinha, 2015).

In PIAAC, volunteer participation is measured by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the last 12 months ... including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other nonprofit organization." The range of responses across OECD countries is quite large, with the highest rates of volunteerism reported in Norway (57 per cent), the United States (56 per cent), and New Zealand (52 per cent); and the lowest rates in Spain and the Czech Republic (18 per cent). In Canada, 49 per cent of the population volunteered, compared to an OECD average of 34 per cent. In comparison, the 2013 GSS found that 44 per cent of Canadians aged 15 and over had volunteered in the previous 12 months (Sinha, 2015).

In Canada, Yukon and the Northwest Territories led all other provinces and territories, with 65 per cent and 63 per cent of adult residents reporting some volunteer activities, followed closely by Saskatchewan and Prince Edward Island at 59 per cent. No Canadian jurisdiction falls below the OECD average (Figure 1.5). The lowest percentage of voluntary work was in Quebec, at 36 per cent. Differences between jurisdictions could be explained by several factors. Lower rates of volunteerism may be connected to lower levels of membership in nonprofit organizations or associations (Turcotte, 2015a). Barriers to volunteering also may vary by region, including time constraints (because of work, family, or other commitments), or the presence of health problems (Sinha, 2015). Similarly, regional variation in labour force participation, education, or age profile can influence volunteerism. Socio-cultural differences with respect to traditions of volunteerism may also account for regional variations. For instance, the Native Women's Association of Canada describes volunteerism as an inherent part of Indigenous cultures and values, to the extent that the term volunteer does not exist in most Indigenous languages. Helping others without expectation of

payment is an implicit social responsibility (NWAC, 2011, p. 4). Finally, the organization of community services may influence the number and type of available volunteer opportunities.

Figure 1.6 presents average literacy scores for respondents participating in volunteer activities. Canadians with the highest literacy scores tend to report moderate levels of volunteer engagement. Those who volunteer every day, or who did not volunteer at all, tended to report the lowest average literacy scores. Almost all those who scored above 340 (Level 4) in literacy reported some level of volunteering. These results underscore the above points regarding the diverse factors that likely affect the relationship between skills and volunteering.





Source: Table 1.3a

Note: PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."



Figure 1.6 Literacy – Average scores with 0.95 confidence interval and scores at the 5th, 25th, 75th, and 95th percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by frequency of volunteer participation, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 1.3b

Note: PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

Political efficacy

Political efficacy refers to the extent to which a person feels that they understand and can affect government actions. PIAAC assesses political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

The highest rates of political efficacy are reported in Lithuania (86 per cent), compared to an OECD average of 42 per cent and a Canadian average of 44 per cent. Within Canada, positive political efficacy was most frequently reported in Yukon (65 per cent), followed by Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba (54 per cent). New Brunswick (37 per cent) and Quebec (22 per cent) are the only jurisdictions falling below the OECD average (Figure 1.7).

PIAAC is the first large-scale assessment of the concept of political efficacy and its relationship to literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills, which means that PIAAC results cannot be easily compared against other Canadian data. The GSS assesses political participation using different factors, such as voting behaviour, searching for information about politics, and participating in other types of political activity. In 2013, 39 per cent of Canadians searched for information about a political issue, 22 per cent boycotted or chose a particular product for ethical reasons, and 15 per cent attended a public meeting (Turcotte, 2015c).

Figure 1.8 presents average literacy scores by level of political efficacy. There appears to be a clear demarcation in the average scores attained by those with high political efficacy (strongly disagree or disagree), versus those with low political efficacy (strongly agree or agree). Similar to trust, people who scored higher than 345 (Level 4) in literacy reported only positive political efficacy.



Figure 1.7 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive political efficacy, OECD average, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

Source: Table 1.4a

Note: PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.



Figure 1.8 Literacy – Average scores with 0.95 confidence interval and scores at the 5th, 25th, 75th, and 95th percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by political efficacy, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 1.4b

Note: PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does."

Summary

In comparison with other countries, Canada tends to have a positive health and social profile. Overall, Canadians' levels of self-reported health, trust, volunteering, and political efficacy are above the average for OECD countries participating in PIAAC. This is also the case for almost all provincial and territorial jurisdictions.

Despite this, it is important to recognize that outcomes vary by skill level. Self-reported health displays a stepwise gradient, meaning that health improves with proficiency in information-processing skills. Those with the highest average proficiency scores also report the best health. Both trust and political efficacy show a clear demarcation in proficiency scores between those reporting positive versus negative outcomes. Results for volunteering are more nuanced, with those who volunteer most frequently and those who never volunteer scoring at the lowest levels of literacy proficiency.

Canadians who score above 335 in literacy (Level 4) report only positive levels of self-reported health, trust, volunteering, and political efficacy, suggesting that a highly literate population may also be characterized by good health and active engagement in civic and social activities. A consistent threshold is less visible for those reporting negative health and social outcomes. However, among those in fair or poor health, 52 per cent have a high-school diploma or less than a high-school diploma, and 62 per cent are between the ages of 45 and 65. Though less pronounced, similar patterns emerge for trust, volunteering, and political efficacy.



CHAPTER 2

SKILLS AND HEALTH AND SOCIAL OUTCOMES OF CANADIANS

This chapter reviews the distribution of health and social outcomes by key socioeconomic and sociodemographic characteristics (gender, age, and education), as well as by skill level. To gain a deeper understanding of how strong the relationships are among skills and health and social outcomes, the chapter also discusses results of multivariate regression analyses. In these analyses, other factors that may affect these relationships are controlled for. The regression analyses control for the effects of age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, Indigenous identity, immigrant status, and the language in which respondents completed the PIAAC skills assessment (language of the test). In Canada, respondents could take the test in either English or French.¹⁵

This chapter also presents the results of analyses assessing the potential for interactions between education and skills. Formal education and training are key processes through which the information-processing skills measured in PIAAC are developed and maintained. Educational systems also play a role in building and fostering "characteristics, attitudes and practices that facilitate lifelong learning, such as an interest in reading or positive attitudes towards learning" (OECD, 2013a, p. 118). Yet while closely connected, educational attainment and skills proficiency reflect different aspects of human capital. Formal educational credentials signal a wider set of knowledge and skills than proficiency in the skills assessed in PIAAC. Proficiency in literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE is not fixed with the completion

What is an odds ratio?

An "odds ratio" measures the odds of achieving a certain outcome compared to the odds of failing to achieve the same outcome given a certain characteristic. Odds ratios are used to describe the likelihood that a given characteristic will affect the realization of a particular outcome.

For example, consider the case of studying for an exam. There are two possible outcomes: passing the exam or failing the exam. If we want to know what effect studying for the exam had on passing or failing, after surveying all exam takers, we find that those who studied were more likely to pass than those who did not. Of course, not everyone who studied passed the exam—and not everyone who *did not* study failed the exam. But overall, the likelihood of passing is greater if a person studied for the exam.

We may then want to know whether the likelihood of passing is *a lot* greater with studying, versus just a little. To come up with that answer, statisticians calculate the odds ratio, a number that tells us how strong the relationship is between studying and passing. An odds ratio greater than 1.0 indicates a positive relationship. For example, an odds ratio of 3.0 would tell us that the odds of passing for a person who studies for the exam is three times greater than the odds of passing for someone who does not study. On the other hand, an odds ratio less than 1.0 indicates a negative relationship, which means studying would correspond with lower odds of passing the test.

When designing policies and programs, odds ratios can help to determine the potential associations of different actions with particular outcomes. If the odds ratio in the exam-studying example is close to 1, there may not a strong case to be made for studying. Instead, it might become more important to look at other factors that could affect the likelihood of passing the exam, such as getting a good night's sleep, eating a healthy breakfast, or engaging in exercise.

28

¹⁵ Controlling for test language is important because of the impact this may have on the direct assessment of skills for Canadian residents whose mother tongue is neither English nor French. This is particularly important for immigrants to Canada and Indigenous peoples, as Chapter 3 discusses further.
of formal education. "What an individual does at work, the activities he or she engages in outside of work, the opportunities available for ongoing learning as well as the processes of biological ageing all affect whether proficiency increases or declines over time and at what rate" (OECD, 2013a, p. 53).

The likelihood of respondents having positive health and social outcomes at each skill level is calculated for four levels of educational attainment: less than highschool diploma; high-school diploma; postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree (completion of a program of study below a bachelor's degree, including trades, technical, and vocational diplomas);¹⁶ and postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher (completion of a bachelor's degree or higher).¹⁷ It is important to consider interaction effects because of the close relationship between education and skills. Fixing a given level of education makes it possible to assess the effect that skills may have on health and social outcomes *independently* of educational attainment.

In general, PIAAC data confirm that more Canadians report positive health and social outcomes as proficiencies improve. Canadians with higher skills tend to enjoy better health, trust more people, participate more in volunteer activities, and are more likely to think they can influence government (Figure 2.1). These results are consistent with findings from the 2003 International Adult Literacy and Skills Survey (IALSS). IALSS found that the literacy and numeracy scores of Canadians reporting good health were higher than the scores of

Figure 2.1 Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012



¹⁶ Respondents whose highest level of schooling successfully completed include a non-university certificate or diploma from a college, school of nursing, or technical institute; trade/vocational certificates; apprenticeship certificates; cégep diploma or certificates; university transfer programs; and university certificate or diploma programs below a bachelor's degree. In terms of ISCED classification, this group includes: ISCED 4C, ISCED 4A-B, ISCED 4 (without distinction A-B-C), and ISCED 5B (Statistics Canada et al., 2013).

those reporting poor health. Similarly, those with higher level skills were more likely to engage with community groups or organizations than those with lower skills (OECD and Statistics Canada, 2011). Results for each health and social outcome assessed in PIAAC are discussed in more detail in what follows.

¹⁷ Respondents whose highest level of schooling successfully completed include bachelor's degree, university certificate above bachelor level, first professional degree (medical, veterinary medicine, dental, optometry, law, and divinity), master's and Ph.D. degrees. In terms of ISCED classification, this group includes: ISCED 5A: bachelor's degree, ISCED 5A: master's degree, and ISCED 6 (Statistics Canada et al., 2013).

Self-reported health

A strong majority of Canadians report good health. The proportion of Canadians reporting excellent, very good or good health varies little by gender, but it decreases with age, and increases with educational attainment (Figure 2.2).

Figure 2.2 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by gender, age group and educational attainment, Canada, 2012



C. PSE – below bachelor's degree

D. PSE – bachelor's degree or higher

Gender

As literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills improve, the percentage of men and women reporting positive health also increases. For example, 79 per cent of men at Level 1 or below in numeracy report positive health, compared to 95 per cent of men at Level 4 or 5 (Figure 2.3). For women, 83 per cent of those at Level 1 or below in numeracy report positive health, compared to 94 per cent of those at Level 4 or 5 in numeracy. There are no statistically significant differences between men and women, except at Level 1 or below. The same pattern is seen for literacy and PS-TRE skills. There are also very few instances of gender difference in selfreported positive health among provincial and territorial jurisdictions.

Age

Existing evidence confirms that self-reported health tends to deteriorate with age, likely as a result of factors such as increased rates of chronic disease and activity limitations (Statistics Canada 2010). This trend is reflected in PIAAC results. Only 81 per cent of Canadians aged 55 to 65 report excellent, very good or good health, compared to 94 per cent of those aged 25 to 34 (Figure 2.2).

Skills proficiency also tends to decline with age. In PIAAC, 40 per cent of 55 to 65 year olds attain Level 3 or above in literacy, compared to 60 per cent of 25 to 34 year olds. For PS-TRE, 80 per cent of those aged 25 to 34 score at Level 1 or above, compared to just 46 per cent of those aged 55 to 65. There are many reasons for skill loss over the life course, including cognitive decline, low initial educational attainment, and lack of use of skills at work and/or at home (Willms & Murray, 2007).



Figure 2.3 Numeracy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by gender and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Because the PIAAC sample is not longitudinal, it is possible to observe the impact of proficiency levels on health for each age group at a single point in time only. However, these results suggest that higher skills proficiency may help to moderate the decline in positive self-reported health that tends to accompany aging (Figure 2.4). Different research designs are needed to better assess whether higher skills promote the conditions necessary to remain healthier, or whether healthier Canadians are better able to maintain their cognitive abilities.

For all skill domains and at all levels of proficiency, self-reported health for 16 to 34 year olds varies little. For example, the proportion of younger Canadians reporting excellent, very good or good health ranges from 90 per cent (ages 16 to 24 scoring at Level 1 or below in literacy), to 96 per cent (ages 25 to 34 scoring at Level 4 or 5 in literacy). By contrast, among older age groups there is a clear gradient in self-reported health by proficiency level. For those aged 55 to 65, only 69 per cent at Level 1 or below in literacy report positive health, compared to 92 per cent of the same age group at Level 4 or 5-a proportion that is comparable to results for those aged 16 to 24. Among 55 to 65 year olds at Level 3 in literacy, 88 per cent reported excellent, very good or good health, on par with the Canadian average of 89 per cent. The pattern is similar for numeracy and PS-TRE. There are no significant differences in the proportions of the population reporting positive health between the

youngest and oldest age groups for those at Level 2 or 3 in PS-TRE.

Overall, older Canadians with higher skills tend to report positive health in similar proportions to other Canadians, including younger age groups. These results suggest that declines in self-reported health associated with age are primarily experienced at the lower end of the skills spectrum. However, the descriptive data reported here do not control for other factors that may interact with skills to promote better health for certain older Canadians, such as level of education or employment.

Educational attainment

Canadians with higher levels of education tend to report better health. Ninety-four per cent of those with postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher report excellent, very good or good health, compared to 81 per cent of those with less than a high-school diploma (Figure 2.2).

For all levels of education, the proportion of Canadians reporting excellent, very good or good health increases as skills improve within each level of educational attainment (Figure 2.5). Even among those with lower educational attainment (e.g., less than high-school diploma), higher skills are correlated with better health. Canadians who attain higher levels in literacy and numeracy (Level 3 or above) report similar high levels



Figure 2.4 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by age group and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

of self-reported health, regardless of their educational attainment. Results are similar for PS-TRE. Over 90 per cent of Canadians who attain the highest level of PS-TRE proficiency report excellent, very good or good health, regardless of their level of educational attainment (Figure 2.6).

For those with postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree, or postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher, low levels of PS-TRE proficiency does not appear to have the same connection to self-reported health as it does for those with lower educational attainment. For example, among those scoring below Level 1 in PS-TRE, 90 per cent of those with postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher report excellent, very good or good health, compared to 80 per cent of those with less than a highschool diploma (Figure 2.6).

Differences narrow considerably for those who attain Level 1 in PS-TRE. A significantly higher proportion of Canadians with less than a high-school diploma at Level 1 report positive health. Only 69 per cent of PS-TRE non-respondents with less than a high-school diploma report positive health, compared to 88 per cent of those at Level 1 in PS-TRE. This suggests that stronger PS-TRE proficiency may support Canadians in navigating increasingly complex health-care systems, and in locating and evaluating health information, particularly in on-line or other technologically based formats.



Figure 2.5 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Figure 2.6 PS-TRE – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012



Source: Table 2.5c

Effects of skills on self-reported health

Using multivariable regression analyses, adjusted odds ratios were calculated to illustrate the independent effect of skills on self-reported health. Figure 2.7 summarizes the results.

Information-processing skills are strongly associated with positive self-reported health, independently of other factors. The likelihood of reporting excellent, very good or good health increases with each improvement in skill level. For example, people at Level 4 or 5 in numeracy are more likely to report positive health compared to those at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 2.4). Attaining at least Level 2 in literacy or numeracy, or Level 1 in PS-TRE, is associated with significantly greater odds of reporting positive health compared to those at the lowest skill levels.

Regression results confirm that the likelihood of reporting positive health increases as informationprocessing skills improve within each level of educational attainment. For example, for those with less than a highschool diploma or high-school diploma, attaining Level 2 or 3 in numeracy significantly increases the likelihood of reporting excellent, very good or good health (Figure 2.8). For those with postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree, the likelihood of reporting positive health is greater at Level 3 or above in numeracy. Higher numeracy proficiency does not appear to be significantly associated with a greater likelihood of reporting positive health for those with postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher.

Compared to literacy and numeracy, PS-TRE skills are less strongly associated with the likelihood of reporting positive health for those with lower educational attainment (Figure 2.9). Among those with postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree, with a bachelor's degree or higher, higher PS-TRE proficiency is associated with significantly greater odds of reporting excellent, very good or good health. Those with postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher and at Level 2 or 3 in PS-TRE are more likely to report positive health than PS-TRE non-respondents with the same level of education (Odds ratio of 2.3). For those with postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree, the odds ratio is 2.0.





Source: Table 2.6a

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01



Figure 2.8 Numeracy – Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting excellent, very good or good health, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 2.6b

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001





Source: Table 2.6b

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

According to PIAAC data, and keeping the level of education constant, higher skills tend to be associated with more positive health. This association holds even for respondents with lower educational attainment. This suggests that a highly skilled population may also be characterized by positive health. Further investigation into relationships between information-processing skills proficiency, educational attainment, and health outcomes is needed—including other contextual factors that may influence these associations, such as access to technology, opportunities for lifelong learning to build and maintain skills, and the digitization of information and its implications for accessing and navigating services.

Longstanding illness or health condition and associated activity limitations

In addition to self-reported health, PIAAC includes two other questions explicitly related to health. Respondents were asked whether they have a longstanding illness or health condition—defined as one that has lasted, or is expected to last, six months or more. This category could cover permanent disabilities, chronic health conditions, serious medical diagnoses, as well as more straightforward injuries or illnesses requiring at least six months to fully resolve. Respondents reporting the presence of a longstanding illness or health condition were also asked whether they were "severely limited," "limited but not severely," or "not limited at all" in their daily activities as a result of this condition.

Approximately 30 per cent of Canadians reported a longstanding health problem or chronic condition, with 59 per cent of this group indicating that the condition severely limited or somewhat limited their activities. Residents of Nunavut reported longstanding health conditions least frequently (25 per cent), although almost three quarters of this group (72 per cent) were limited in their activities. Twenty-eight per cent of the Quebec population reported a longstanding illness, with 51 per cent reporting limitation in daily activities. The province with the largest proportion of the population reporting a longstanding illness is Nova Scotia (41 per cent), with 63 per cent reporting activity limitations associated with their longstanding illness or health condition (Figure 2.10).

Longstanding illnesses and health conditions are more prevalent among older Canadians, women, Indigenous peoples, established immigrants, and those with less than a high-school diploma. Those reporting activity limitations fall into similar sociodemographic and socioeconomic categories. Employed individuals and those with a high-school diploma or a higher level of education report longstanding illnesses or health conditions less frequently.

For Canada as a whole, the prevalence of both longstanding illnesses and activity limitations tends to decrease as skills improve. After adjusting for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, Indigenous identity, immigrant status, and language of the test, the likelihood of reporting a longstanding illness is not significantly associated with lower literacy, numeracy, or PS-TRE proficiency. However, a relationship between skills and activity limitations persists. Those with lower skills are more likely than their highly proficient counterparts to report limitations in their activities as a result of their illness (Figure 2.11). For example, people at Level 1 or below in numeracy are more likely to report an activity limitation compared to those at Level 4 or 5 (Odds ratio of 1.6). For PS-TRE, both non-respondents and those below Level 1 are more likely to report activity limitations associated with their longstanding illness or health condition than those at Level 2 or 3.

As a cross-sectional survey, PIAAC cannot demonstrate the direction of the relationship between skills and activity limitations. Lower-skilled Canadians may be more likely to become ill or be injured in a manner that results in activity limitations, or be less able to access or afford the rehabilitative support needed to regain full functionality. Alternatively, Canadians with longstanding illnesses or health conditions may be more likely to lose their skills over time because of a lack of use. This may be an area to investigate further, particularly with respect to designing policies and approaches to support workplace health and safety and vocational rehabilitation.



Figure 2.10 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 with a longstanding illness, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012





Source: Table 2.7c

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

Trust

As Chapter 1 describes, a minority of Canadians report trusting more than a few people. Overall, women tend to be more trusting than men; older Canadians tend to be more trusting than younger Canadians; and Canadians with higher levels of educational attainment tend to be more trusting than those with lower of levels of educational attainment (Figure 2.12).

Gender

Women report higher levels of trust (30 per cent) compared to men (26 per cent), a pattern that holds across all skill domains. This general trend holds for most provinces and territories (except Newfoundland and Labrador, the Northwest Territories, and Nunavut), though the percentage gaps differ across jurisdictions. For both genders, trust increases as skills improve, although this trend is more pronounced for women (Figure 2.13).

Age

38

Older Canadians tend to be more trusting than younger Canadians, with differences in age groups widening to become statistically significant as skills improve. For all age groups and skill domains, trust tends to increase with each improvement in skill level (Figure 2.14).

There is considerable variation in levels of trust reported by different age groups across provinces and territories (Figure 2.15). Older Canadians are more trusting in most jurisdictions, but this trend does not hold in Newfoundland and Labrador, New Brunswick, and Alberta—and is reversed in Quebec. Explaining these variations would require further investigation of other factors that may be associated with levels of trust.

Educational attainment

Trust tends to increase with level of education. For example, at Level 2 or above in literacy or numeracy, a greater proportion of Canadians with postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher report positive trust, compared to those with a high-school diploma or a postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree (Figure 2.16). This pattern may indicate the correlation between education and trust, whereby higher education is connected to higher socioeconomic status, which in turn predisposes individuals to be more trusting (OECD, 2007). For those with low literacy and numeracy proficiency (Level 1 or below), differences in trust by educational attainment tend not to be statistically significant. Trends are similar for PS-TRE.









% 60 50 46 41 42 38 36 16 to 24 40 37 35 25 to 34 31 31 27 30 25 26 35 to 44 22 20 22 20 18 18 45 to 54 16 18 20 55 to 65 10 0 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 or below Level 4 or 5 Source: Table 2.8b

Figure 2.14 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by age group and proficiency level, Canada, 2012



Figure 2.15 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by age group, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

Figure 2.16 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012



Among those with less than a high-school diploma, levels of trust increase significantly as literacy skills improve. Only 15 per cent of those with less than a highschool diploma and at the lowest literacy levels report positive trust, compared to 40 per cent at Level 4 or 5. This could reflect the importance of literacy skills to interpersonal communication, community participation, and inclusion (McCracken & Murray, 2008).

Effects of skills on trust

For all skill domains, multivariable regression analyses confirm that having higher skills significantly increases the likelihood of reporting positive trust, after adjusting for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, Indigenous identity, immigrant status, and language of the test (Figure 2.17). For example, those at Level 4 or 5 in literacy are more likely to report positive trust than those at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 2.1). Those at Level 3 in literacy are also more likely to report positive trust than those at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 1.8). Results are comparable for numeracy. For PS-TRE, those at Level 2 or 3 are more likely to report positive trust than PS-TRE non-respondents (Odds ratio of 1.7). Those at Level 1 are also more likely to report positive trust than PS-TRE non-respondents (Odds ratio of 1.3).

Regression analyses confirm that the effect of skills on trust is positive for all skill domains within each level of educational attainment. For example, at each level of education, literacy proficiency at Level 3 or above is significantly associated with a greater likelihood of trusting more than a few people. Relative associations are stronger for those with lower educational attainment. For example, people who have less than a high-school diploma and at Level 4 or 5 in literacy are more likely to report positive trust than those at the same level of education, but at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 3.9) [Figure 2.18]. Findings are similar for numeracy.





Source: Table 2.9a

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01



Figure 2.18 Literacy – Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive level of trust, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 1.4b

42

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Associations between PS-TRE proficiency and trust are also positive at all levels of education, although not all results are statistically significant (Figure 2.19). The relationship between PS-TRE and trust is strongest for those with postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree. For these individuals, proficiency at Level 1 or above is associated with greater trust. Less-educated respondents—those with less than a high-school diploma and those with a high-school diploma—at Level 2 or 3 in PS-TRE also are more likely to report greater trust.

Overall, these results underscore the complex relationships among skills, education, and trust. The proportion of Canadians reporting positive trust tends to increase as information-processing skills improve. However, skills appear to play a more important role for certain individuals, while education has a stronger influence for others. Improvements in skills tend to be associated with significant increases in trust for 16 to 24 year olds, and for those with less than a high-school diploma, before controlling for sociodemographic and other factors. Results of regression analyses indicate that rising proficiency levels increase the likelihood of reporting positive trust, but this effect is not as strong for those with postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher. For these individuals, other circumstances or attributes associated with having a degree credential may be more highly correlated with trust than skill level.

Volunteering

Figure 2.20 summarizes the distribution of volunteering by key sociodemographic and socioeconomic characteristics.

Gender

A higher percentage of women (52 per cent) volunteer than men (46 per cent) at the pan-Canadian level, and in most provinces and territories (Figure 2.20). Volunteering increases for both women and men as skills improve. For example, 28 per cent of men and 31 per cent of women at Level 1 or below in literacy volunteer, compared to 63 per cent and 67 per cent respectively at Level 4 or 5 (although differences between men and women are not statistically significant at all skill levels).



Figure 2.19 PS-TRE – Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive level of trust, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 2.9b

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01



Figure 2.20 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by gender, age group and educational attainment, Canada, 2012

Age

44

Across Canada, PIAAC results suggest that young people tend to volunteer more frequently than older people. Among 16 to 24 year olds, 55 per cent volunteered compared to 43 per cent of adults aged 55 to 65 (Figure 2.20). This trend is comparable to results from the 2013 GSS, which found that 66 per cent of teens aged 16 to 19 volunteered. Results for this age group may be partly explained by volunteering that is required or promoted by schools or via extracurricular activities, or by the motivation to volunteer to build experience and improve job prospects (Sinha, 2015). There is some regional variation in the distribution of volunteers by age group-not all provinces and territories report greater volunteering among younger Canadians. Provinces in which those aged 16 to 24 represent the largest proportion of volunteers include British Columbia (63 per cent), Newfoundland and Labrador (62 per cent), New Brunswick (62 per cent), Ontario (60 per cent), and Quebec (41 per cent).

The proportion of respondents who volunteer in each age group tends to increase as literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills improve (Figure 2.21). The age profile of volunteers also changes with improvements in skills. For example, as literacy proficiency rises, a larger proportion of older adults report volunteering. At Level 4 or 5 in literacy, almost 72 per cent of 45 to 54 year olds volunteered, compared to 55 per cent of 25 to 34 year olds. Patterns are similar for numeracy and PS-TRE.

Educational attainment

Participation in volunteer activities rises with educational attainment (Figure 2.20). Canadians with postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher volunteer the most (59 per cent), compared to 42 per cent of those with less than a high-school diploma. These results align with the 2013 GSS, which found that 39 per cent of those with less than a high-school diploma volunteered, compared to 55 per cent of those with a university degree (Sinha, 2015).

When both proficiency level and educational attainment are taken into account, PIAAC data indicate that the highest levels of volunteerism are among those with less than a high-school diploma, but with high skills (Level 3, 4, or 5 in literacy and numeracy, and Level 2 or 3 in PS-TRE). For example, almost 80 per cent of Canadians with less than a high-school diploma and the highest levels in numeracy volunteered (Figure 2.22). Remember that these results are not age adjusted, and as such may reflect the volunteer patterns of students still enrolled in high-school—a group that includes 28 per cent of respondents with less than a high-school diploma.



Figure 2.21 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by age group and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

This high-skill/low-education group may also include individuals who volunteer to gain work-related skills or to build social or career-oriented networks. The trends are similar for PS-TRE.

Effects of skills on volunteering

Regression analyses illustrate that higher skills proficiency is significantly associated with a greater likelihood of volunteering after adjusting for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, Indigenous identity, immigrant status, and language of the test (Figure 2.23). Canadians with at least Level 2 in literacy and numeracy, and Level 1 in PS-TRE, are significantly more likely to volunteer than individuals at the lowest skill levels.

Skills are most strongly associated with volunteering for those with lower levels of education — high-school diploma or less than high-school diploma (Figure 2.24). For example, at Level 4 or 5 in literacy, people who have graduated from high-school are more likely to volunteer compared to those at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 3.8). Similarly, people with less than a high-school diploma are also more likely to volunteer (Odds ratio of 5.1). In comparison, those with postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree and at Level 4 or 5 in literacy are more likely to volunteer than their counterparts with skills at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 3.3). Those with postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher at Level 4 or 5 in literacy are more likely to volunteer than those at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 2.6). Patterns for numeracy and PS-TRE are similar. It may be that postsecondary education is linked to the likelihood of volunteering through its influence on opportunities to engage with professional and social networks that encourage civic engagement.

In Canada, people increasingly use the Internet to search for and perform many volunteer activities. The 2013 GSS reported that 17 per cent of all volunteers, and 26 per cent of volunteers under age 35, used the Internet to find volunteer opportunities. Similar proportions of older and younger volunteers used the Internet to perform volunteer tasks. These findings underscore the importance of further research to understand the role of PS-TRE proficiency in civic and social engagement for all age groups (Sinha, 2015).



Figure 2.22 Numeracy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 2.10c



Figure 2.23 Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE – Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 volunteering, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 2.11a

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001



Figure 2.24 Literacy – Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 volunteering, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

46

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

Source: Table 2.11b

Political efficacy

As Chapter 1 discussed, slightly more Canadians reported positive political efficacy (44 per cent) compared to the OECD average (42 per cent). Figure 2.25 presents results by key sociodemographic and socioeconomic variables.

Gender

Slightly more women (46 per cent) than men (43 per cent) think they have some influence on government (Figure 2.25). This is also the case in all provinces and territories except Nunavut, where 46 per cent of men report positive political efficacy compared to 41 per cent of women. The proportion of the population reporting high political efficacy increases as literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills improve. For example, 31 per cent of men and 33 per cent of women at Level 1 or below in numeracy report positive political efficacy, compared to 58 per cent of men and 64 per cent of women at Level 4 or 5 (although differences between men and women are not statistically significant at all levels of skill).

Age

The proportion of Canadians reporting high political efficacy varies little by age group (Figure 2.25). Older

Canadians tend to feel they have less influence on government than younger Canadians, but differences are small (45 per cent for 16 to 24 year olds compared to 41 per cent of 55 to 65 year olds).

For all skill domains and age groups, the percentage of Canadians reporting positive political efficacy tends to increase as proficiency levels rise. For older Canadians, attaining at least Level 1 in PS-TRE is associated with a significant increase in political efficacy (Figure 2.26). Just over 60 per cent of individuals aged 45 to 65 report high political efficacy at Level 2 or 3.

Educational attainment

Political efficacy tends to rise with education attainment (Figure 2.25). Among those with less than a high-school diploma, 32 per cent report positive political efficacy, compared to 60 per cent of those who have obtained a postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher. Particularly for those with less than a high-school diploma, greater political efficacy is reported as literacy and numeracy skills improve (Figure 2.27). At Level 4 or 5 in literacy, 67 per cent of those with less than a high-school diploma report positive political efficacy—a result comparable to those at Level 4 or 5 and with postsecondary education – bachelor's degree of higher (68 per cent). Trends for numeracy are similar.









Unadjusted results suggest that PS-TRE skills do not modify the relationship between education attainment and political efficacy. At all skill levels, a higher percentage of those with a postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher report positive political efficacy compared to all other Canadians. However, a more complex picture emerges from the results of regression analyses.

Effects of skills on political efficacy

Skills are positively associated with positive political efficacy. Attaining at least Level 2 in literacy or numeracy, or at least Level 1 in PS-TRE, is associated with higher odds of reporting positive political efficacy, compared to those at the lowest proficiency levels (Figure 2.28).

Within each level of educational attainment, increases in skills proficiency are positively associated with the likelihood of reporting positive political efficacy (Figure 2.29). This relationship is stronger for those who have less than a high-school diploma and those with a high-school diploma. For example, at Level 3 in literacy, people with less than a high-school diploma and those who have a high-school diploma are more likely to believe they can influence government than those at Level 1 or below (Odds ratios of 2.2 and 2.4 respectively). For those with postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree, attaining at least Level 2 in literacy is associated with significantly higher odds of reporting high political efficacy. Those with postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher are more likely to report high political efficacy at Level 3 or above (Figure 2.29).

For PS-TRE (Figure 2.30), results from regression analyses suggest that relationships between skills and political efficacy vary. Obtaining the highest levels in PS-TRE is associated with a greater likelihood of reporting positive political efficacy at all levels of education. Among those with a high-school diploma or postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree, those who score at least at Level 1 are more likely to report high political efficacy. These results may suggest that PS-TRE skills moderate the relationship between education and political efficacy—lower level of educational attainment does not necessarily prevent individuals from feeling that they have an influence on government actions and participating in political activities.



Figure 2.27 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive political efficacy, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Figure 2.28 Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE – Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive political efficacy, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012



Source: Table 2.13a

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01



Figure 2.29 Literacy – Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive political efficacy, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 2.13b

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001



Odds ratio



Source: Table 2.13b

50

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

Summary

PIAAC data demonstrate that people with strong information-processing skills are more likely to report positive health, trust, volunteering, and political efficacy than those with lower skills. These relationships hold even after controlling for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, Indigenous identity, immigrant status, and language of the test.

Within each of the four levels of educational attainment considered: less than high-school diploma; high-school diploma; postsecondary education - below bachelor's degree; and postsecondary education - bachelor's degree or higher, having better skills is associated with greater odds of reporting positive health and social outcomes. Although health and social outcomes generally improve as educational attainment increases, skills modify these relationships. Higher educational attainment is not strongly associated with positive health and social outcomes when proficiency in information-processing skills is low. Conversely, when proficiency levels are high, there is a strong likelihood of reporting positive health and social outcomes, even for those who have less than a high-school diploma. While there are many contextual factors beyond skills that likely influence health and social outcomes, these results suggest that stronger literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills could help to narrow gaps in outcomes between certain populations and help older Canadians maintain good health and participate more fully in their communities.



CHAPTER 3

HEALTH AND SOCIAL OUTCOMES OF INDIGENOUS PEOPLES AND IMMIGRANTS TO CANADA

PIAAC provides information on the skills and health and social outcomes of certain population groups that are of particular interest in the Canadian context. This chapter explores results for two of these groups: Indigenous peoples and immigrants to Canada.

Indigenous peoples

In the 2011 National Household Survey (NHS), about 3 per cent of the Canadian population aged 16 to 65 reported an Indigenous identity, not including First Nations peoples living on reserve. Most Indigenous peoples reside in Ontario and the western provinces, but it is in the territories that their proportion of the population between ages 16 and 65 is highest—81 per cent in Nunavut, 46 per cent in the Northwest Territories, and 21 per cent in Yukon (Statistics Canada et al., 2013).

The word *Indigenous* groups together the diverse people who inhabited North America prior to the arrival of Europeans, and includes First Nations, Inuit, and Métis. Indigenous respondents sampled in PIAAC include First Nations people living off-reserve (48 per cent of Indigenous respondents), Métis (44 per cent), and Inuit (5 per cent).¹⁸ Given the geographic distribution of Indigenous peoples across Canada, oversampling of these respondents was undertaken in Ontario, Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and British Columbia for those living in large urban centres. Additional sampling was also completed in the Yukon, Northwest Territories, and Nunavut—jurisdictions with the largest proportions of Indigenous peoples.

Indigenous peoples in Canada have distinct histories, cultures, and languages and reside in a broad range of remote, rural, and urban settings. There are a number of important sociodemographic and socioeconomic differences among Indigenous peoples, and between Indigenous peoples and the non-Indigenous population in Canada, some of which are associated with skills proficiency. For example, Indigenous populations are younger, and both educational attainment and employment rates tend to be lower in these populations compared to non-Indigenous populations (Statistics Canada et al., 2013). In combination with historical experiences-including the ongoing implications of colonization-these factors are closely connected to the health and social outcomes reported by Indigenous peoples in Canada.

According to the Pan-Canadian PIAAC Report, results show that at the national level, Indigenous peoples score lower in literacy and numeracy than the non-Indigenous population.¹⁹ However, preliminary results suggest that at higher levels of education, differences in proficiency between Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations are "all but eliminated" (Statistics Canada et al., 2013, p. 46). A larger proportion of Indigenous peoples score at Level 1 and below for literacy and numeracy, and a smaller proportion score at Level 4 or 5. Differences in PS-TRE proficiency are varied. At the pan-Canadian level, a smaller proportion of Indigenous peoples score at Level 2 or 3 in PS-TRE compared to the non-Indigenous population (Statistics Canada et al., 2013).

PIAAC results also indicate that a smaller proportion of Indigenous peoples report positive outcomes for selfreported health, trust, and political efficacy, compared to the non-Indigenous population (Figure 3.1). Almost 79 per cent of Indigenous peoples report excellent to good health, compared to 89 per cent of the non-Indigenous population. Twenty-two percent of those who identify as Indigenous report trusting more people, compared to 28 per cent of the non-Indigenous population. Comparable figures for political efficacy are 41 per cent versus 45 per cent. There is no difference in the proportion of Indigenous versus non-Indigenous populations reporting participation in volunteer activities (49 per cent). The results for volunteering may reflect a tradition of social responsibility inherent in Indigenous cultures and values, even though the term volunteer does not exist in most Indigenous languages (NWAC, 2011, p. 4). These results should be interpreted in the context of historical and contemporary experiences of colonization and social and economic exclusion, as confronted by Indigenous peoples.

Self-reported health

As Figure 3.2 indicates, Indigenous peoples generally do not enjoy as good health as the non-Indigenous population, although there have been improvements in recent decades (PHAC, 2008). The poorer health outcomes experienced by Indigenous peoples compared to pan-Canadian averages can be largely attributed to "the social, economic, cultural and political factors that have shaped, and continue to shape, their lives ... They also face considerable barriers in addressing their health issues, such as geographic, educational, and economic barriers" (NCCAH, 2012, p. 29).

¹⁸ An additional 1 per cent reported multiple Indigenous identities, and 2 per cent reported Indigenous identities not included elsewhere (Statistics Canada, 2013, p. 42). This report does not disaggregate data on Indigenous respondents because of limitations created by sample sizes within these populations.

¹⁹ A general overview of Indigenous skills can be found in the pan-Canadian report, "Skills in Canada: First Results from the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC)" at http://www.cmec.ca/Publications/Lists/Publications/ Attachments/315/Canadian-PIAAC-Report.EN.pdf.



Figure 3.1 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive health and social outcomes, by Indigenous identification, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 3.1

%



Figure 3.2 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by Indigenous identification, Canada and oversampled populations, 2012

Source: Table 3.1

As is the case for the non-Indigenous population, higher skills are associated with better self-reported health for Indigenous peoples (Figure 3.3). As literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills improve, so do the proportions of Indigenous peoples reporting excellent, very good or good health. The gap in self-reported health between Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations narrows as skills improve. At Level 4 or 5 in literacy and numeracy, there is no statistically significant difference in outcomes between the two populations (Figure 3.3). For PS-TRE, the gap narrows as proficiency increases, but not to the same degree.

Trust

Indigenous peoples generally report lower levels of trust than the non-Indigenous population, but there is significant variation across provinces and territories (Figure 3.4). Levels of trust among Indigenous peoples in Manitoba and the three territories are especially low, both compared to other provinces, and compared to levels of trust displayed by the non-Indigenous population within these provinces and territories. In Nunavut, for example, only 16 per cent of Indigenous peoples report positive trust, compared to 40 per cent of the non-Indigenous population. Lower levels of trust among Indigenous peoples may be driven by cultural, historical, and socioeconomic factors that influence the ways in which trust is interpreted, defined, and experienced—including the social and economic exclusion and discrimination that is part of the legacy of Canada's history of colonization. Further research to assess the factors that affect trust would help to build our understanding of the experiences of both Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations.

Differences in trust between Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations are small when assessed by literacy and numeracy proficiency. However, there is a widening gap across PS-TRE levels, with differences between the two populations reaching statistical significance at Level 1 and Level 2 or 3 (28 per cent for Indigenous populations, 35 per cent for the non-Indigenous population) [Figure 3.5].







Figure 3.4 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by Indigenous identification, Canada and oversampled populations, 2012

Source: Table 3.1



Figure 3.5 PS-TRE – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by Indigenous identification and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 3.2b

Volunteering

Differences in volunteerism among Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples vary somewhat across provinces and territories, mostly as a result of rates of volunteering by the non-Indigenous population. Across all jurisdictions, 48 to 58 per cent of Indigenous peoples volunteer, whereas the proportions of the non-Indigenous population who volunteer range from 50 per cent in Ontario to 71 per cent in Nunavut. The size of the gap in volunteering between Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations varies accordingly, with the largest differences found in Yukon (48 per cent of Indigenous populations versus 69 per cent of the non-Indigenous population), the Northwest Territories (58 per cent versus 69 per cent), and Nunavut (49 per cent versus 71 per cent).

As skills improve, participation in volunteer activities increases for both Indigenous peoples and the non-Indigenous population. Thirty-five per cent of Indigenous peoples at Level 1 or below in literacy volunteer, increasing to 61 per cent at Level 4 or 5 (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by Indigenous identification and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Political efficacy

It is important to ground any discussion of Indigenous political engagement in Canada's historical and social context, and the continuing limitations placed on First Nations people by the *Indian Act*. At the federal level, Status Indians were not extended an unconditional right to vote until 1960; at the provincial level, jurisdictions granted voting rights between 1949 and 1969. The process and outcomes of experiences like treaty negotiations and residential schools left Indigenous peoples both "stigmatised by, and alienated from ... [the Canadian] political apparatus" (CRIC, 2005, p. 9). Along with ongoing social and economic disparities between Indigenous peoples and the overall population, these experiences may contribute to "attitudes that include negativity, cynicism, and detachment" (ibid.).

Historically, voter turnout in federal and provincial/ territorial elections has been lower among Indigenous peoples than in the overall population, though trends do vary considerably across jurisdictions and locations (Fournier & Loewen, 2011). Turnout for elections in Indigenous communities can be much higher, exceeding 95 per cent in some First Nations communities (Ladner & McCrossan, 2007). Membership in political parties is at historically low levels in Canada overall, and tends to be even lower among Indigenous populations. Research that seeks to explain these trends is limited, and requires further development.

Civic or political engagement can also include a range of informal political activities outside of formal government processes, such as protests and demonstrations, organizing meetings, signing petitions, and engaging in activism, boycotts, and dialogue. These activities are more common among younger demographics, as well as among people who do not see themselves as connected to government. This demographic includes Canada's disproportionately youthful Indigenous populations (O'Neill, 2007).

PIAAC results indicate that Indigenous peoples are somewhat less likely to report positive political efficacy (41 per cent) compared to the non-Indigenous population (45 per cent). Results are similar across all provincial and territorial jurisdictions. As noted earlier, there is little Canadian context that can be provided for these findings because the specific concept of political efficacy is not measured in other surveys.

As skills improve, proportions of both Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations who believe that they have an influence on government increase. Notably, differences between the two populations at each skill level are not statistically significant. When literacy proficiency rises to Level 3, for example, half of both Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations think that they have an influence on government.

The effect of skills on health and social outcomes for Indigenous populations

Skills have an independent effect on the health and social outcomes of Indigenous peoples in Canada. Higher proficiency levels are associated with a greater likelihood of positive self-reported health, trust, and volunteering after controlling for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, and language of the test. Regression analyses find no significant effect on political efficacy.

The positive effect of skills is most notable for numeracy (Figure 3.7). As numeracy skills increase, Indigenous peoples are more likely to report positive health, trust, and volunteering. Indigenous peoples at Level 4 or 5 in numeracy are more likely to report excellent, very good or good health compared to those at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 2.7). The same is true for trust. For volunteering, the effect of skills is significant at Level 2 (Odds ratio of 1.5), and Level 3 (Odds ratio of 2.0).

Literacy skills also appear to have an important effect on trust and volunteering for Indigenous peoples (Figure 3.8). Significant effects on the likelihood of reporting positive trust were apparent for those with higher levels in literacy (Levels 3 and Level 4 or 5). For volunteering, Indigenous peoples at Level 2 or above in literacy were more likely to volunteer than those at Level 1 or below.

Higher levels of PS-TRE skills did not make a significant difference on the likelihood of reporting positive health and social outcomes for Indigenous peoples, except for volunteering. Indigenous peoples at Level 1 and Level 2 or 3 in PS-TRE were more likely to participate in volunteer activities as PS-TRE non-respondents (Odds ratio of 2.1 and 2.2 respectively).





Source: Table 3.3

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status and testing language.

- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01





Source: Table 3.3

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

Immigrants to Canada

According to the 2011 NHS, foreign-born individuals accounted for 22 per cent of the Canadian population aged 16 to 65 (Statistics Canada et al., 2013), and 21 per cent of the total population—the highest proportion among the G8 countries (Statistics Canada et al., 2013). A majority of Canada's foreign-born population live in four provinces: Ontario, British Columbia, Quebec, and Alberta. Most live in the largest urban centres.

This study defines immigrants as people who are, or have been at some point, landed immigrants or permanent residents in Canada (including people who have come to Canada as refugees). Those who landed in Canada as permanent residents between 2002 and 2012 are considered recent immigrants, while those who landed before 2002 are referred to as established immigrants. PIAAC sampled immigrants across the country, and oversampled for immigrants in Ontario, British Columbia, and Quebec—the provinces that account for 85 per cent of Canada's immigrant population.

Recent and established immigrants differ in a number of respects-and both groups differ from the Canadian-born. Many of these sociodemographic and socioeconomic differences tend to be associated with skills proficiency, including age, education, and language skills. For example, although most immigrants have a mother tongue other than English or French, recent immigrants are less likely to be able to speak an official language than established immigrants (Statistics Canada et al., 2013). Results from the Pan-Canadian PIAAC report show that immigrants also tend to be more educated than their Canadian-born counterparts. Recent immigrants in particular are much more likely to have completed postsecondary education, and much less likely to have a high-school diploma or less than a high-school diploma (Statistics Canada et al., 2013). Established immigrants tend to be older than the Canadian-born, and recent immigrants tend to be younger (Statistics Canada et al., 2013).

The fact that significant proportions of immigrants may not have English or French as a mother tongue likely influences the results that PIAAC obtained, given that the survey was administered in only these languages. For many immigrants whose mother tongue is neither English nor French, test results may therefore be more indicative of low proficiency in the official language rather than low proficiency in literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE. However, it is important to assess proficiency in English or French because these are the languages most commonly used in Canada. According to the 2011 NHS, almost 99 per cent of Canadian workers use either one or both official language in the workplace (Statistics Canada et al., 2013). English and/or French language proficiency is therefore important from the standpoint of supporting full participation in the Canadian economy and society.

On average, recent and established immigrants have similar proficiency levels in all three informationprocessing skills. However, both tend to score below the Canadian-born. For example, more than one-quarter of recent and established immigrants have literacy proficiency at Level 1 or below, almost double the corresponding percentage for those born in Canada. Smaller proportions of immigrants than the Canadianborn obtain Level 4 or 5 in literacy and numeracy (Statistics Canada et al., 2013).

PS-TRE results for immigrants to Canada are complicated by relatively high rates of nonparticipation in this portion of the assessment. Compared to 14 per cent of the Canadian-born, 23 per cent of recent immigrants and 27 per cent of established immigrants did not complete the computer-based PS-TRE assessment. This may be because of challenges with English or French, or the older age profile of established immigrants. For immigrants who did complete the PS-TRE assessment, only 26 per cent scored at the highest level of PS-TRE proficiency, compared with 41 per cent of the Canadianborn.

Health and social outcomes vary not only between immigrants and the Canadian-born but also between recent and established immigrants (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.9 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive health and social outcomes, by immigrant status, Canada, 2012

Self-reported health

62

Almost 93 per cent of recent immigrants report positive health, compared to 89 per cent of the Canadianborn, and 85 per cent of established immigrants. Results are similar across all provincial and territorial jurisdictions. It is well documented in Canada that recent immigrants benefit from a "healthy immigrant effect." This health advantage is believed to stem from the selective nature of the international migration processes. Healthy individuals are more likely to pursue migration, and immigrant-receiving states like Canada tend to create admission policies with criteria that correlate to better health—for example, more education or work experience, or specific skills that contribute to labour market success following migration (Vang et al., 2015).

The percentage of recent immigrants, established immigrants, and the Canadian-born reporting positive health rises with each increase in skills proficiency. For example, there are significant increases in positive health for both established and recent immigrants when they move from Level 1 to Level 2 in literacy (Figure 3.10). Among all three groups, self-reported health tends to be worse for those below Level 3 in literacy.

PIAAC data suggest that the influence of the "healthy immigrant effect" is not as apparent at higher skill levels. As Figure 3.10 indicates, differences in the proportion of recent immigrants compared to the Canadian-born reporting excellent, very good or good health narrow at Level 3 and Level 4 or 5 in literacy.

Trust

PIAAC data indicate that people born in Canada have higher levels of trust than both recent and established immigrants. Just over 29 per cent of the Canadian-born report trusting more than a few people, compared to 22 per cent of recent immigrants and 25 per cent of established immigrants. (Differences between the two immigrant populations are not statistically significant.) Results are similar in Ontario. Some other studies also reach similar conclusions about trust levels among immigrant populations in Canada (Kazemipur, 2006).

As Figure 3.11 shows, levels of trust tend to increase among immigrants and the Canadian-born as literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills improve. Differences between the two immigrant populations and the Canadian-born are minimal (and not statistically significant) at lower skill levels, but tend to widen as literacy skills improve.



Figure 3.10 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by immigrant status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012



Figure 3.11 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive level of trust, by immigrant status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Volunteering

A higher proportion of the Canadian-born (52 per cent) volunteer compared to established immigrants (40 per cent) and recent immigrants (37 per cent). Results are similar across all oversampled provinces, except in Quebec where an equal proportion of established immigrants volunteer compared to the Canadian-born. These findings are consistent with other research (Thomas, 2012). They may be a result of the fact that immigrants come from diverse cultural and social traditions that include different attitudes and norms about volunteering. There are also barriers to volunteering for immigrant populations that can include limited proficiency in official languages, a lack of Canadian experience, and limited social networks. Although both immigrant populations and the Canadian-born identify a lack of time as a key barrier to volunteerism, immigrants are slightly more likely to cite time constraints. Recent immigrants adjusting to a new community, culture, and labour market may face additional time pressures (Thomas, 2012).

As literacy proficiency improves for both immigrant populations and the Canadian-born, volunteering also tends to increase (Figure 3.12). The same pattern is observed for numeracy and PS-TRE. At all levels in numeracy, a significantly greater proportion of the Canadian-born volunteer (67 per cent at Level 4 or 5), compared to both recent and established immigrants (50 per cent and 56 per cent, respectively, at Level 4 or 5).

Political efficacy

At the pan-Canadian level, there is little variation in proportions of recent immigrants, established immigrants, and the Canadian-born who believe they can influence government. However, there are notable differences across provinces and territories. Figure 3.13 presents results for Canada as a whole, as well as for the three oversampled jurisdictions (Quebec, Ontario, and British Columbia).

It is difficult to compare these findings to other research using different measures of political engagement. Voter turnout is lower among recent immigrants compared to the Canadian-born (Turcotte, 2015c). Immigrant women are also less likely to engage in conventional political activities (e.g., voting, membership in a political party or interest group) than women born in Canada, particularly immigrant women from ethnic minority groups. However, these differences are less consistent for participation in unconventional political activities (e.g., participating in protests/demonstrations, boycotts/buycotts) (O'Neill, Gidengil, & Young, 2012).




As literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills improve, larger proportions of both immigrant populations and the Canadian-born report greater political efficacy. As well, the already small differences between recent immigrants, established immigrants, and the Canadian-born diminish even further as proficiency improves. Results for literacy appear in Figure 3.14.



Figure 3.13 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive political efficacy, by immigrant status, Canada and oversampled populations, 2012

Figure 3.14 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive political efficacy, by immigrant status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012



The effect of skills on the health and social outcomes of recent immigrants

Skills have a significant positive effect on the social outcomes of recent immigrants after controlling for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, and test language. Results vary across skill domain and outcome, with the strongest effects observed for volunteering and political efficacy. The likelihood of recent immigrants participating in volunteer activities increases with levels in literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE. All levels in literacy above Level 2 are significantly associated with volunteering (Figure 3.15). Recent immigrants with Level 3 in literacy are more likely to volunteer than those at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 2.5). Those at Level 4 or 5 are also more likely to volunteer than those at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 3.0). Similarly, attaining Level 2 or above in numeracy is associated with increased volunteerism, as is Level 1 in PS-TRE.

Relatively high levels in literacy (Level 3 or above) are also associated with an increased likelihood of reporting positive political efficacy among recent immigrants. Results are similar for numeracy, with those at the highest levels (Level 4 or 5) reporting a stronger sense of political efficacy. Recent immigrants who attain the highest levels in PS-TRE are more likely to report positive political efficacy than PS-TRE non-respondents (Odds ratio of 1.6) [Figure 3.16].

Literacy and numeracy skills are not significantly associated with self-reported health for recent immigrants. However, those with Level 2 or 3 in PS-TRE are more likely than PS-TRE non-respondents to report excellent, very good or good health (Odds ratio of 2.3) (Figure 3.16). Few significant results emerged for trust across any of the skill domains.

These results are likely influenced by other factors that affect the health and social outcomes of recent immigrants, such as mother tongue, age at immigration, and amount of education or training received in Canada. Further research is needed to explore the impact of these factors on the health and social outcomes of recent immigrants, and connections between these factors and information-processing skills.

The effect of skills on the health and social outcomes of established immigrants

The effect of skills on health and social outcomes is weaker for established immigrants than it is for recent immigrants. High levels in literacy, numeracy, and PS- TRE are associated with some positive health and social outcomes after controlling for gender, age, educational attainment, employment status, and language of the test, though there are few clear and significant patterns.

Similar to recent immigrants, effects are most notable for volunteering and political efficacy. Established immigrants at Level 3 and above in literacy are more likely to participate in volunteer activities, compared to those at Level 1 or below. This is also the case for established immigrants at Level 1 in PS-TRE compared to PS-TRE non-respondents (Figure 3.17). Attaining Level 4 or 5 in numeracy is significantly associated with an increased sense of political efficacy among established immigrants. Similarly, established immigrants at Level 2 or 3 in PS-TRE are more likely than PS-TRE non-respondents to report positive political efficacy (Odds ratio of 2.1) [Figure 3.17].

As with recent immigrants, strong PS-TRE skills are positively associated with self-reported health. Those at Level 2 or 3 are more likely to report excellent, very good or good health as non-respondents (Odds ratio of 2.1).



Figure 3.15 Literacy – Adjusted likelihood of recent immigrants aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 3.6a

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status and testing language.

- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Figure 3.16 PS-TRE – Adjusted likelihood of recent immigrants aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Odds ratio



Source: Table 3.6a

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status and testing language.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001



Figure 3.17 PS-TRE – Adjusted likelihood of established immigrants aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 3.6b

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status and testing language.

- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Summary

PIAAC data reveal that Indigenous peoples and immigrants to Canada have different health and social outcomes compared to the non-Indigenous population and the Canadian-born population, respectively, and that skills can influence these outcomes in a variety of ways. These differences are important to understand when considering appropriate policy and program responses.

For both Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples, higher levels of information-processing skills are associated with a greater likelihood of positive self-reported health, trust, and volunteering. Among Indigenous peoples, attaining at least Level 3 in numeracy and literacy appears to be associated with the greatest likelihood of positive health and social outcomes. Higher levels in numeracy appear to most strongly predict positive outcomes.

Although Indigenous peoples tend to have poorer health and are less likely to believe they can influence government compared to the non-Indigenous population, their skills appear to be a potentially important lever to close these gaps. The fact that differences between these two groups are not statistically significant at higher proficiency levels suggests that access to opportunities for Indigenous adults to build and maintain skills through lifelong and life-wide learning may yield benefits outside of labour market or economic returns. This is underscored by the fact that the relationship between skills and health and social outcomes persists after controlling for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, and the test language.

For immigrants to Canada, results vary between recent and established immigrants, and for all immigrants compared to the Canadian-born. As with other population groups, immigrants' health and social outcomes improve as proficiency in skills increases. For recent immigrants, this relationship persists even after controlling for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, and language of the test. Literacy skills tend to be the strongest predictor of positive outcomes for these individuals, particularly with respect to volunteering and political efficacy. However, PS-TRE skills are also importantly connected to the likelihood of recent immigrants reporting excellent, very good or good health, positive political efficacy, and participation in volunteer activities.

For established immigrants, the connections between skills and health and social outcomes are less clear

than for recent immigrants after adjusting for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, and language of the test. PS-TRE skills in particular appear to have some significant influence on self-reported health, volunteering, and political efficacy.

CHAPTER 3: HEALTH AND SOCIAL OUTCOMES OF INDIGENOUS PEOPLES AND IMMIGRANTS TO CANADA



CHAPTER 4

THE IMPACT OF SKILLS ON HEALTH AND SOCIAL OUTCOMES AND LABOUR MARKET PARTICIPATION

Although formal education is one of the primary means through which skills proficiency is built, other paths are critical for maintaining skills. Skills translate into better economic, health, and social outcomes only when they are continuously used and developed through family, community, and work contexts. This chapter focuses on the connections among labour market participation, skills, and health and social outcomes for two groups of Canadians: those who are unemployed and those who are employed in precarious jobs.

Previous research has shown that skill level has a significant effect on a wide range of labour market outcomes, including the incidence of unemployment, number of weeks worked, average duration of unemployment, number of hours worked, wage rates, and the probability of receiving employer-funded training (CLLN, 2012). Individuals with low skills are increasingly at risk when labour markets demand stronger information-management and communication skills and more sophisticated and technologically driven tasks. Poor proficiency in information-processing skills can therefore limit access to better-paying, more rewarding, and less risky jobs. It also affects the possibility of participating in further education and training, which is crucial for skill development and maintenance over the working life and beyond (OECD, 2013b).

Lifelong learning is important for workers in both high- and low-skilled jobs. Higher levels in literacy and numeracy facilitate learning. Workers with stronger skills are more likely to be employed in positions that require ongoing training, and are more likely to have employers who support continuous learning. This can create a virtuous cycle for high-proficiency adults and conversely, a vicious cycle for those with lower proficiency. When low-skilled adults lack access to learning or training opportunities, their skills remain weak or even deteriorate over time, compromising further their ability to participate in learning activities (OECD, 2013a).

Well-remunerated, secure, and satisfying work is also connected to health and social well-being. It contributes to financial security, to the formation of social capital and a sense of inclusion, and to the development of personal identity. Employment is also widely recognized as a social determinant of health. It is directly connected to health by (potential) exposure to hazardous conditions in the workplace, and by providing an income with which to purchase health-promoting goods and services. Employment is also indirectly linked to health via demands and rewards associated with different types of work, such as social networks, stress, and level of control over work conditions (Block, 2010; EMCONET, 2007; PHAC, 2008).

72

Unemployment

Numerous studies have documented the impact of unemployment on mental and physical health, as well as on other social outcomes. Compared to employed people, unemployed individuals report poorer physical and mental health, lower tangible social support, lower levels of organizational membership, and lower social and institutional trust. They are also less likely to vote. Unemployment results in exclusion from both work and social capital, creating an additive effect (Åslund, Starrin, & Nilsson, 2014). Unemployed people also tend to have significantly higher odds of reporting low generalized trust compared to people employed in "relaxed" psychosocial work conditions (Lindström, 2009).

Employment status in PIAAC is divided into three categories: employed, unemployed,²⁰ and not in the labour force.²¹ The proportions of Canadians who are employed (76 per cent), unemployed (4 per cent), and not in the labour force (20 per cent) are similar to those reported in the 2012 Labour Force Survey (Statistics Canada et al., 2013).

Those who are employed enjoy better health and social outcomes than both the unemployed and those not in the labour force (Figure 4.1). Only 76 per cent of those not in the labour force report excellent, very good or good health, compared to 87 per cent of the unemployed, and 92 per cent of people who are employed. Nineteen percent of unemployed Canadians trust more than a few people, compared to 30 per cent of employed Canadians. Fifty per cent of employed Canadians volunteer, versus 44 per cent of both the unemployed and those not in the labour force. Positive political efficacy is reported by 39 per cent of the unemployed, compared to 46 per cent of employed Canadians.

²⁰ The "unemployed" in PIAAC consist of those who were neither working nor self-employed in the month prior to PIAAC, were able to work, and were actively seeking work or expecting to begin a job for which they had been previously hired (Statistics Canada et al., 2013, p. 61).

²¹ In PIAAC, those "not in labour force" were respondents who met none of the employment conditions and did not actively look for work in the four weeks prior to PIAAC, or who would not begin work for more than three months. The not in the labour force population also consists of respondents who did not take active steps to find a job and were not looking for work or available to begin work within two weeks of the survey (Statistics Canada et al., 2013). This may include retired people, students, or those with health conditions that prevent them from working.



Figure 4.1 Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report positive health and social outcomes, by employment status, Canada, 2012

The proportions of the population who are employed or not in the labour force and reporting excellent, very good or good health generally rise with improvements in information-processing skills. The same pattern does not appear for unemployed Canadians. The health of the unemployed does not improve as levels in literacy, numeracy, or PS-TRE increase. In fact, self-reported health actually declines at the highest levels in literacy (Figure 4.2). While explanations for this relationship require further investigation, it may reflect that some highly literate Canadians are (in the short term) unable to work because of significant health conditions, or that highly skilled workers without jobs tend to perceive their health more negatively.



Figure 4.2 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report excellent, very good or good health, by employment status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 4.1

As noted earlier, unemployed people tend to be less trusting than those who are employed. Improvements in literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills are generally accompanied by increasing levels of trust among both the employed and those not in the labour force. Similar to self-reported health, this is not the case for unemployed people.

In contrast to self-reported health and trust, results for volunteering are consistent regardless of employment status. The proportions of Canadians reporting volunteering activities tend to rise with each increase in literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skill across all employment types (Figure 4.3). Positive political efficacy also generally increases as literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills improve, but differences between the employed, unemployed, and those not in the labour force are not statistically significant.

Overall, skills do not appear to be strongly associated with health and social outcomes for unemployed Canadians. After controlling for the effects of age, gender, educational attainment, immigrant status, Indigenous identity, and test language, skills do not appear to exert an important influence (Figure 4.4).²² These results may reflect the combined impact of exclusion from paid work, and the absence of opportunities to build and maintain social networks/ social capital in the workplace—magnifying negative outcomes even for highly skilled unemployed Canadians.

Figure 4.3 PS-TRE – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who volunteer, by employment status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012



Source: Table 4.2c

²² The only significant relationship identified in Figure 4.4 is that unemployed Canadians at Level 3 in literacy are more likely to believe that they have some influence on government than those with skills at Level 1 or below (Odds ratio of 2.8).



Figure 4.4 Literacy – Adjusted likelihood of unemployed population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 4.3

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status and testing language.

- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Precarious work

Precarious employment is generally understood to encompass "nonstandard" work arrangements, such as short-term or fixed-term contract work, casual work, temporary work (including jobs supplied by temporary agencies), certain forms of part-time work, own-account self-employment, telework, home-based work, and seasonal work. Precarious work may also be characterized by specific employment attributes, such as uncertainty of ongoing employment, unpredictability of hours, or a lack of employment protections and benefits. In contrast, "standard" work is typically understood to represent full-time, full-year, permanent employment with regular hours—and more often with employer-provided benefits such as paid vacation or extended health care (Tompa & Buettgen, 2015).

Recent research has demonstrated a range of adverse effects for individuals in precarious employment, including impacts on health and social outcomes (Lewchuk et al., 2015, Tompa & Buettgen, 2015). Precarious work is associated with reduced income security, limited capacity to balance work and family life, social exclusion, reduced trust, and a reduced likelihood of voting or participating in political meetings (Lewchuck et al., 2015). It can also contribute to poor self-reported health, poor mental health, and worse outcomes for specific health conditions such as cardiovascular disease. By acting as a chronic workrelated stressor, job precarity may be as harmful to health as unemployment (Kim & von dem Knesebeck, 2015). Adverse impacts from this type of employment may be exacerbated for more vulnerable workers such as women, visible minorities, and older workers (Tompa & Buettgen, 2015). In general, workers with lower socioeconomic status are overrepresented in insecure employment.

According to the International Labour Organization (ILO, 2015), precarious employment is increasing in many advanced economies, including Canada. Approximately 55 per cent of the world's wage and salaried employees are in either part-time or temporary forms of employment. An estimated 20 per cent of Canada's workforce are in nonpermanent work arrangements. However, estimates of the proportion of Canadians in precarious work arrangements vary widely, from a low of 15 per cent (DePratto & Bartlett, 2015), to a high of 44 per cent in a study of workers in southern Ontario (Lewchuk et al., 2015).

While the rise of precarious employment has affected all groups of workers, women, visible minorities, recent immigrants, Indigenous peoples, youth, and people with disabilities are more likely to be engaged in precarious work. In turn, these groups of workers may be more likely to experience poorer physical and mental health, as well as negative social outcomes.

PIAAC's insights into precarious work

PIAAC permits some initial inquiry into relationships between precarious work, skills, and health and social outcomes, using data on the type of employment that respondents reported. For the purposes of this report, respondents reporting permanent jobs are considered to be in standard (more secure) employment. Respondents reporting seasonal, term, contract, casual, or other temporary jobs are considered to be in nonstandard (or precarious) employment. Employed respondents who report not having an employment contract are retained in a separate "no contract" category because of the absence of additional information about the employment circumstances of this group.²³ Based on these employment categories, approximately 15 per cent of the employed could be considered as precariously employed, while a further 9 per cent report that they do not have an employment contract. Sixty-one per cent report working in a permanent job (Statistics Canada, 2012).

It is important to acknowledge that PIAAC employment categories have limitations in terms of identifying those working in precarious employment. For example, these data do not identify whether employees are in part-time or temporary work arrangements by choice, or whether they would prefer an alternate form of employment. PIAAC does not distinguish between different types of part-time work arrangements, some of which have greater security, predictability, and remuneration. The data also do not adequately identify different forms of self-employment, a category that can include a wide range of both positive and negative work types and conditions.

As a result of these and other limitations, as well as the well-documented challenges associated with defining the concept of precarious work (Tompa & Buettgen, 2015), the analyses presented here should be understood as partial and preliminary. To more deeply and reliably evaluate connections between precarious work, skills, and health and social outcomes, researchers

76

may need new survey elements concerning employment types and characteristics to be developed for future rounds of PIAAC.

The distribution of precarious work by sociodemographic and socioeconomic characteristics

Some differences in the distribution of precarious work by skill domain and sociodemographic or socioeconomic characteristics emerge in PIAAC data, but patterns are not always clear or consistent. There is little variation in the proportion of women versus men employed in precarious work. The exception is those at the higher levels in literacy and PS-TRE: more women tend to be in precarious or "no contract" employment. At lower levels in literacy and numeracy, Indigenous peoples are more likely to have precarious jobs than the non-Indigenous population, but these differences diminish at higher levels. At Level 3 or above in literacy and numeracy, and Level 1 or above in PS-TRE, the proportions of Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples in secure work are similar. This is important because it points to the potential importance of skills in shaping economic and other outcomes.

As skills improve, the proportion of Canadians in secure employment increases, the proportion in "no contract" work decreases, and the proportion in precarious work remains the same. For example, 68 per cent of those at Level 1 or below in numeracy have secure employment, compared to 75 per cent at Level 4 or 5. At the lowest numeracy levels, 17 per cent report having no employment contract, dropping to 9 per cent at the highest levels. The proportion of Canadians in precarious employment tends to hold steady at approximately 15 per cent of the employed population at each level of numeracy proficiency (Figure 4.5). Patterns are similar for literacy and PS-TRE.

²³ The question in the PIAAC background questionnaire concerning the type of employment contract does not include a response for selfemployment. People who are self-employed may have responded under "other." See Statistics Canada, 2012.



Figure 4.5 Numeracy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 employed in secure, precarious or "no contract" employment, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

For all skill domains and skills levels. Canadians in precarious or "no contract" work are more likely to be young adults (Figure 4.6), which is a finding echoed in other research (OECD, 2015). This may reflect how transitions from school to work can involve a series of temporary or casual work assignments. However, some recent research also suggests that labour market conditions are shifting more generally for younger Canadians who not only tend to earn less when starting out but who also do not catch up over their careers. Precarious work can become a "trap" with low earnings limiting housing options and compromising one's ability to form relationships and start a family (Lewchuk et al., 2015). The OECD also finds that younger workersparticularly those with only temporary work contractshave less chance of moving on to more stable positions (OECD, 2015). These trends may help to explain the finding that the proportion of precarious employment among younger workers actually increases as their PS-TRE skills improve (Figure 4.6). This pattern is similar for literacy and numeracy.

PIAAC found that approximately 45 per cent of Canadians in precarious or "no contract" work have not attained an educational credential beyond a high-school diploma. This finding for Canada is consistent with data from other developed countries (OECD, 2015). For each skill domain, the proportion of the population who are employed in precarious work decreases as educational attainment increases (Figure 4.7). However, the benefits of postsecondary education are most apparent for those at Level 3 or above in literacy and numeracy, or above Level 1 in PS-TRE. For all skill domains, the benefits of higher-level proficiency are most apparent for those who have postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher. For those with a high-school diploma or less than a high-school diploma, the proportion of precarious or "no contract" work tends to increase at higher levels of proficiency.



Figure 4.6 PS-TRE – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 employed in secure, precarious or "no contract" employment, by proficiency level and age group, Canada, 2012



Figure 4.7 PS-TRE – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 employed in secure, precarious or "no contract" employment, by proficiency level and educational attainment, Canada, 2012

Patterns in precarious work among recent and established immigrants are more variable (Figure 4.8). A proportion of precarious work is somewhat greater among recent immigrants than for the Canadian-born, except at the lowest skill levels, and is lowest among established immigrants. This finding is consistent with other research on newcomers to Canada (LCO, 2012). Limited official-language proficiency, a lack of Canadian education or work experience, and foreign credentials unrecognized by employers may contribute to a greater likelihood of working in a precarious job. At the same time, becoming a citizen and length of time in Canada tend to mitigate employment precarity (Goldring & Joly, 2014).

Workers employed in precarious or "no contract" jobs fall into lower wage quintiles more frequently than those in stable employment. This is consistent with other research on precarious work that shows job types frequently associated with precarious conditions typically pay lower wages (DePratto & Bartlett, 2015). For all skill domains, Canadians earning hourly wages that place them in the bottom earnings quintile are more often found in precarious or "no contract" employment (Figure 4.9). For example, 51 per cent of workers in the lowest earnings quintile at Level 3 in numeracy are in precarious or "no contract" jobs. For low-wage work, there appears to be no advantage to possessing higherlevel skills as a means to obtaining secure work in these types of occupations. Patterns for literacy and PS-TRE are similar. This finding suggests that economic returns on higher-level skills may be fully realized for only those employed in higher-paying, secure jobs.



Figure 4.8 Literacy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 employed in secure, precarious or "no contract" employment, by proficiency level and immigrant status, Canada, 2012



Figure 4.9 Numeracy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 employed in secure, precarious or "no contract" employment, by proficiency level and hourly earning quintiles, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 4.11

Precarious work, skills, and health and social outcomes

To isolate the effect of skills on health and social outcomes for those in different types of employment, additional analyses were undertaken to control for the potential influence of age, gender, educational attainment, immigrant status, Indigenous identification, and wages. Few clear and significant patterns emerged to describe these relationships.

For all skill domains and employment types, the effect of skills on self-reported health tended not to be statistically significant. The only exception is that workers employed in precarious jobs at Level 1 or above in PS-TRE were more likely to report positive health compared to PS-TRE non-respondents. This could be linked to the role that problem-solving skills play in both navigating complex health systems and deciphering and applying health information.

Skills have an important effect on social outcomes for those in precarious or "no contract" work arrangements. For literacy, Canadians employed in precarious jobs at Level 4 or 5 are more likely to trust more than a few people (Odds ratio of 4.2), and more likely to volunteer, compared to those at the lowest skill level. Significantly higher levels of trust and volunteerism are also apparent at Level 3 in literacy (Figure 4.10). Results for numeracy are similar.

The effect of PS-TRE skills on health and social outcomes for workers in precarious employment is positive and statistically significant for those at higher proficiency levels (Figure 4.11). Compared to PS-TRE non-respondents, those at Level 2 or 3 are more likely to report positive health (Odds ratio of 3.0), to volunteer (Odds ratio of 2.4), to report higher levels of trust (Odds ratio of 2.8), and to report positive political efficacy (Odds ratio of 2.0). Results are also statistically significant for those at Level 1 in PS-TRE, who are more likely to report positive health compared to PS-TRE non-respondents (Odds ratio of 2.1).



Figure 4.10 Literacy – Adjusted likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 in precarious employment reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 4.12a

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status and wages.

- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001





Source: Table 4.12a

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status and wages.

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Skills have a positive effect on social outcomes for those with no employment contract, particularly volunteerism and political efficacy. For example, "no contract" workers at the highest numeracy levels are more likely to volunteer (Odds ratio of 2.7), and more likely to report positive political efficacy than those at the lowest levels (Odds ratio of 3.7) [Figure 4.12]. Patterns are similar for literacy and PS-TRE.





Source: Table 4.12b

Note: Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status and wages.

- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Reasons for leaving or not looking for work

Being outside of, or weakly attached to, the labour market can have important financial, health, and social implications. It can also have repercussions for using and developing skills and for opportunities to pursue training. For these reasons, this report briefly analyzes the distribution of skills and health and social outcomes for Canadians who report that they have left work or stopped looking for work as a result of health or family-related issues. The response options considered in this analysis include:

- Reasons for stopping work: (i) health reasons and (ii) family responsibilities or child care
- Reasons for not looking for work: (i) being temporarily sick or injured, (ii) long-term illness or disability, and (iii) looking after family or home.

A small proportion of Canadians who are unemployed or not in the labour force report that they left a job or did not look for work for health- or family-related reasons. Those with lower skills tend to report leaving or ceasing to pursue paid employment more often than those with higher skills. For example, as numeracy skills improve, there is a decline in the proportion of people who report stopping work for health-related reasons, or not looking for work because of temporary or long-term illness.

Long-term ill health and disability are more frequently cited reasons for leaving or not looking for work for those with the lowest levels of skills. In contrast, Canadians at higher skill levels leave the workforce or stop looking for work more frequently as a result of child care or family responsibilities (Figure 4.13). This may reflect how higher-skilled Canadians have greater resources with which to elect to exit or remain outside the labour force, whether in terms of financial remuneration from better-paying and more secure jobs, or stronger social connectedness and networks. However, it is important to keep in mind that these results do not control for other factors that can influence decisions about paid work and family life, such as marital status or the local labour market context.



Figure 4.13 Numeracy – Proportion of population aged 16 to 65 who report leaving or not seeking employment for health or family reasons, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Source: Table 4.13

Notes: 1. A. Stopping work for health reasons

- B. Not looking for work due to being temporarily sick or injured
- C. Not looking for work due long-term illness/disability
- D. Stopping work for family responsibilities or childcare
- E. Not looking for work due to looking after family or home
- 2.U Too unreliable to be published
 - x Suppressed to meet the confidentiality requirements of the Statistics Act

Summary

The relationships between unemployment, health, and social well-being are well documented in research. These trends are confirmed in PIAAC data, which demonstrate that unemployed Canadians tend to have worse health and social outcomes than those who are employed. In contrast to employed Canadians, however, outcomes for the unemployed do not consistently improve as proficiency levels increase - a finding that is underscored by the fact that statistically significant relationships are not apparent after controlling for the effect of age, gender, educational attainment, immigrant status, Indigenous identification, and language of the test. The fact that health and social outcomes do not improve even for highly skilled unemployed Canadians may suggest that exclusion from opportunities to build social capital and networks in the workplace can further compound the instability and economic vulnerability created by a lack of earned income.

Certain populations within Canada are more likely to be employed in precarious jobs, notably young adults, those with low levels of formal education, recent

immigrants, Indigenous peoples (at lower skill levels), and women (at higher skill levels). While the proportion of the population engaged in precarious work does not change as skills improve, more Canadians at higher skill levels report having permanent jobs, and fewer are employed in "no contract" work. After controlling for the effects of age, gender, educational attainment, immigrant status, Indigenous identity, and wages, there are few clear trends in the relationships among employment type, skills, and health and social outcomes. The effect of rising skill levels on self-reported health is generally not statistically significant for all employment types. However, higher-level skills tend to modify the negative impact of precarious employment on social outcomes. Given that precarious work is a growing part of the labour market in Canada and is known to have negative impacts on a wide range of health and social factors, further research may be warranted to expand on the preliminary assessment of relationships among precarious work, skills, and health and social outcomes that is currently possible using PIAAC data.



CHAPTER 5

IMPLICATIONS

This chapter reviews key messages from the findings presented in this report and briefly discusses some of their implications for policy and program development and evaluation, and for further research and data collection on the health and social outcomes of adult skills.

Canada generally has a positive health and social profile.

Canadians generally report levels of health, trust, volunteering, and political efficacy that are above the average for OECD countries that participated in PIAAC. This is also the case for almost all provincial and territorial jurisdictions in Canada.

Skills matter for health and social well-being.

The health and social outcomes achieved by Canadians are modified by skill level. PIAAC results confirm that Canadians with higher skills are more likely to enjoy better health, trust more people, participate in volunteer activities, and think they can influence government, compared to those with lower skills. This is the case even after controlling for other factors that may influence the relationship among skills and health and social outcomes, including age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, Indigenous identity, immigrant status, and the language in which the PIAAC survey is administered.

Compared to other OECD countries, Canada exhibits a stronger relationship between skills and health and social outcomes. For volunteer activities in particular, Canadians at the highest levels of literacy proficiency are more likely to volunteer than those at the lowest skill levels, compared to the OECD average. Differences in results for Canada compared to the OECD reflect specific health, education, and labour market contexts and requirements, as well as cultural and social variation in attitudes toward civic and social engagement and political participation. These factors underscore the complexity of the links among education, skills, and health and social outcomes.

These findings suggest that information-processing skills do more than facilitate access to good jobs, higher wages, or macro-economic outcomes like productivity. Skills are also important resources to help people locate and use the information and services needed to attain and maintain good health and to participate fully in society and its institutions. Social inclusion is itself recognized as being important for health, particularly for groups of Canadians who are more likely to experience marginalization, including Indigenous peoples, recent immigrants, women, and people with disabilities (Mikkonen & Raphael, 2010).

At the individual level, higher levels of skills proficiency may also support increased control over one's life by helping to build the capabilities needed to gain access to and pursue different life chances. In social-determinantsof-health research, control is considered important in part because of the role that predictability and choice play in reducing stress. Prolonged exposure to stress for example, from coping with low income, poor-quality housing, food insecurity, or precarious employment can contribute to adverse physical and mental health outcomes (Mikkonen & Raphael, 2010).

At the societal level, community members who acquire and maintain higher levels of skills proficiency also are more likely to develop greater understanding of local, regional, and national norms, practices, and institutions; have access to opportunities to participate in these processes; and cultivate greater appreciation and tolerance for the beliefs, motivations, and behaviour of others. This can have positive implications for sustaining healthy and well-functioning democracies, as well as for reducing the need for-and cost of-health and social services. For example, having less knowledge about health is associated with poorer health status and greater use of health services (Weiss, 2005). Inadequate levels in literacy and problem-solving may be a contributing factor to inequities in health outcomes and associated health-care-system expenditures. Similarly, research suggests that improved skills can reduce the cost of social assistance, employment insurance, and workers' compensation (Murray & Shillington, 2012).

These observations are supported by this report's finding that, according to PIAAC, Canadians who score above 335 in literacy (Level 4) self-report only positive levels of health, trust, volunteering, and political efficacy. In effect, PIAAC data suggest that a highly literate population is also more likely to be characterized by good health, stronger social cohesion and connectedness, and greater civic participation. While it may not be possible for everyone to achieve Level 4, each improvement in literacy skills is associated with improved well-being.

Skills are more than a corollary of education.

In today's information society, text-based information on Web sites, in newspapers, and from other sources is an important way in which people learn about the world. Primary and secondary education are critical for acquiring the skills to understand and interpret this information, while postsecondary education and subsequent training and professional development opportunities support ongoing skill use, development, and maintenance. PIAAC data for Canada and internationally confirm that health and social outcomes generally improve as education increases. However, these data also confirm that skills have an independent effect on health and social outcomes in Canada that persists even when controlling for level of educational attainment. *Within* each level of education, those with stronger skills are more likely to have positive health and social outcomes.

When proficiency levels are high, there is a strong likelihood of reporting positive health and social outcomes, even for those who have only low levels of formal education (less than a high-school diploma). This finding suggests that skills may help to mitigate some of the negative outcomes that often accompany lower educational attainment, such as increased mortality, increased health care service use and costs, decreased earnings potential, and increased food and housing insecurity (Mackenbach, Meerding, & Kunst, 2007; McGrail et al., 2009; Tjepkema, Wilkins, & Long, 2012). Conversely, a higher level of educational attainment is not strongly associated with positive health and social outcomes when information-processing skill proficiency is low. This finding points to the importance of efforts to use and maintain skills at work and in everyday lifeeven for adults who begin with a high level of formal education.

Interventions that help adults to build and retain skills could be an important policy approach across the skills spectrum, even when these interventions are not linked to a formal course of education or study. This may be particularly the case for adults who completed formal education some years ago—and whose skills are likely to have declined accordingly. Although education is welldocumented as a critical social determinant of health (PHAC, 2008), educational credentials may not be the only way to acquire the skills that can advance health and social well-being.

Some groups are less likely to enjoy positive health and social outcomes.

Although Canada's results are fairly strong compared to many other developed countries, disparities persist with respect to the health and social profile of different groups of Canadians. Women tend to report positive social outcomes more frequently than men. Older Canadians tend to be more trusting, while younger Canadians have higher rates of volunteering. Age makes little difference in perceptions of influence on government, but unsurprisingly, self-reported health declines among older Canadians. Those with lower educational attainment and unemployed Canadians generally have poorer health and social outcomes than other populations in Canada. Indigenous peoples also tend to report poorer health and lower levels of trust and political efficacy, a finding that is connected to colonialism's legacy in Canada.

There is a range of existing interventions at the national, provincial/territorial, and local levels that support these groups to improve their health and social well-being, such as access to primary health services, health-promotion and disease-prevention programs, income supports, and community-based and local development initiatives. PIAAC findings suggest that skill-based interventions could be an additional avenue through which governments and other organizations can support Canadians to achieve better health and social outcomes. For Indigenous peoples, attaining higher levels in numeracy in particular appears to be a predictor of positive outcomes, whereas both literacy and PS-TRE skills seem to predict positive outcomes for recent immigrants.

Although skills training tends not to directly target goals like improved health status or social engagement, increased collaboration across sectors may facilitate assessment of the multiple and diverse benefits that could flow from these programs—from improved skills, to greater labour market attachment, to better health, and stronger civic and social engagement.

Skills as an equalizer.

The results presented in this report indicate that stronger literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE skills may help to narrow gaps in outcomes between certain populations. Skills have the potential to assist older Canadians to maintain good health, and to more fully participate in their communities. Skills generally decline with age, as do health and social outcomes, but gaps between older and younger Canadians are much narrower for older Canadians with high skill levels. Skills also appear to be potentially important to close gaps in the health and social outcomes achieved by Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples.

The fact that gaps in health and social outcomes diminish at higher proficiency levels suggests that access to opportunities for older Canadians and Indigenous adults to build and maintain skills through lifelong and life-wide learning may have the potential to support health and social well-being. Particularly in the face of persistent inequities in the health status and outcomes of Indigenous peoples in Canada, the potential for other intervention strategies to yield health benefits is an important consideration. For example, current investments in Indigenous employment and skills training could incorporate health and social outcome measurement into program evaluation, as a starting point to better understand how strengthened skills—as well as other contextual factors—can support health and social well-being.

Skills may not be enough to overcome cumulative disadvantage.

Although information-processing skills are associated with positive health and social outcomes independently of other factors, for some groups of Canadians attaining higher levels in literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE is not enough to mitigate other disadvantages. In particular, the health and social outcomes of unemployed Canadians generally do not improve as skills proficiency increases. This may be a result of the compounding nature of the economic and social vulnerability and exclusion associated with unemployment. More research is needed to better understand the relationships among skills, health, social well-being, and unemployment to consider whether education and/or skills development can serve as a pathway toward greater health and social well-being for unemployed Canadians.

The growing trend of precarious work—A new issue to explore.

Similarly, the preliminary analysis of precarious work that is currently possible using PIAAC data suggests that it could be an important area for future research. Although results for health are inconclusive, stronger skills proficiency appears to be connected to higher levels of trust, volunteering, and political efficacy for those employed in precarious jobs. Given the growing size of the precarious workforce in Canada and internationally, and the well-documented negative economic, health, and social impacts of this type of employment, better understanding the role of skills is important in research. More nuanced data are needed to better assess the employment status of Canadians. This includes data on whether a person has chosen their particular type of employment based on personal preference, economic necessity, or other factors.

Conclusion

The data collected in PIAAC on the health and social outcomes of adult skills provide an opportunity to reflect on the broader question of the extent to which proficiency in literacy, numeracy, and PS-TRE make a difference to the well-being of individuals and societies. Existing theoretical and empirical evidence confirms that there is a connection between education and health. This report builds on that literature by confirming that skills are associated with the health and social outcomes measured in PIAAC independently of other factors, and that skills may help ameliorate health and social outcomes for certain groups of Canadians. Based on these findings, it appears that opportunities to improve information-processing skills may provide considerable health, social, and economic returns.

References

- Åslund, C., Starrin, B., & Nilsson, K.W. (2014). Psychosomatic symptoms and low psychological wellbeing in relation to employment status: The influence of social capital in a large cross-sectional study in Sweden. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 13, nonpaginated. Doi: 10.1186/1475-9276-13-22. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3973887.
- Block, S. (2010). Work and health: Exploring the impact of employment on health disparities. Toronto: Wellesley Institute. Retrieved from http://www.wellesleyinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2010/12/Work_ and_Health.pdf.
- Brady, H.E., Verba, S., & Schlozman, K.L. (1995). Beyond SES: A resource model of political participation. *American Political Science Review*, 89(2), 271–294.
- Campbell, D.E. (2006). What is education's impact on civic and social engagement? In R. Desjardins and T. Schuller (Eds.), *Measuring the effects of education on health and civic engagement: Proceedings of the Copenhagen symposium*, 25–106. Paris: OECD. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/edu/innovation-education/37437718.pdf.
- Canadian Council on Learning (CCL). (2007). *Health literacy in Canada: Initial results from the International* Adult Literacy and Skills Survey 2007. Ottawa: CCL.
- Canadian Literacy and Learning Network (CLLN). (2012). From poverty to prosperity: Literacy's impact on Canada's economic success. Ottawa: CLLN.
- Canadian Population Health Initiative (CPHI). (2008). *Reducing gaps in health: A focus on socio-economic status in urban Canada*. Ottawa: Canadian Institute for Health Information.
- Centre for Research and Information on Canada (CRIC). (2005). *Finding their voice: Civic engagement among Aboriginal and new Canadians*. Montreal: CRIC. Retrieved from https://library.carleton.ca/sites/ default/files/find/data/surveys/pdf_files/cric-paper_17-july05.pdf.
- Craig, S.C., Niemi, R.G., & Silver, G.E. (1990). Political efficacy and trust: A report on the NES pilot study items. *Political Behavior*, 12(3), 289–314.
- da Costa, P., Rodrigues, M., Vera-Toscano, E., & Weber, A. (2014). Education, adult skills and social outcomes: Empirical evidence from the Survey on Adult Skills (PIAAC 2013). JRC Science and Policy Reports, Joint Research Centre, European Commission. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Retrieved from http://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/JRC89591/skills_social_ outcomes_piaac_final_version_pubsy.pdf.

Dee, T. (2004). Are there civic returns to education? Journal of Public Economics, 88(9–10), 1697–1720.

DePratto, B., & Bartlett, R. (2015). Precarious employment in Canada: Does the evidence square with the anecdotes? *TD Economics: Special Report*. Retrieved from http://www.td.com/document/PDF/ economics/special/PrecariousEmployment.pdf.

- Employment Conditions Knowledge Network (EMCONET). (2007). *Employment conditions and health inequities final report to the WHO commission on social determinants of health*. Geneva: WHO. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/social_determinants/resources/articles/emconet_who_report.pdf.
- Feinstein, L., Sabates, R., Anderson, T.M., Sorhaindo, A., & Hammond, C. (2006). What are the effects of education on health? In R. Desjardins and T. Schuller (Eds.), *Measuring the effects of education on health and civic engagement: Proceedings of the Copenhagen symposium*, 171–354. Paris: OECD.
- Fournier, P., & Loewen, P.J. (2011). *Aboriginal electoral participation in Canada*. Elections Canada. Retrieved from http://www.elections.ca/res/rec/part/abel/AEP_en.pdf.
- Giddens, A. (1990). The consequences of modernity. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Goldring, L., & Joly, M. 2014. Immigration, citizenship and racialization at work: Unpacking employment precarity in Southwestern Ontario. *Just Labour*, 22, 94–121.
- Heisz, A., Notten, G., & Situ, J. (2016). The association between skills and low income. *Insights on Canadian Society*. Catalogue no. 75-006-X. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.
- Huang, J., van der Brink, H.M., & Groot, W. (2012). Does education promote social capital? Evidence from IV analysis and nonparametric-bound analysis. *Empirical Economics*, 42, 1011–1034.
- Idler, E.L., & Benyamini, Y. (1997). Self-rated health and mortality: A review of twenty-seven community studies. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 38(1), 21–37.
- International Labour Organization (ILO). (2015). World employment social outlook: The changing nature of jobs. Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Kazemipur, A. (2006). Social trust, ethnic diversity, and immigrants: The case of Canada. Working Paper No. WP06-05. Edmonton: Prairie Centre of Excellence for Research on Immigration and Integration. Retrieved from https://sites.ualberta.ca/~pcerii/WorkingPapers/WP06-05.pdf.
- Kickbusch, I., Pelikan, J., Apfel, F., & Tsouros, A.D. (2013). *Health literacy: The solid facts*. Copenhagen: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Retrieved from http://www.euro.who.int/__data/ assets/pdf_file/0008/190655/e96854.pdf.
- Kim, T.J., & von dem Knesebeck, O. (2015). Is an insecure job better for health than having no job at all? A systematic review of studies investigating the health-related risks of both job insecurity and unemployment. *BMC Public Health*, 15, 985. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC4589035.
- Ladner, K.L., & McCrossan, M. (2007). *The electoral participation of Aboriginal people*. Working Paper Series on Electoral Participation and Outreach Practices. Elections Canada. Retrieved from http://elections.ca/ res/rec/part/paper/aboriginal/aboriginal_e.pdf.
- Lane, J., & Murray, T.S. (2015). *Smarten up: It's time to build essential skills*. Calgary: Canada West Foundation.

- Law Commission of Ontario (LCO). (2012). *Vulnerable workers and precarious work*. Toronto: Law Commission of Ontario.
- Lewchuk, W., Laflèche, M., Dyson, D., et al. (2013). *It's more than poverty: Employment precarity and household well-being—Summary*. Poverty and Employment Precarity in Southern Ontario Research Group (PEPSO). Retrieved from https://pepsouwt.files.wordpress.com/2013/02/its-more-than-poverty-summary-feb-2013.pdf.
- Lewchuk, W., Laflèche, M., Procyk, S., et al. (2015). *The precarity penalty: The impact of employment precarity on individuals, households and communities—And what to do about it.* Poverty and Employment Precarity in Southern Ontario Research Group (PEPSO). Retrieved from https://pepsouwt.files.wordpress. com/2012/12/precarity-penalty-report_final-hires_trimmed.pdf.
- Lindström, M. (2009). Psychosocial work conditions, unemployment, and generalized trust in other people: A population-based study of psychosocial health determinants. *The Social Science Journal*, 46(3), 584– 593. Retrieved from www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0362331909000482.
- Mackenbach, J.P., Meerding, W.J., & Kunst, A.E. (2007). *Economic implications of socio-economic inequalities in health in the European Union*. Rotterdam: European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_determinants/socio_economics/documents/socioeco_inequalities_en.pdf.

Métis Nation. Available at http://www.metisnation.ca.

- McCracken, M.C., & Murray, T.S. (2008). *Benefits and costs of improving literacy*. Ottawa: Informetrica Limited.
- McGrail, K., van Doorslaer, E., Ross, N., & Sanmartin, C. (2009). Income-related health inequalities in Canada and the United States: A decomposition analysis. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(10), 1856–1863.

Mikkonen, J., & Raphael, D. (2010). Social determinants of health: The Canadian facts. Toronto: York University School of Health Policy and Management. Retrieved from http://www.thecanadianfacts.org/.

- Murray, T.S., & Shillington, R. (2012). Understanding the link between literacy, health literacy and health. Ottawa: DataAngel Policy Research. Retrieved from http://www.dataangel.ca/docs/ UnderstandingtheLink2012.pdf.
- National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health (NCCAH). (2012). *The state of knowledge of Aboriginal health: A review of Aboriginal public health in Canada*. Prince George, BC: NCCAH. Retrieved from http://www.nccah-ccnsa.ca/Publications/Lists/Publications/Attachments/52/SOK_report_EN_web.pdf.
- Native Women's Association of Canada (NWAC). (2011). *Exploring volunteering among Aboriginal peoples and ways of encouraging and sustaining engagement in volunteerism*. Retrieved from https://nwac.ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/2012-NWAC-Volunteering-Among-Aboriginal-Peoples-Report.pdf.

- Nevitte, N. (2008). *World values survey (Canada). Immigrant and native-born respondent comparisons.* Nevitte Research Inc. Retrieved from http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/pdf/research-stats/wvs-eng.pdf.
- Niemi, R.G., Craig, S.C., & Mattei, F. (1991). Measuring internal political efficacy in the 1988 national election study. *American Political Science Review, 85*(4), 1407–1413.
- O'Neill, B. (2007). Indifferent or just different? The political and civic engagement of young people in Canada. *Canadian Policy Research Networks' Democratic Renewal Series*. Retrieved from http://rcrpp.ca/doc.cfm?doc=1751&l=en.
- O'Neill, B., Gidengil, E., & Young, L. (2012). The political integration of immigrant and visible minority women. *Canadian Political Science Review*, 6(2–3), 185–196.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2007). Understanding the social outcomes of learning. Paris: OECD Centre for Educational Research and Innovation. Retrieved from http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/download/9607061e.pdf? expires=1434050915&id=id&accname=oid024861&checksum=09754B1815009A437348FF7D6E612976.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2009). *PIAAC BQ JRA V5.0— Conceptual framework*. Paris: OECD Publishing. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/edu/48865373.pdf.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2010). *Improving health and social cohesion through education*. OECD Centre for Educational Research and Innovation. Paris: OECD Publishing. Retrieved from http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/download/9610081e.pdf?expires= 1434051767&id=id&accname=oid024861&checksum=F9AE9132BF38325F163A03F284313A0B.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2012). *Literacy, numeracy and problem solving in technology-rich environments: Framework for the OECD survey of adult skills*. Paris: OECD Publishing. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264128859-en.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2013a). OECD skills outlook 2013: First results from the survey of adult skills. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2013b). *Skilled for life? Key findings from the survey of adult skills*. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2015). *In it together: Why less inequality benefits all*. Paris: OECD Publishing. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10. 1787/ 9789264235120-en.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2016). *Technical report of the survey of adult skills (PIAAC)* (2nd ed.). Paris: OECD Publishing. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/skills/piaac/ PIAAC_Technical_Report_2nd_Edition_Full_Report.pdf
- Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development (OECD) and Statistics Canada. (2011). *Literacy for life: Further results from the adult literacy and life skills survey*. Paris: OECD Publishing. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-604-x/89-604-x2011001-eng.pdf.

- Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2008). Chief public health officer's (CPHO) report on the state of public health in Canada. Addressing Health Inequalities. Catalogue HP2-10/2008E. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada.
- Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2016). The direct economic burden of socio-economic heath inequalities in Canada: An analysis of health care costs by income level. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada.
- Rootman, I., & Gordon-El-Bihbety, D. (2008). A vision for a health literate Canada: Report of the expert panel on health literacy. Canadian Public Health Association. Retrieved from https://www.cpha.ca/vision-health-literate-canada-report-expert-panel-health-literacy
- Sinha, M. (2015). Volunteering in Canada 2004 to 2013. Spotlight on Canadians: Results from the General Social Survey. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-652-X2015003. Ottawa: Minister of Industry.
- Statistics Canada. (2010). *Healthy people, healthy places*. Catalogue no. 82-229-X2009001. Ottawa: Minister of Industry. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-229-x/82-229-x2009001-eng.htm.
- Statistics Canada. (2011). National Household Survey. The educational attainment of Aboriginal people by selected levels of educational attainment, sex and age groups, Canada, 2011. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/nhs-enm/2011/as-sa/99-012-x/99-012-x2011003_3-eng.cfm.
- Statistics Canada. (2012). International Study of Adults (ISA) 2012: Questionnaire International Survey of Adults / Component. Main Background Questionnaire. Retrieved from http://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb-bmdi/instrument/4406_Q1_V4_B.pdf.
- Statistics Canada. (2013). *Immigration and ethnocultural diversity in Canada*. National Household Survey, 2011. Catalogue no. 99-010-X2011001. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/nhs-enm/2011/as-sa/99-010-x/99-010-x2011001-eng.pdf.
- Statistics Canada, Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC), and the Council of Ministers of Education, Canada (CMEC). (2013). *Skills in Canada: First results from the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC)*. Ottawa: Minister of Industry.
- Statistics Canada. *Canadian community health survey summary tables. Perceived health by age group and sex*, CANSIM table 105-0501 and Catalogue no. 82-221-X. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/health108b-eng.htm.
- Statistics Canada. Table 282-0216—Labour force survey estimates (LFS), reason for leaving job during previous year by sex and age group, unadjusted for seasonality, annual (persons), CANSIM (database). Retrieved from http://www5.statcan.gc.ca/cansim/a03?searchTypeByValue=1&lang=eng&pattern=282-*.
- Statistics Canada. Table 282-0219—Labour force survey estimates (LFS), reason for not looking for work, by sex and age group, monthly (persons), CANSIM (database). Retrieved from http://www5.statcan.gc.ca/cansim/a03?searchTypeByValue=1&lang=eng&pattern=282-*.

- Stiglitz, J., Sen, A., & Fitoussi, J. (2009). *Report by the Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress*. Retrieved from http://library.bsl.org.au/jspui/bitstream/1/1267/1/ Measurement_of_economic_performance_and_social_progress.pdf.
- Thomas, D. (2012). Giving and volunteering among Canada's immigrants. *Canadian Social Trends*. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 11-008. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2012001/article/11669-eng.htm.
- Tjepkema, M., Wilkins, R., & Long, A. (2012). Cause-specific mortality by education in Canada: A 16-year follow-up study. *Health Reports, 23*(3). Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 82-003-XPE. Ottawa: Minister of Industry.
- Tompa, E., & Buettgen, A. (2015). Precarious work, skills, and health and social outcomes: A literature review. Unpublished report prepared for the Public Health Agency of Canada.
- Turcotte, M. (2015a). *Volunteering and charitable giving in Canada*. Spotlight on Canadians: Results from the General Social Survey. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-652-X2015001. Ottawa: Minister of Industry. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-652-x/89-652-x2015001-eng.htm.
- Turcotte, M. (2015b). *Trends in social capital in Canada*. Spotlight on Canadians: Results from the General Social Survey. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-652-X2015002. Ottawa: Minister of Industry. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-652-x/89-652-x2015002-eng.pdf.
- Turcotte, M. (2015c). *Civic engagement and political participation in Canada*. Spotlight on Canadians: Results from the General Social Survey. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-652-X2015006. Ottawa: Minister of Industry. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-652-x/89-652-x2015006-eng.htm.
- United Nations Volunteers. (2011). *State of the world's volunteerism report: Universal values for global well-being*. Overview. Retrieved from https://www.unv.org/publications/2011-state-world%E2%80%99s-volunteerism-report-universal-values-global-well-being.
- van Lenthe, F.J., Kamphuis, C.B.M., Beenackers, M.A., Jansen, T., Looman C.W.N., Nusselder, W.J., & Mackenbach, J.P. (2013). Cohort profile: Understanding socioeconomic inequalities in health and health behaviours: The GLOBE study. *International Journal of Epidemiology, 43*(3), 1–10. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/ije/article/43/3/721/758191/Cohort-Profile-Understanding-socioeconomic#81307501.
- Vang, Z., Sigouin, J., Flenon, A., and Gagnon, A. (2015) The healthy immigrant effect in Canada: A systematic review, Population Change and Lifecourse Strategic Knowledge Cluster Discussion Paper Series/Un Réseau stratégique de connaissances Changements de population et parcours de vie Document de travail, 3(1), Article 4. Retrieved from http://ir.lib.uwo.ca/pclc/vol3/iss1/4.
- Volunteer Canada. (2011). Bridging the gap: Enriching the volunteer experience to build a better future for our communities. Findings of a pan-Canadian research study. Retrieved from https://volunteer.ca/content/ bridging-gap-report.

- Weiss, B.D. (2005). Epidemiology of low health literacy. In J.G. Schwartzberg, J.B. VanGeest, and C.C. Wang (Eds.), *Understanding health literacy: Implications for medicine and public health*. Chicago: American Medical Association, 17–42.
- Willms, J.D., & Murray, T.S. (2007). Gaining and losing literacy skills over the life course. International Adult Literacy Survey. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-552-MIE – No. 16. Ottawa: Minister of Industry. Retrieved from http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2007/statcan/89-552-M/89-552-MIE2007016.pdf.

Wilson, J. (2000). Volunteering. Annual Review of Sociology, 26, 215–240.

- World Health Organization (WHO) Commission on Social Determinants of Health. (2008). *Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health*. Final report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from http:// www.who.int/social_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/en/.
- Zimmerman, E., & Woolf, S.H. (2014). Understanding the relationship between education and health. Discussion Paper, IOM Roundtable on Population Health Improvement. Washington: Institute of Medicine of the National Academies.



APPENDIX I

METHODS OF ANALYSIS

This overview of proficiency in literacy, numeracy, and problem solving in technology-rich environments (PS-TRE) of Canadians aged 16 to 65 examined the relationships between these three skill domains and some key sociodemographic factors—age, gender, educational attainment, immigrant status, Indigenous identity, and employment status.

Skills profile distributions in health and social outcomes (trust, volunteerism, and political efficacy), longstanding illness, activity limitation, reasons for leaving work/not looking for work, and precarious work were calculated and stratified by sociodemographic factors—age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, immigrant status, Indigenous status, and wages where sample size was adequate for reliable estimation (i.e., not all skills profile distributions were stratified by sociodemographics).

Several multivariable analyses explored the associations between skills proficiency and health and social outcomes (HSO). First, the association between skills proficiency and HSO was examined while controlling for sociodemographic factors: age, gender, educational attainment, employment status, Indigenous status, and testing language. Second, educational attainment was examined as a modifier of the association between skills proficiency and HSO while controlling for sociodemographic factors-age, gender, immigrant status, employment status, and testing language. Third, the association between skills proficiency and HSO was explored in three employment categories (secure, precarious, and "no contract") while controlling for sociodemographic traits-this time, age, gender, educational attainment, immigrant status, Indigenous identity, and wages.

Limitations

While the analyses in this report make an important contribution to our understanding of the independent effects of skills with respect to health and social outcomes, the PIAAC survey is cross-sectional. Because it captures data at only a single point in time the analyses make no claims about the causal nature of these relationships. Longitudinal surveys, such as the Longitudinal and International Study of Adults (LISA), could add to our understanding of impacts over time.

Income and income inequality have been extensively studied with respect to their role in influencing a range of health and social outcomes in Canada (for example, Tjepkema, Wilkins, & Long, 2013). Heisz, Notten, and Situ (2016) further explore relationships between literacy

skills proficiency and household income for Canadians using data from the first wave of the Longitudinal and International Study of Adults (LISA). LISA combines skill data from PIAAC with information on household income. They found that after controlling for other characteristics known to increase the risk of low income, individuals at Level 1 or below in literacy were more likely to be in a low-income household compared to individuals at Level 4 or 5. Because this thematic report on health and social outcomes in PIAAC did not have access to household income data it cannot explore the links among skills, health, social outcomes, and income. The wage variable available in PIAAC captures individual hourly earnings, excluding bonuses, in deciles. While this is useful for exploring returns on investments in skills with respect to wages or precarious work, it does not reflect household earnings-the measure often used to assess low income and income distribution in Canada. As a result, this report does not draw any conclusions with respect to trends or interactions between skills, income, and health and social outcomes.

Precarious work is increasingly prevalent in labour markets in Canada and around the world and has potential adverse effects on workers and society in general (Lewchuk et al., 2015). Although PIAAC captures some data on employment type, there are a number of very significant limitations, including how (1) it is not possible to assess the characteristics of various forms of "precarious" employment, despite potentially large differences in the nature of work and associated benefits across jobs and/or sectors; (2) it is not possible to determine whether someone is working in a precarious position by choice or by necessity; and (3) it is not possible to assess whether a respondent's hourly earnings are equivalent to household earnings, which is critical to determining wage adequacy. The discussion on precarious work should be read with these cautions in mind.

Foundational skills: Definitions and descriptions of proficiency levels

The skills assessed by PIAAC are defined in terms of three parameters: content, cognitive strategies, and context. The context defines the different situations in which each of these skills is used, including professional, educational, personal, and societal. The content and cognitive strategies—summarized in the following tables for each skill and each proficiency level—are defined by a specific framework that describes what is being measured and guides the interpretation of results (OECD, 2012).

Literacy

Literacy is defined as "understanding, evaluating, using and engaging with written texts to participate in society, to achieve one's goals, and to develop one's knowledge and potential" (OECD, 2012, p. 19).

The population of adults aged 16 to 65 was assessed over a continuum of ability in literacy using a measurement scale ranging from 0 to 500. Proficiency levels are used to help interpret the findings. OECD has divided reporting scales for literacy into five proficiency levels (with an additional category, "below Level 1"), defined by a particular score-point range, where each level corresponds to a description of what adults with particular scores can do.

Literacy — Description of proficiency levels			
Level	Score range	Descriptors of the characteristics of literacy tasks	
5	376–500	At this level, tasks may require the respondent to search for and integrate information across multiple, dense texts; construct syntheses of similar and contrasting ideas or points of view; or evaluate evidenced-based arguments. Application and evaluation of logical and conceptual models of ideas may be required to accomplish tasks. Evaluating reliability of evidentiary sources and selecting key information is frequently a key requirement. Tasks often require respondents to be aware of subtle, rhetorical cues and to make high-level inferences or use specialized background knowledge.	
4	326–375	Tasks at this level often require respondents to perform multiple-step operations to integrate, interpret, or synthesize information from complex or lengthy continuous, noncontinuous, mixed, or multiple-type texts. Complex inferences and application of background knowledge may be needed to perform successfully. Many tasks require identifying and understanding one or more specific, noncentral ideas in the text to interpret or evaluate subtle evidence-claim or persuasive discourse relationships. Conditional information is frequently present in tasks at this level and must be taken into consideration by the respondent. Competing information is present and sometimes seemingly as prominent as correct information.	
3	276–325	Texts at this level are often dense or lengthy, and include continuous, noncontinuous, mixed, or multiple pages of text. Understanding text and rhetorical structures becomes more central to successfully completing tasks, especially navigating complex digital texts. Tasks require the respondent to identify, interpret, or evaluate one or more pieces of information, and often require varying levels of inference. Many tasks require the respondent to construct meaning across larger chunks of text or perform multi-step operations in order to identify and formulate responses. Often tasks also demand that the respondent disregard irrelevant or inappropriate content to answer accurately. Competing information is often present, but it is not more prominent than the correct information.	
2	226–275	At this level the medium of texts may be digital or printed and texts may include continuous, noncontinuous, or mixed types. Tasks at this level require respondents to make matches between the text and information and may require paraphrasing or low-level inferences. Some competing pieces of information may be present. Some tasks require the respondent to: cycle through or integrate two or more pieces of information based on criteria compare and contrast or reason about information requested in the question navigate within digital texts to access and identify information from various parts of a document. 	
1	176–225	Most of the tasks at this level require the respondent to read relatively short digital or print continuous, noncontinuous, or mixed texts to locate a single piece of information that is identical to or synonymous with the information given in the question or directive. Some tasks, such as those involving noncontinuous texts, may require the respondent to enter personal information onto a document. Little, if any, competing information is present. Some tasks may require simple cycling through more than one piece of information. Knowledge and skill in recognizing basic vocabulary, determining the meaning of sentences, and reading paragraphs of text is expected.	
Below 1	0–175	The tasks at this level require the respondent to read brief texts on familiar topics to locate a single piece of specific information. There is seldom any competing information in the text and the requested information is identical in form to information in the question or directive. The respondent may be required to locate information in short continuous texts. However, in this case, the information can be located as if the text were noncontinuous in format. Only basic vocabulary knowledge is required and the reader is not required to understand the structure of sentences or paragraphs or make use of other text features. Tasks below Level 1 do not make use of any features specific to digital texts.	

Numeracy

PIAAC defines numeracy as "the ability to access, use, interpret and communicate mathematical information and ideas, in order to engage in and manage the mathematical demands of a range of situations in adult life" (OECD, 2012, p. 33).

The population of adults aged 16 to 65 was assessed over a continuum of ability in numeracy using a measurement scale ranging from 0 to 500. As is the case for literacy, the results for numeracy are presented either as an average score or as a distribution across proficiency levels.

Numeracy — Description of proficiency levels		
Level	Score range	Descriptors of the characteristics of numeracy tasks
5	376–500	Tasks at this level require the respondent to understand complex representations and abstract and formal mathematical and statistical ideas, possibly embedded in complex texts. Respondents may have to integrate multiple types of mathematical information where considerable translation or interpretation is required; draw inferences; develop or work with mathematical arguments or models; and justify, evaluate, and critically reflect upon solutions or choices.
4	326–375	Tasks at this level require the respondent to understand a broad range of mathematical information that may be complex, abstract, or embedded in unfamiliar contexts. These tasks involve undertaking multiple steps and choosing relevant problem-solving strategies and processes. Tasks tend to require analysis and more complex reasoning about quantities and data; statistics and chance; spatial relationships; and change, proportions, and formulas. Tasks at this level may also require understanding arguments or communicating well-reasoned explanations for answers or choices.
3	276–325	Tasks at this level require the respondent to understand mathematical information that may be less explicit, embedded in contexts that are not always familiar, and represented in more complex ways. Tasks require several steps and may involve the choice of problem- solving strategies and relevant processes. Tasks tend to require the application of number sense and spatial sense; recognizing and working with mathematical relationships, patterns, and proportions expressed in verbal or numerical form; and interpretation and basic analysis of data and statistics in texts, tables, and graphs.
2	226–275	Tasks at this level require the respondent to identify and act on mathematical information and ideas embedded in a range of common contexts where the mathematical content is fairly explicit or visual with relatively few distractors. Tasks tend to require the application of two or more steps or processes involving calculation with whole numbers and common decimals, per cents, and fractions; simple measurement and spatial representation; estimation; and interpretation of relatively simple data and statistics in texts, tables, and graphs.
1	176–225	Tasks at this level require the respondent to carry out basic mathematical processes in common, concrete contexts where the mathematical content is explicit with little text and minimal distractors. Tasks usually require simple one-step or simple processes involving counting; sorting; performing basic arithmetic operations; understanding simple per cents such as 50 per cent; or locating, identifying, and using elements of simple or common graphical or spatial representations.
Below 1	0–175	Tasks at this level require the respondents to carry out simple processes such as counting, sorting, performing basic arithmetic operations with whole numbers or money, or recognizing common spatial representations in concrete, familiar contexts where the mathematical content is explicit with little or no text or distractors.
PS-TRE

For the PS-TRE domain, respondents are measured for their ability to use "digital technology, communications tools, and networks to acquire and evaluate information, communicate with others, and perform practical tasks" (OECD, 2012, p. 45). The PS-TRE proficiency scale was divided into four levels, as described below.

PS-TRE — D	escription of Profi	ciency levels
Level	Score range	Descriptors of the characteristics of PS-TRE tasks.
3	341-500	At this level, tasks typically require the use of both generic and more specific technology applications. Some navigation across pages and applications is required to solve the problem. The use of tools (e.g., a sort function) is needed to make progress towards the solution. The task may involve multiple steps and operators. The goal of the problem may have to be defined by the respondent, and the criteria to be met may or may not be explicit. There are typically high monitoring demands. Unexpected outcomes and impasses are likely to occur. The task may require evaluating the relevance and reliability of information in order to discard distractors. Integration and inferential reasoning may be needed to a large extent.
2	291-340	At this level, tasks typically require the use of both generic and specific technology applications. For instance, respondents may have to make use of a novel online form. Some navigation across pages and applications is required to solve the problem. The use of tools (e.g., a sort function) can facilitate resolution of the problem. The task may involve multiple steps and operators. The goal of the problem may have to be defined by the respondent, though the criteria to be met are explicit. There are higher monitoring demands. Some unexpected outcomes or impasses may appear. The task may require evaluating the relevance of a set of items to discard distractors. Some integration and inferential reasoning may be needed.
1	241-290	At this level, tasks typically require the use of widely available and familiar technology applications, such as e-mail software or a web browser. There is little or no navigation required to access to the information or commands required to solve the problem. The problem may be solved regardless of respondents' awareness and use of specific tools and functions (e.g., a sort function). The tasks involve few steps and a minimal number of operators. At the cognitive level, the respondent can readily infer the goal from the task statement; problem resolution requires the respondent to apply explicit criteria; and there are few monitoring demands (e.g. the respondent does not have to check whether he or she has used the appropriate procedure or made progress towards the solution). Identifying contents and operators can be done through simple match. Only simple forms of reasoning, such as assigning items to categories, are required; there is no need to contrast or integrate information.
Below 1	0-240	Tasks are based on well-defined problems involving the use of only one function within a generic interface to meet one explicit criterion without any categorical, inferential reasoning or transforming of information. Few steps are required and no sub-goal has to be generated.
PS-TRE non- respondents		This category includes those individuals who did not report previous computer experience, did not pass the ICT core test, or opted not to be assessed by a computer-based test.

Definitions of terms used in this report

Population groups

An **immigrant** is a person who is, or has ever been, a landed immigrant/permanent resident. **Recent immigrants** are those who landed in Canada as permanent residents between 2002 and 2012 (i.e., they've been in Canada 10 years or less). **Established immigrants** are those who landed in Canada as permanent residents before 2002 (more than 10 years ago).

Indigenous respondents in PIAAC include First Nations people living off-reserve (48 per cent of Indigenous respondents), Métis (44 per cent), and Inuit (5 per cent). An additional 1 per cent reported multiple Indigenous identities, and 2 per cent reported Indigenous identities not included elsewhere (Statistics Canada, 2013, p. 42). This report does not disaggregate data on Indigenous respondents because of limitations created by sample sizes within these populations.

Employment status

Employed respondents were those who in the week prior to PIAAC did at least one hour of paid work as an employee or self-employed, or were away from a job they plan to return to, or did at least one hour of unpaid work in a business that either they or a relative own (Statistics Canada et al., 2013, p. 61).

Not in the labour force refers to those "out of the labour force" respondents who met none of the employment conditions and did not actively look for work in the four weeks prior to PIAAC, or would not begin work for more than three months. The "out of the labour force" population also consists of respondents who did not take active steps to find a job and were not looking for work or available to begin work within two weeks of the survey (Statistics Canada et al., 2013, p. 61). This may include retired people, students, or those with health conditions that prevent them from working.

Unemployed respondents did not identify themselves in any of the "employed" categories, or indicate they were actively looking for work in the four weeks prior to PIAAC and were able to begin work within two weeks. The unemployed population also included respondents who were waiting to begin a job for which they had been hired (Statistics Canada et al., 2013, p. 61).

Employment types

Precarious employment refers to "nonstandard" work arrangements, such as short-term or fixed-term contract work, casual work, temporary work (including jobs supplied by temporary agencies), certain forms of part-time work, own-account self-employment, telework, home-based work, and seasonal work. It may also be characterized by specific employment attributes, such as uncertainty of ongoing employment, unpredictability of hours, or a lack of employment protections and benefits.

Secure employment refers to "standard" work arrangement, typically full-time, full-year, permanent employment with regular hours—and more often with employer-provided benefits such as paid vacation or extended health care.

Highest level of educational attainment

The highest level of education ever completed. Education is defined as formal education provided in the system of schools, colleges, universities and other formal educational institutions. Educational attainment is based on the 1997 International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) coding developed by UNESCO. Includes every type of education associated with obtaining a certificate or diploma the respondent has ever successfully completed.

- Less than high-school diploma: no formal education or Elementary school, or Jr High/Middle School. In terms of ISCED classification, this category includes no formal qualification or below ISCED 1, ISCED 1, and ISCED 2.
- High-school diploma: Senior High-School, Adult secondary school, or Upgrading programs or courses. In terms of ISCED classification, this category includes ISCED 3C- shorter than 2 years, ISCED 3C-2 years or more, ISCED 3A-B, and ISCED 3 (without distinction A-B-C, 2 years or more).
- Postsecondary education below bachelor's degree: non-university certificate or diploma from a college, school of nursing, or technical institute; trade/vocational certificates; apprenticeship certificates; CEGEP diploma or certificates; university transfer programs; and university certificate or diploma programs below bachelor's degree. In terms of ISCED classification, this category includes: ISCED 4C, ISCED 4A-B, ISCED 4 (without distinction A-B-C), and ISCED 5B.
- Postsecondary education bachelor's degree or higher: bachelor's degree and university

certificate above bachelor level. In terms of ISCED classification, this category includes ISCED 5A-bachelor's degree.

 Postsecondary education-first professional degree, master's degree, or Ph.D.: first professional degree (medical, veterinary medicine, dental, optometry, law, and divinity), master's and Ph.D. In terms of ISCED classification, this category includes ISCED 5A- master's degree and ISCED 6.

Social determinants of health

The WHO Commission on Social Determinants of Health (2008) defines social determinants of health as "the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age" (p. 26). Differences in the distribution of resources for healthy living, or conversely, exposures to health risks, coupled with structural drivers (such as social and economic policies, governance, and cultural norms), contribute to inequalities in health outcomes and prevent many people from achieving "the good health that is biologically possible." (http://www.who.int/social_ determinants/thecommission/finalreport/key_concepts/ en/).

Social gradient in health

According to the World Health Organization, there is a "social gradient in health." In other words, "the poorest of the poor, around the world, have the worst health. Within countries, the evidence shows that in general the lower an individual's socioeconomic position, the worse their health. There is a social gradient in health that runs from top to bottom of the socioeconomic spectrum. This is a global phenomenon, seen in low, middle and high income countries. The social gradient in health means that health inequities affect everyone." (*Social determinants of health*, Key concepts, http://www.who. int/social_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/key_concepts/en).

Measurable differences in health between individuals, groups, or countries are generally referred to as **health inequalities**, while **health inequities** are those unfair differences in health associated with social disadvantages that are modifiable (NCCDH Glossary, (http://nccdh.ca/resources/glossary).



APPENDIX II

STATISTICAL TABLES

Table 1.1a

		Self-re	ported health	
		Positive		Negative
	%	SE	%	SE
OECD average	81	(0.1)	19	(0.1)
Canada	89	(0.3)	11	(0.3)
Newfoundland and Labrador	85	(1.0)	15	(1.0)
Prince Edward Island	86	(1.2)	14	(1.2)
Nova Scotia	85	(1.1)	15	(1.1)
New Brunswick	86	(1.1)	14	(1.1)
Quebec	91	(0.4)	9	(0.4)
Ontario	89	(0.6)	11	(0.6)
Manitoba	88	(0.9)	12	(0.9)
Saskatchewan	86	(1.1)	14	(1.1)
Alberta	90	(1.2)	10	(1.2)
British Columbia	88	(1.0)	12	(1.0)
Yukon	86	(4.4)	14 ^M	(4.4)
Northwest Territories	85	(1.3)	15	(1.3)
Nunavut	76	(1.9)	24	(1.9)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

[™] Use with caution

SE Standard error

Table 1.1b

Literacy — Average scores and score at the 5th, 25th, 75th, and 95th percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by self-reported health, Canada, 2012

Self-reported health	5 th percentile		25 th pei	25th percentile		SE	75 th percentile		95 th percentile	
	Scores	SE	Scores	SE	score	θE	Scores	SE	Scores	SE
Excellent	192	(3.5)	250	(2.3)	280	(1.1)	314	(1.3)	352	(2.8)
Very good	200	(3.4)	251	(1.6)	280	(1.0)	313	(1.3)	351	(2.4)
Good	179	(4.5)	237	(1.6)	268	(1.0)	304	(1.5)	345	(2.6)
Fair	160	(7.8)	222	(3.4)	255	(2.0)	294	(2.7)	335	(6.0)
Poor	132	(16.1)	207	(9.0)	241	(4.3)	280	(7.1)	330	(12.6)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

Table 1.2a

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by level of trust, OECD average, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Level o	f trust	
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE
OECD average	22	(0.1)	78	(0.1)
Canada	28	(0.5)	72	(0.5)
Newfoundland and Labrador	22	(1.1)	78	(1.1)
Prince Edward Island	30	(1.6)	70	(1.6)
Nova Scotia	26	(1.4)	74	(1.4)
New Brunswick	28	(1.3)	72	(1.3)
Quebec	31	(0.7)	69	(0.7)
Ontario	26	(0.9)	74	(0.9)
Manitoba	29	(1.7)	71	(1.7)
Saskatchewan	32	(1.6)	68	(1.6)
Alberta	26	(1.6)	74	(1.6)
British Columbia	30	(1.4)	70	(1.4)
Yukon	28 ^M	(5.6)	72	(5.6)
Northwest Territories	28	(1.5)	72	(1.5)
Nunavut	20	(1.3)	80	(1.3)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

[™] Use with caution

SE Standard error

Table 1.2b

Literacy — Average scores and score at the 5th, 25th, 75th, and 95th percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by level of trust, Canada, 2012

Level of trust	5 th percentile		25 th percentile		Average	SE	75 th percentile		95 th percentile	
	Scores	SE	Scores	SE	score	9E	Scores	SE	Scores	SE
Strongly agree	180	(3.9)	235	(2.4)	265	(1.4)	300	(1.7)	339	(3.0)
Agree	180	(3.2)	238	(1.5)	270	(1.0)	305	(1.3)	345	(2.3)
Disagree	202	(4.6)	259	(1.7)	287	(1.2)	319	(1.7)	356	(3.0)
Strongly disagree	199	(8.7)	256	(4.9)	282	(2.7)	314	(4.5)	352	(6.3)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

Table 1.3a

		Volunteer p	articipation	
	Volum	iteered	Did not	<i>v</i> olunteer
	%	SE	%	SE
OECD average	34	(0.1)	66	(0.1)
Canada	49	(0.5)	51	(0.5)
Newfoundland and Labrador	51	(1.5)	49	(1.5)
Prince Edward Island	59	(1.6)	41	(1.6)
Nova Scotia	54	(1.4)	46	(1.4)
New Brunswick	53	(1.6)	47	(1.6)
Quebec	36	(0.7)	64	(0.7)
Ontario	50	(1.1)	50	(1.1)
Manitoba	55	(1.7)	45	(1.7)
Saskatchewan	59	(2.0)	41	(2.0)
Alberta	55	(1.7)	45	(1.7)
British Columbia	55	(1.5)	45	(1.5)
Yukon	65	(5.9)	35™	(5.9)
Northwest Territories	63	(1.6)	37	(1.6)
Nunavut	52	(2.3)	48	(2.3)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

 $^{\scriptscriptstyle \rm M}$ Use with caution

SE Standard error

Table 1.3b

Literacy — Average scores and score at the 5th, 25th, 75th, and 95th percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by frequency of volunteer participation, Canada, 2012

Volunteer participation	5 th percentile		25 th per	25 th percentile		SE	75 th percentile		95 th percentile	
	Scores	SE	Scores	SE	score	ЭE	Scores	SE	Scores	SE
Never	172	(2.8)	230	(1.4)	262	(0.8)	298	(1.3)	341	(2.2)
Less than once a month	206	(4.1)	258	(1.9)	285	(1.3)	316	(1.7)	352	(2.3)
Less than once a week but at least once a month	211	(5.4)	261	(2.5)	289	(1.6)	320	(2.5)	355	(4.1)
At least once a week but not every day	203	(5.1)	257	(3.2)	286	(1.7)	319	(2.8)	355	(3.1)
Every day	190	(12.4)	248	(5.7)	274	(3.6)	304	(4.4)	344	(10.9)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

Table 1.4a

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by political efficacy, OECD average, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Political	efficacy	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE
OECD average	42	(0.2)	58	(0.2)
Canada	45	(0.5)	55	(0.5)
Newfoundland and Labrador	44	(1.6)	56	(1.6)
Prince Edward Island	44	(1.6)	56	(1.6)
Nova Scotia	49	(1.5)	51	(1.5)
New Brunswick	37	(1.6)	63	(1.6)
Quebec	22	(0.7)	78	(0.7)
Ontario	50	(1.1)	50	(1.1)
Manitoba	54	(1.7)	46	(1.7)
Saskatchewan	54	(1.9)	46	(1.9)
Alberta	54	(1.7)	46	(1.7)
British Columbia	54	(1.9)	46	(1.9)
Yukon	65	(4.1)	35	(4.1)
Northwest Territories	57	(2.3)	43	(2.3)
Nunavut	44	(2.3)	56	(2.3)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

SE Standard error

Table 1.4b

Literacy — Average scores and score at the 5th, 25th, 75th, and 95th percentiles of population aged 16 to 65, by political efficacy, Canada, 2012

Political efficacy	5 th percentile		25 th percentile		Average	SE	75 th percentile		95 th percentile	
	Scores	SE	Scores	SE	score	9E	Scores	SE	Scores	SE
Strongly agree	176	(5.6)	229	(2.4)	259	(1.5)	292	(2.0)	335	(3.2)
Agree	176	(5.4)	236	(1.6)	267	(1.1)	304	(1.7)	343	(3.3)
Disagree	201	(3.9)	258	(1.9)	285	(1.0)	318	(1.3)	355	(1.8)
Strongly disagree	206	(6.6)	257	(3.9)	286	(2.4)	318	(3.0)	354	(6.5)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

Literacy — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and proficiency level, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Sel	f-report	ed heal	lth ¹		Level o	f trust ²	!	Volu	inteer pa	articipa	ition ³	Political efficacy ⁴			
	Proficiency level	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		not nteer	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	Level 1 or below	80	(1.1)	20	(1.1)	18	(1.1)	82	(1.1)	30	(1.3)	70	(1.3)	29	(1.3)	71	(1.3)
	Level 2	88	(0.7)	12	(0.7)	23	(0.9)	77	(0.9)	43	(1.0)	57	(1.0)	38	(1.1)	62	(1.1)
	Level 3	92	(0.5)	8	(0.5)	33	(0.9)	67	(0.9)	56	(0.9)	44	(0.9)	51	(1.0)	49	(1.0)
	Level 4 or 5	94	(0.9)	6	(0.9)	40	(1.9)	60	(1.9)	65	(1.9)	35	(1.9)	61	(1.8)	39	(1.8)
Newfoundland	Level 1 or below	76	(2.8)	24	(2.8)	12™	(2.4)	88	(2.4)	36	(3.7)	64	(3.7)	29	(3.7)	71	(3.7)
and Labrador	Level 2	82	(2.0)	18	(2.0)	19	(2.0)	81	(2.0)	47	(3.1)	53	(3.1)	36	(2.9)	64	(2.9)
	Level 3	92	(1.5)	8™	(1.5)	25	(2.3)	75	(2.3)	59	(2.9)	41	(2.9)	55	(3.1)	45	(3.1)
	Level 4 or 5	95	(2.5)	U	(2.5)	44	(6.6)	56	(6.6)	69	(4.9)	31	(4.9)	76	(5.7)	24™	(5.7)
Prince Edward	Level 1 or below	72	(4.7)	28™	(4.7)	18™	(4.2)	82	(4.2)	35	(5.6)	65	(5.6)	19 ^м	(4.2)	81	(4.2)
Island	Level 2	82	(2.9)	18	(2.9)	27	(3.3)	73	(3.3)	55	(3.9)	45	(3.9)	39	(3.6)	61	(3.6)
	Level 3	91	(1.8)	9™	(1.8)	34	(3.5)	66	(3.5)	66	(3.2)	34	(3.2)	51	(3.9)	49	(3.9)
	Level 4 or 5	94	(2.6)	U	(2.6)	37	(6.2)	63	(6.2)	74	(5.2)	26™	(5.2)	63	(6.3)	37™	(6.3)
Nova Scotia	Level 1 or below	74	(3.7)	26	(3.7)	20™	(3.7)	80	(3.7)	36	(4.6)	64	(4.6)	31	(4.7)	69	(4.7)
	Level 2	83	(2.3)	17	(2.3)	22	(2.4)	78	(2.4)	49	(3.2)	51	(3.2)	40	(3.3)	60	(3.3)
	Level 3	89	(1.7)	11	(1.7)	30	(2.7)	70	(2.7)	62	(2.7)	38	(2.7)	58	(2.9)	42	(2.9)
	Level 4 or 5	93	(2.2)	7™	(2.2)	33	(4.6)	67	(4.6)	68	(3.8)	32	(3.8)	71	(4.5)	29	(4.5)
New Brunswick	Level 1 or below	74	(2.9)	26	(2.9)	16 ^м	(2.8)	84	(2.8)	35	(3.7)	65	(3.7)	16 ^м	(3.0)	84	(3.0)
	Level 2	85	(2.0)	15	(2.0)	25	(2.4)	75	(2.4)	50	(2.7)	50	(2.7)	31	(2.6)	69	(2.6)
	Level 3	90	(1.7)	10	(1.7)	33	(2.8)	67	(2.8)	60	(2.7)	40	(2.7)	48	(3.2)	52	(3.2)
	Level 4 or 5	95	(2.8)	U	(2.8)	41	(6.7)	59	(6.7)	74	(5.0)	26™	(5.0)	59	(6.1)	41	(6.1)
Quebec	Level 1 or below	82	(1.4)	18	(1.4)	18	(1.4)	82	(1.4)	23	(1.6)	77	(1.6)	21	(1.8)	79	(1.8)
	Level 2	90	(0.8)	10	(0.8)	27	(1.3)	73	(1.3)	32	(1.2)	68	(1.2)	19	(1.2)	81	(1.2)
	Level 3	94	(0.7)	6	(0.7)	38	(1.4)	62	(1.4)	43	(1.1)	57	(1.1)	23	(1.4)	77	(1.4)
	Level 4 or 5	96	(0.9)	4™	(0.9)	47	(2.5)	53	(2.5)	51	(2.3)	49	(2.3)	29	(3.0)	71	(3.0)
Ontario	Level 1 or below	77	(2.1)	23	(2.1)	18	(2.3)	82	(2.3)	28	(2.9)	72	(2.9)	32	(2.8)	68	(2.8)
	Level 2	88	(1.2)	12	(1.2)	21	(1.6)	79	(1.6)	44	(2.2)	56	(2.2)	43	(2.2)	57	(2.2)
	Level 3	92	(1.0)	8	(1.0)	31	(1.7)	69	(1.7)	57	(1.9)	43	(1.9)	56	(2.1)	44	(2.1)
	Level 4 or 5	93	(1.5)	7™	(1.5)	36	(3.4)	64	(3.4)	65	(3.2)	35	(3.2)	67	(2.7)	33	(2.7)
Manitoba	Level 1 or below	80	(3.3)	20™	(3.3)	26™	(4.3)	74	(4.3)	33	(4.0)	67	(4.0)	35	(4.7)	65	(4.7)
	Level 2	87	(2.1)	13	(2.1)	23	(3.2)	77	(3.2)	50	(3.6)	50	(3.6)	48	(4.1)	52	(4.1)
	Level 3	90	(1.8)	10 ^м	(1.8)	33	(3.4)	67	(3.4)	63	(3.2)	37	(3.2)	61	(3.7)	39	(3.7)
	Level 4 or 5	94	(3.0)	U	(3.0)	37	(5.7)	63	(5.7)	71	(4.9)	29™	(4.9)	69	(6.2)	31™	(6.2)
Saskatchewan	Level 1 or below	77	(3.8)	23™	(3.8)	20™	(4.1)	80	(4.1)	36	(5.1)	64	(5.1)	33	(5.1)	67	(5.1)
	Level 2	84	(2.2)	16	(2.2)	29	(3.0)	71	(3.0)	56	(4.3)	44	(4.3)	46	(4.0)	54	(4.0)
	Level 3	89	(2.0)	11™	(2.0)	38	(2.5)	62	(2.5)	66	(3.4)	34	(3.4)	63	(3.1)	37	(3.1)
	Level 4 or 5	93	(3.2)	U	(3.2)	44	(6.0)	56	(6.0)	80	(5.0)	20™	(5.0)	75	(5.2)	25™	(5.2)

Literacy — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and proficiency level, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Sel	f-report	ed heal	th ¹		Level o	f trust ²	2	Volu	unteer pa	articipa	ntion ³	F	Political	efficad	;y⁴
	Proficiency level	Posi	tive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Volun	iteered		l not nteer	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Alberta	Level 1 or below	84	(4.0)	16™	(4.0)	17™	(4.1)	83	(4.1)	38	(4.8)	62	(4.8)	32™	(5.9)	68	(5.9)
	Level 2	88	(2.4)	12™	(2.4)	22	(3.5)	78	(3.5)	47	(3.7)	53	(3.7)	48	(4.1)	52	(4.1)
	Level 3	93	(1.9)	7™	(1.9)	26	(3.0)	74	(3.0)	61	(3.3)	39	(3.3)	62	(3.3)	38	(3.3)
	Level 4 or 5	95	(2.1)	U	(2.1)	43	(5.5)	57	(5.5)	68	(4.3)	32	(4.3)	66	(5.7)	34™	(5.7)
British Columbia	Level 1 or below	84	(3.3)	16™	(3.3)	20™	(4.8)	80	(4.8)	33	(4.5)	67	(4.5)	38	(4.9)	62	(4.9)
	Level 2	86	(2.2)	14	(2.2)	24	(2.9)	76	(2.9)	48	(3.6)	52	(3.6)	45	(4.0)	55	(4.0)
	Level 3	89	(1.7)	11	(1.7)	36	(2.9)	64	(2.9)	63	(3.0)	37	(3.0)	61	(3.3)	39	(3.3)
	Level 4 or 5	93	(2.6)	U	(2.6)	41	(4.8)	59	(4.8)	72	(4.6)	28™	(4.6)	66	(6.0)	34™	(6.0)
Yukon	Level 1 or below	84	(8.1)	U	(8.1)	U	(6.0)	88	(6.0)	U	(12.8)	67™	(12.8)	U	(16.6)	69 ^M	(16.6)
	Level 2	87	(5.8)	U	(5.8)	U	(10.3)	75	(10.3)	51™	(14.1)	4 9 [™]	(14.1)	61™	(13.9)	U	(13.9)
	Level 3	84	(7.8)	U	(7.8)	U	(11.4)	67™	(11.4)	77	(7.8)	U	(7.8)	76	(5.7)	24™	(5.7)
	Level 4 or 5	95	(6.6)	U	(6.6)	U	(15.5)	65™	(15.5)	90	(6.4)	U	(6.4)	81	(10.6)	U	(10.6)
Northwest Territories	Level 1 or below	78	(3.2)	22	(3.2)	18™	(3.6)	82	(3.6)	48	(4.5)	52	(4.5)	40	(4.7)	60	(4.7)
Territories	Level 2	86	(2.7)	14™	(2.7)	26	(3.9)	74	(3.9)	64	(5.0)	36	(5.0)	55	(5.3)	45	(5.3)
	Level 3	89	(2.3)	11™	(2.3)	37	(3.5)	63	(3.5)	76	(3.4)	24	(3.4)	71	(4.8)	29™	(4.8)
	Level 4 or 5	92	(4.1)	U	(4.1)	38™	(8.2)	62	(8.2)	79	(6.0)	21 [™]	(6.0)	77	(7.3)	23™	(7.3)
Nunavut	Level 1 or below	72	(3.5)	28	(3.5)	12™	(2.4)	88	(2.4)	44	(3.6)	56	(3.6)	34	(3.4)	66	(3.4)
	Level 2	79	(5.2)	21™	(5.2)	25™	(4.6)	75	(4.6)	56	(6.0)	44	(6.0)	50	(5.0)	50	(5.0)
	Level 3	81	(5.3)	19™	(5.3)	34™	(6.3)	66	(6.3)	72	(6.0)	28™	(6.0)	62	(7.3)	38™	(7.3)
	Level 4 or 5	х	Х	х	х	50™	(11.6)	50™	(11.6)	88	(7.9)	U	(7.9)	72™	(12.8)	U	(12.8)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

³ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

⁴ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

x Suppressed to meet the confidentiality requirements of the Statistics Act

Numeracy — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and proficiency level, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Se	lf-repor	ted hea	lth ¹		Level o	f trust	2	Volu	unteer pa	articipa	tion ³	F	Political	efficac	y ⁴
	Proficiency level	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	iteered		not nteer	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	Level 1 or below	81	(0.9)	19	(0.9)	19	(0.9)	81	(0.9)	33	(1.3)	67	(1.3)	32	(1.1)	68	(1.1)
	Level 2	89	(0.6)	11	(0.6)	26	(1.1)	74	(1.1)	47	(1.1)	53	(1.1)	41	(1.0)	59	(1.0)
	Level 3	92	(0.6)	8	(0.6)	33	(1.0)	67	(1.0)	56	(1.0)	44	(1.0)	50	(1.3)	50	(1.3)
	Level 4 or 5	95	(0.7)	5	(0.7)	37	(1.8)	63	(1.8)	63	(1.8)	37	(1.8)	60	(2.1)	40	(2.1)
Newfoundland	Level 1 or below	76	(2.3)	24	(2.3)	14	(2.0)	86	(2.0)	38	(2.7)	62	(2.7)	29	(3.1)	71	(3.1)
and Labrador	Level 2	85	(2.1)	15	(2.1)	21	(2.6)	79	(2.6)	50	(2.6)	50	(2.6)	43	(3.4)	57	(3.4)
	Level 3	94	(1.5)	6™	(1.5)	28	(3.1)	72	(3.1)	62	(3.0)	38	(3.0)	58	(3.6)	42	(3.6)
	Level 4 or 5	x	Х	х	х	42	(5.7)	58	(5.7)	68	(5.0)	32	(5.0)	70	(6.3)	30™	(6.3)
Prince Edward	Level 1 or below	74	(3.7)	26	(3.7)	20™	(3.6)	80	(3.6)	38	(3.8)	62	(3.8)	25™	(4.2)	75	(4.2)
Island	Level 2	84	(2.7)	16 [™]	(2.7)	28	(3.1)	72	(3.1)	58	(4.0)	42	(4.0)	42	(3.7)	58	(3.7)
	Level 3	92	(2.1)	8™	(2.1)	36	(3.5)	64	(3.5)	70	(3.9)	30	(3.9)	55	(3.6)	45	(3.6)
	Level 4 or 5	x	х	х	х	38™	(7.0)	62	(7.0)	73	(6.0)	27™	(6.0)	59	(6.7)	41	(6.7)
Nova Scotia	Level 1 or below	74	(3.3)	26	(3.3)	20	(2.9)	80	(2.9)	39	(3.5)	61	(3.5)	32	(3.4)	68	(3.4)
	Level 2	86	(2.7)	14™	(2.7)	26	(2.5)	74	(2.5)	53	(3.2)	47	(3.2)	45	(3.5)	55	(3.5)
	Level 3	89	(1.9)	11 [™]	(1.9)	28	(2.7)	72	(2.7)	63	(2.7)	37	(2.7)	60	(3.9)	40	(3.9)
	Level 4 or 5	95	(2.6)	U	(2.6)	33	(5.4)	67	(5.4)	69	(4.2)	31	(4.2)	70	(5.3)	30™	(5.3)
New Brunswick	Level 1 or below	76	(2.4)	24	(2.4)	17	(2.2)	83	(2.2)	38	(2.8)	62	(2.8)	21	(2.4)	79	(2.4)
	Level 2	87	(2.1)	13	(2.1)	28	(2.8)	72	(2.8)	54	(2.7)	46	(2.7)	36	(3.0)	64	(3.0)
	Level 3	92	(1.7)	8™	(1.7)	34	(3.2)	66	(3.2)	62	(3.0)	38	(3.0)	48	(3.4)	52	(3.4)
	Level 4 or 5	x	х	х	х	43™	(7.3)	57	(7.3)	74	(6.7)	26™	(6.7)	62	(7.5)	38™	(7.5)
Quebec	Level 1 or below	83	(1.3)	17	(1.3)	19	(1.5)	81	(1.5)	24	(1.5)	76	(1.5)	22	(1.6)	78	(1.6)
	Level 2	91	(0.7)	9	(0.7)	28	(1.4)	72	(1.4)	34	(1.1)	66	(1.1)	20	(1.2)	80	(1.2)
	Level 3	94	(0.6)	6	(0.6)	37	(1.5)	63	(1.5)	43	(1.5)	57	(1.5)	22	(1.5)	78	(1.5)
	Level 4 or 5	95	(1.3)	5™	(1.3)	46	(3.0)	54	(3.0)	51	(2.7)	49	(2.7)	31	(2.8)	69	(2.8)
Ontario	Level 1 or below	80	(1.7)	20	(1.7)	18	(1.7)	82	(1.7)	34	(2.4)	66	(2.4)	35	(2.3)	65	(2.3)
	Level 2	88	(1.4)	12	(1.4)	25	(1.8)	75	(1.8)	49	(2.2)	51	(2.2)	47	(2.3)	53	(2.3)
	Level 3	92	(1.1)	8	(1.1)	31	(1.9)	69	(1.9)	57	(2.0)	43	(2.0)	57	(2.6)	43	(2.6)
	Level 4 or 5	94	(1.4)	6™	(1.4)	34	(3.4)	66	(3.4)	61	(3.3)	39	(3.3)	66	(3.5)	34	(3.5)
Manitoba	Level 1 or below	81	(2.8)	19	(2.8)	25™	(4.2)	75	(4.2)	36	(3.4)	64	(3.4)	38	(4.0)	62	(4.0)
	Level 2	88	(1.9)	12	(1.9)	26	(3.3)	74	(3.3)	53	(3.5)	47	(3.5)	53	(4.1)	47	(4.1)
	Level 3	91	(1.9)	9м	(1.9)	34	(3.5)	66	(3.5)	66	(3.0)	34	(3.0)	61	(3.8)	39	(3.8)
	Level 4 or 5	93	(3.1)	U	(3.1)	32™	(6.6)	68	(6.6)	67	(5.9)	33™	(5.9)	64	(6.0)	36	(6.0)
Saskatchewan	Level 1 or below	77	(3.1)	23	(3.1)	22	(3.2)	78	(3.2)	40	(3.6)	60	(3.6)	34	(4.9)	66	(4.9)
	Level 2	88	(2.3)	12 [™]	(2.3)	32	(3.3)	68	(3.3)	58	(3.8)	42	(3.8)	50	(4.5)	50	(4.5)
	Level 3	89	(2.1)	11 [™]	(2.1)	37	(3.5)	63	(3.5)	68	(3.3)	32	(3.3)	65	(3.6)	35	(3.6)
	Level 4 or 5	94	(3.5)	U	(3.5)	43™	(7.5)	57	(7.5)	76	(5.6)	24™	(5.6)	76	(5.4)	24™	(5.4)

Numeracy — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and proficiency level, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Se	lf-repor	ted hea	lth ¹		Level o	f trust ²	2	Volu	unteer pa	articipa	ation ³	I	Political	efficac	y₄
	Proficiency level	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Volur	nteered		l not nteer	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Alberta	Level 1 or below	85	(3.1)	15™	(3.1)	18™	(3.5)	82	(3.5)	41	(4.6)	59	(4.6)	35	(4.5)	65	(4.5)
	Level 2	89	(2.1)	11™	(2.1)	24	(3.4)	76	(3.4)	51	(4.2)	49	(4.2)	53	(4.7)	47	(4.7)
	Level 3	92	(2.3)	8™	(2.3)	29	(3.4)	71	(3.4)	61	(3.9)	39	(3.9)	61	(4.6)	39	(4.6)
	Level 4 or 5	97	(1.7)	U	(1.7)	38	(5.3)	62	(5.3)	67	(5.0)	33	(5.0)	68	(5.7)	32™	(5.7)
British Columbia	Level 1 or below	85	(2.9)	15™	(2.9)	21	(3.0)	79	(3.0)	35	(3.5)	65	(3.5)	40	(4.1)	60	(4.1)
	Level 2	86	(2.5)	14™	(2.5)	28	(3.4)	72	(3.4)	54	(3.3)	46	(3.3)	51	(3.9)	49	(3.9)
	Level 3	89	(1.9)	11™	(1.9)	36	(3.1)	64	(3.1)	61	(3.1)	39	(3.1)	59	(3.6)	41	(3.6)
	Level 4 or 5	95	(2.3)	U	(2.3)	38	(4.6)	62	(4.6)	74	(4.5)	26 ^м	(4.5)	66	(5.7)	34™	(5.7)
Yukon	Level 1 or below	82	(8.3)	U	(8.3)	U	(5.8)	87	(5.8)	U	(11.7)	68™	(11.7)	U	(13.0)	64™	(13.0)
	Level 2	84	(7.6)	U	(7.6)	27™	(8.7)	73	(8.7)	65	(10.4)	35™	(10.4)	70	(9.2)	30™	(9.2)
	Level 3	88	(7.7)	U	(7.7)	U	(13.1)	61 [™]	(13.1)	79	(7.9)	U	(7.9)	74	(6.7)	26 [™]	(6.7)
	Level 4 or 5	98	(1.9)	U	(1.9)	U	(17.4)	67™	(17.4)	90	(6.0)	U	(6.0)	85	(12.9)	U	(12.9)
Northwest Territories	Level 1 or below	78	(2.8)	22	(2.8)	19	(3.1)	81	(3.1)	50	(3.8)	50	(3.8)	43	(3.9)	57	(3.9)
Territories	Level 2	86	(2.8)	14™	(2.8)	33	(4.7)	67	(4.7)	69	(4.3)	31	(4.3)	61	(5.1)	39	(5.1)
	Level 3	92	(2.4)	8 ^M	(2.4)	34	(4.7)	66	(4.7)	76	(4.2)	24™	(4.2)	69	(5.2)	31™	(5.2)
	Level 4 or 5	х	х	х	х	37™	(8.0)	63	(8.0)	77	(6.4)	23™	(6.4)	82	(8.2)	U	(8.2)
Nunavut	Level 1 or below	72	(2.7)	28	(2.7)	14	(1.9)	86	(1.9)	45	(3.1)	55	(3.1)	37	(3.0)	63	(3.0)
	Level 2	81	(4.5)	19™	(4.5)	29 ^M	(6.0)	71	(6.0)	62	(6.0)	38	(6.0)	49	(6.9)	51	(6.9)
	Level 3	84	(5.1)	16 [™]	(5.1)	36 [™]	(7.6)	64	(7.6)	71	(6.9)	29™	(6.9)	67	(8.8)	33™	(8.8)
	Level 4 or 5	х	Х	х	Х	U	(17.7)	59™	(17.7)	х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

³ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

⁴ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

x Suppressed to meet the confidentiality requirements of the Statistics Act

PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and proficiency level, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Se	lf-repor	ted hea	lth ¹		Level o	f trust ²	2	Volu	inteer pa	articipa	ation ³	F	Political	efficac	y 4
	Proficiency level	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	PS-TRE non-respondents	79	(1.1)	21	(1.1)	21	(1.1)	79	(1.1)	33	(1.3)	67	(1.3)	34	(1.4)	66	(1.4)
	Below Level 1	85	(1.0)	15	(1.0)	21	(1.3)	79	(1.3)	37	(1.6)	63	(1.6)	33	(1.7)	67	(1.7)
	Level 1	91	(0.5)	9	(0.5)	28	(1.1)	72	(1.1)	49	(1.1)	51	(1.1)	44	(1.3)	56	(1.3)
	Level 2 or 3	94	(0.4)	6	(0.4)	35	(1.1)	65	(1.1)	60	(1.0)	40	(1.0)	56	(1.3)	44	(1.3)
Newfoundland	PS-TRE non-respondents	75	(2.1)	25	(2.1)	15	(1.9)	85	(1.9)	35	(2.5)	65	(2.5)	30	(2.6)	70	(2.6)
and Labrador	Below Level 1	82	(2.6)	18	(2.6)	18	(2.9)	82	(2.9)	43	(4.2)	57	(4.2)	36	(4.1)	64	(4.1)
	Level 1	89	(2.1)	11 [™]	(2.1)	23	(2.5)	77	(2.5)	56	(3.2)	44	(3.2)	46	(3.2)	54	(3.2)
	Level 2 or 3	94	(1.4)	6™	(1.4)	31	(2.8)	69	(2.8)	66	(2.6)	34	(2.6)	65	(3.3)	35	(3.3)
Prince Edward	PS-TRE non-respondents	71	(3.4)	29	(3.4)	22	(3.6)	78	(3.6)	42	(4.3)	58	(4.3)	34	(3.3)	66	(3.3)
Island	Below Level 1	84	(4.1)	16 [™]	(4.1)	27™	(4.7)	73	(4.7)	52	(4.7)	48	(4.7)	32™	(6.1)	68	(6.1)
	Level 1	89	(2.1)	11 ^M	(2.1)	31	(3.8)	69	(3.8)	65	(3.4)	35	(3.4)	47	(4.7)	53	(4.7)
	Level 2 or 3	93	(1.7)	7™	(1.7)	36	(4.2)	64	(4.2)	68	(3.5)	32	(3.5)	55	(4.1)	45	(4.1)
Nova Scotia	PS-TRE non-respondents	69	(3.8)	31	(3.8)	18	(3.0)	82	(3.0)	39	(3.6)	61	(3.6)	31	(3.4)	69	(3.4)
	Below Level 1	79	(3.4)	21™	(3.4)	23™	(4.0)	77	(4.0)	41	(3.9)	59	(3.9)	35	(4.5)	65	(4.5)
	Level 1	87	(2.2)	13 [™]	(2.2)	25	(2.8)	75	(2.8)	56	(3.2)	44	(3.2)	49	(3.5)	51	(3.5)
	Level 2 or 3	92	(1.3)	8™	(1.3)	31	(2.7)	69	(2.7)	65	(2.2)	35	(2.2)	63	(3.3)	37	(3.3)
New Brunswick	PS-TRE non-respondents	76	(2.3)	24	(2.3)	18	(1.9)	82	(1.9)	39	(2.9)	61	(2.9)	20	(2.4)	80	(2.4)
	Below Level 1	81	(3.3)	19 ^м	(3.3)	21	(3.2)	79	(3.2)	42	(4.4)	58	(4.4)	23™	(3.9)	77	(3.9)
	Level 1	87	(2.0)	13	(2.0)	32	(3.4)	68	(3.4)	58	(3.4)	42	(3.4)	40	(3.5)	60	(3.5)
	Level 2 or 3	93	(1.8)	7™	(1.8)	35	(3.4)	65	(3.4)	65	(2.8)	35	(2.8)	52	(3.6)	48	(3.6)
Quebec	PS-TRE non-respondents	83	(1.4)	17	(1.4)	21	(1.3)	79	(1.3)	27	(1.6)	73	(1.6)	22	(1.6)	78	(1.6)
	Below Level 1	88	(1.2)	12	(1.2)	24	(1.6)	76	(1.6)	27	(1.7)	73	(1.7)	19	(1.6)	81	(1.6)
	Level 1	92	(0.8)	8	(0.8)	32	(1.5)	68	(1.5)	37	(1.3)	63	(1.3)	19	(1.2)	81	(1.2)
	Level 2 or 3	95	(0.7)	5	(0.7)	40	(1.6)	60	(1.6)	46	(1.2)	54	(1.2)	27	(1.4)	73	(1.4)
Ontario	PS-TRE non-respondents	76	(2.1)	24	(2.1)	21	(1.8)	79	(1.8)	31	(2.6)	69	(2.6)	39	(2.6)	61	(2.6)
	Below Level 1	85	(2.0)	15	(2.0)	19	(2.5)	81	(2.5)	38	(3.2)	62	(3.2)	37	(3.8)	63	(3.8)
	Level 1	92	(1.0)	8	(1.0)	25	(1.8)	75	(1.8)	50	(2.0)	50	(2.0)	50	(2.3)	50	(2.3)
	Level 2 or 3	93	(0.9)	7	(0.9)	32	(1.8)	68	(1.8)	61	(1.8)	39	(1.8)	60	(2.2)	40	(2.2)
Manitoba	PS-TRE non-respondents	84	(2.2)	16	(2.2)	31	(3.3)	69	(3.3)	45	(4.1)	55	(4.1)	45	(3.5)	55	(3.5)
	Below Level 1	84	(3.7)	16 [™]	(3.7)	25™	(5.6)	75	(5.6)	40	(4.5)	60	(4.5)	43	(5.9)	57	(5.9)
	Level 1	90	(2.0)	10 ^м	(2.0)	28	(4.1)	72	(4.1)	58	(3.3)	42	(3.3)	56	(4.0)	44	(4.0)
	Level 2 or 3	91	(1.7)	9м	(1.7)	33	(3.5)	67	(3.5)	66	(3.0)	34	(3.0)	64	(3.6)	36	(3.6)
Saskatchewan	PS-TRE non-respondents	70	(4.1)	30	(4.1)	20™	(3.7)	80	(3.7)	41	(4.9)	59	(4.9)	36	(5.6)	64	(5.6)
	Below Level 1	85	(2.9)	15™	(2.9)	28	(3.9)	72	(3.9)	45	(5.0)	55	(5.0)	40	(4.8)	60	(4.8)
	Level 1	87	(2.5)	13™	(2.5)	35	(3.0)	65	(3.0)	63	(3.4)	37	(3.4)	54	(3.7)	46	(3.7)
	Level 2 or 3	93	(2.0)	7™	(2.0)	38	(3.3)	62	(3.3)	69	(3.1)	31	(3.1)	70	(3.3)	30	(3.3)

PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and proficiency level, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Se	lf-repor	ted hea	lth ¹		Level o	f trusť	2	Volu	inteer pa	articipa	ation ³	I	Political	efficac	; y 4
	Proficiency level	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volur	iteered		l not nteer	Pos	itive	Neg	jative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Alberta	PS-TRE non-respondents	83	(3.4)	17™	(3.4)	18 [™]	(4.0)	82	(4.0)	47	(4.2)	53	(4.2)	32™	(5.8)	68	(5.8)
	Below Level 1	85	(3.9)	15™	(3.9)	18™	(4.2)	82	(4.2)	41	(5.6)	59	(5.6)	40™	(6.8)	60	(6.8)
	Level 1	90	(2.3)	10 ^м	(2.3)	24	(3.8)	76	(3.8)	53	(3.6)	47	(3.6)	57	(3.9)	43	(3.9)
	Level 2 or 3	95	(1.4)	5™	(1.4)	32	(3.1)	68	(3.1)	64	(2.8)	36	(2.8)	65	(3.1)	35	(3.1)
British Columbia	PS-TRE non-respondents	85	(3.1)	15™	(3.1)	21	(3.2)	79	(3.2)	33	(3.7)	67	(3.7)	39	(4.6)	61	(4.6)
	Below Level 1	82	(3.6)	18™	(3.6)	23™	(4.1)	77	(4.1)	43	(5.2)	57	(5.2)	43	(5.0)	57	(5.0)
	Level 1	87	(2.2)	13 [™]	(2.2)	32	(3.1)	68	(3.1)	56	(3.4)	44	(3.4)	52	(4.2)	48	(4.2)
	Level 2 or 3	92	(1.4)	8™	(1.4)	37	(2.7)	63	(2.7)	69	(2.7)	31	(2.7)	65	(2.9)	35	(2.9)
Yukon	PS-TRE non-respondents	78	(10.3)	U	(10.3)	U	(5.6)	90	(5.6)	U	(12.9)	69™	(12.9)	U	(13.0)	73™	(13.0)
	Below Level 1	83	(9.9)	U	(9.9)	U	(7.9)	83	(7.9)	56 [™]	(11.7)	44 [™]	(11.7)	51™	(12.7)	49 ^м	(12.7)
	Level 1	89	(6.4)	U	(6.4)	U	(11.5)	72	(11.5)	67™	(12.6)	U	(12.6)	73	(6.1)	27™	(6.1)
	Level 2 or 3	88	(5.9)	U	(5.9)	41™	(8.5)	59	(8.5)	84	(5.6)	U	(5.6)	79	(6.2)	21 [™]	(6.2)
Northwest	PS-TRE non-respondents	75	(3.3)	25	(3.3)	22 [™]	(3.8)	78	(3.8)	48	(4.9)	52	(4.9)	38	(4.9)	62	(4.9)
Territories	Below Level 1	84	(3.2)	16 ^м	(3.2)	21 [™]	(5.6)	79	(5.6)	57	(5.0)	43	(5.0)	46	(6.3)	54	(6.3)
	Level 1	87	(2.8)	13™	(2.8)	30	(4.3)	70	(4.3)	67	(5.0)	33	(5.0)	64	(5.5)	36	(5.5)
	Level 2 or 3	91	(2.4)	9™	(2.4)	35	(4.5)	65	(4.5)	77	(3.3)	23	(3.3)	74	(4.8)	26 ^м	(4.8)
Nunavut	PS-TRE non-respondents	70	(2.9)	30	(2.9)	17	(2.2)	83	(2.2)	44	(3.2)	56	(3.2)	38	(3.3)	62	(3.3)
	Below Level 1	80	(4.7)	20 ^м	(4.7)	14 [™]	(4.2)	86	(4.2)	50	(5.4)	50	(5.4)	39	(5.2)	61	(5.2)
	Level 1	82	(4.3)	18 [™]	(4.3)	25™	(4.6)	75	(4.6)	63	(5.4)	37	(5.4)	52	(6.1)	48	(6.1)
	Level 2 or 3	86	(4.8)	U	(4.8)	35™	(8.0)	65	(8.0)	74	(5.6)	26™	(5.6)	65	(8.2)	35™	(8.2)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

³ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

⁴ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

		Se	elf-repor	ted hea	lth1		Level o	f trust ²		Vol	unteer pa	articipa	tion ³		Political	efficacy	V ⁴
	Gender	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		l not inteer	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	Male	89	(0.5)	11	(0.5)	26	(0.7)	74	(0.7)	46	(0.8)	54	(0.8)	43	(0.8)	57	(0.8)
	Female	89	(0.4)	11	(0.4)	30	(0.7)	70	(0.7)	52	(0.7)	48	(0.7)	46	(0.8)	54	(0.8)
Newfoundland	Male	85	(1.4)	15	(1.4)	22	(1.5)	78	(1.5)	47	(1.9)	53	(1.9)	44	(2.0)	56	(2.0)
and Labrador	Female	86	(1.2)	14	(1.2)	22	(1.6)	78	(1.6)	55	(2.2)	45	(2.2)	45	(2.3)	55	(2.3)
Prince Edward	Male	86	(1.7)	14	(1.7)	30	(2.6)	70	(2.6)	56	(2.6)	44	(2.6)	42	(2.6)	58	(2.6)
Island	Female	85	(1.7)	15	(1.7)	31	(2.3)	69	(2.3)	62	(2.1)	38	(2.1)	47	(2.3)	53	(2.3)
Nova Scotia	Male	85	(1.8)	15	(1.8)	24	(1.9)	76	(1.9)	52	(2.2)	48	(2.2)	46	(2.2)	54	(2.2)
	Female	85	(1.5)	15	(1.5)	27	(1.9)	73	(1.9)	56	(1.9)	44	(1.9)	52	(2.2)	48	(2.2)
New Brunswick	Male	86	(1.5)	14	(1.5)	25	(1.9)	75	(1.9)	50	(2.2)	50	(2.2)	36	(2.2)	64	(2.2)
	Female	85	(1.5)	15	(1.5)	31	(1.9)	69	(1.9)	56	(1.9)	44	(1.9)	38	(2.2)	62	(2.2)
Quebec	Male	91	(0.5)	9	(0.5)	30	(1.0)	70	(1.0)	34	(1.0)	66	(1.0)	22	(1.0)	78	(1.0)
	Female	91	(0.6)	9	(0.6)	32	(1.1)	68	(1.1)	39	(1.0)	61	(1.0)	22	(1.0)	78	(1.0)
Ontario	Male	89	(0.9)	11	(0.9)	24	(1.1)	76	(1.1)	46	(1.5)	54	(1.5)	49	(1.6)	51	(1.6)
	Female	88	(0.8)	12	(0.8)	29	(1.4)	71	(1.4)	54	(1.4)	46	(1.4)	51	(1.5)	49	(1.5)
Manitoba	Male	88	(1.4)	12	(1.4)	27	(2.2)	73	(2.2)	50	(2.3)	50	(2.3)	50	(2.8)	50	(2.8)
	Female	88	(1.4)	12	(1.4)	31	(2.4)	69	(2.4)	61	(2.5)	39	(2.5)	58	(2.3)	42	(2.3)
Saskatchewan	Male	86	(1.8)	14	(1.8)	31	(2.4)	69	(2.4)	54	(2.6)	46	(2.6)	53	(2.8)	47	(2.8)
	Female	87	(1.5)	13	(1.5)	34	(2.1)	66	(2.1)	64	(2.5)	36	(2.5)	55	(2.7)	45	(2.7)
Alberta	Male	91	(1.3)	9	(1.3)	22	(2.3)	78	(2.3)	52	(2.4)	48	(2.4)	50	(2.6)	50	(2.6)
	Female	90	(1.9)	10™	(1.9)	30	(2.2)	70	(2.2)	58	(2.3)	42	(2.3)	58	(2.3)	42	(2.3)
British Columbia	Male	87	(1.7)	13	(1.7)	29	(2.1)	71	(2.1)	52	(2.4)	48	(2.4)	51	(2.7)	49	(2.7)
	Female	88	(1.2)	12	(1.2)	31	(2.0)	69	(2.0)	58	(2.1)	42	(2.1)	57	(2.5)	43	(2.5)
Yukon	Male	88	(4.8)	U	(4.8)	27™	(5.6)	73	(5.6)	61	(6.9)	39™	(6.9)	58	(7.5)	42™	(7.5)
	Female	85	(5.2)	U	(5.2)	28™	(7.5)	72	(7.5)	68	(6.2)	32™	(6.2)	74	(4.5)	26™	(4.5)
Northwest	Male	87	(1.9)	13	(1.9)	29	(3.4)	71	(3.4)	59	(2.4)	41	(2.4)	55	(3.5)	45	(3.5)
Territories	Female	83	(1.7)	17	(1.7)	26	(2.4)	74	(2.4)	69	(2.7)	31	(2.7)	60	(3.0)	40	(3.0)
Nunavut	Male	74	(3.0)	26	(3.0)	21	(2.6)	79	(2.6)	53	(2.8)	47	(2.8)	46	(3.7)	54	(3.7)
	Female	77	(2.5)	23	(2.5)	19	(2.1)	81	(2.1)	51	(3.6)	49	(3.6)	41	(3.1)	59	(3.1)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

³ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

⁴ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

		S	elf-repor	ted heal	th1		Level	of trust ²		Vol	unteer p	articipat	ion ³		Political	efficacy	I ⁴
	Age group		itive		ative	Pos	itive		ative		teered	Did	not	Pos	sitive	-	ative
	ngo group	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	volu %	nteer SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	16 to 24	92	(0.7)	8	(0.7)	25	(1.1)	75	(1.1)	55	(1.2)	45	(1.2)	45	(1.2)	55	(1.2)
	25 to 34	94	(0.6)	6	(0.6)	28	(1.3)	72	(1.3)	46	(1.1)	54	(1.1)	47	(1.3)	53	(1.3)
	35 to 44	92	(0.6)	8	(0.6)	28	(0.9)	72	(0.9)	51	(1.3)	49	(1.3)	45	(1.4)	55	(1.4)
	45 to 54	87	(0.7)	13	(0.7)	30	(1.1)	70	(1.1)	49	(1.0)	51	(1.0)	45	(1.2)	55	(1.2)
	55 to 65	81	(1.0)	19	(1.0)	29	(1.1)	71	(1.1)	43	(1.2)	57	(1.2)	41	(1.0)	59	(1.0)
Newfoundland	16 to 24	92	(2.1)	8™	(2.1)	18™	(3.0)	82	(3.0)	62	(3.6)	38	(3.6)	51	(4.1)	49	(4.1)
and Labrador	25 to 34	90	(2.3)	10 ^м	(2.3)	25	(3.4)	75	(3.4)	51	(4.0)	49	(4.0)	48	(4.3)	52	(4.3)
	35 to 44	89	(1.8)	11	(1.8)	26	(3.4)	74	(3.4)	54	(3.8)	46	(3.8)	50	(3.5)	50	(3.5)
	45 to 54	84	(2.0)	16	(2.0)	20	(2.3)	80	(2.3)	47	(2.6)	53	(2.6)	43	(2.9)	57	(2.9)
	55 to 65	78	(1.8)	22	(1.8)	21	(2.2)	79	(2.2)	45	(2.7)	55	(2.7)	37	(2.3)	63	(2.3)
Prince Edward	16 to 24	91	(2.5)	9м	(2.5)	24™	(4.5)	76	(4.5)	62	(4.1)	38	(4.1)	40	(4.9)	60	(4.9)
sland	25 to 34	92	(2.7)	8™	(2.7)	33	(4.5)	67	(4.5)	54	(4.7)	46	(4.7)	39	(6.0)	61	(6.0)
	35 to 44	93	(1.6)	7™	(1.6)	26	(3.6)	74	(3.6)	59	(3.8)	41	(3.8)	43	(4.6)	57	(4.6)
	45 to 54	80	(3.1)	20	(3.1)	31	(3.5)	69	(3.5)	63	(3.2)	37	(3.2)	46	(3.5)	54	(3.5)
	55 to 65	79	(2.5)	21	(2.5)	35	(3.7)	65	(3.7)	57	(2.9)	43	(2.9)	49	(3.3)	51	(3.3)
Nova Scotia	16 to 24	89	(2.7)	11™	(2.7)	18™	(3.5)	82	(3.5)	55	(3.9)	45	(3.9)	46	(5.6)	54	(5.6)
	25 to 34	90	(2.4)	10 [™]	(2.4)	24	(3.3)	76	(3.3)	47	(3.7)	53	(3.7)	49	(4.1)	51	(4.1)
	35 to 44	88	(2.6)	12™	(2.6)	27	(3.3)	73	(3.3)	61	(3.3)	39	(3.3)	48	(3.3)	52	(3.3)
	45 to 54	87	(2.4)	13™	(2.4)	31	(2.9)	69	(2.9)	57	(2.9)	43	(2.9)	53	(3.2)	47	(3.2)
	55 to 65	74	(2.2)	26	(2.2)	27	(2.3)	73	(2.3)	51	(2.7)	49	(2.7)	48	(2.6)	52	(2.6)
New Brunswick	16 to 24	92	(2.3)	8™	(2.3)	28	(3.8)	72	(3.8)	62	(3.9)	38	(3.9)	32™	(5.4)	68	(5.4)
	25 to 34	92	(2.2)	8™	(2.2)	28	(3.8)	72	(3.8)	54	(4.1)	46	(4.1)	41	(5.2)	59	(5.2)
	35 to 44	88	(1.8)	12	(1.8)	28	(3.4)	72	(3.4)	55	(3.2)	45	(3.2)	40	(3.6)	60	(3.6)
	45 to 54	85	(2.0)	15	(2.0)	28	(2.6)	72	(2.6)	50	(3.2)	50	(3.2)	38	(3.1)	62	(3.1)
	55 to 65	76	(2.2)	24	(2.2)	28	(2.6)	72	(2.6)	49	(2.8)	51	(2.8)	34	(2.4)	66	(2.4)
Quebec	16 to 24	95	(0.8)	5	(0.8)	32	(2.2)	68	(2.2)	41	(1.7)	59	(1.7)	30	(2.1)	70	(2.1)
	25 to 34	94	(0.9)	6	(0.9)	36	(1.9)	64	(1.9)	32	(1.6)	68	(1.6)	23	(1.6)	77	(1.6)
	35 to 44	94	(0.7)	6	(0.7)	31	(1.5)	69	(1.5)	41	(1.7)	59	(1.7)	22	(1.7)	78	(1.7)
	45 to 54	88	(1.0)	12	(1.0)	30	(1.4)	70	(1.4)	36	(1.5)	64	(1.5)	20	(1.2)	80	(1.2)
.	55 to 65	85	(1.0)	15	(1.0)	27	(1.4)	73	(1.4)	33	(1.3)	67	(1.3)	19	(1.3)	81	(1.3)
Ontario	16 to 24	92	(1.4)	8 ^M	(1.4)	20	(2.1)	80	(2.1)	60	(2.2)	40	(2.2)	44	(2.5)	56	(2.5)
	25 to 34	94	(1.2)	6 [™]	(1.2)	24 27	(2.3)	76 72	(2.3)	46 50	(2.3)	54 50	(2.3)	54 54	(2.7)	46 46	(2.7)
	35 to 44	92	(1.1)	8	(1.1)	27	(1.7)	73 60	(1.7)	50 51	(2.4)	50 40	(2.4)	54 52	(2.7)	46 47	(2.7)
	45 to 54	88	(1.3)	12 22	(1.3)	31 20	(2.0)	69 71	(2.0)	51 42	(2.0)	49 57	(2.0)	53 46	(2.4)	47 54	(2.4)
Manitoba	55 to 65 16 to 24	78 91	(1.8)	22 9™	(1.8)	29 20	(2.1)	71 71	(2.1)	43 58	(2.3)	57 42	(2.3)	46 55	(2.0)	54 45	(2.0)
namituba	25 to 34	91	(2.0)	9™ 10 ^M	(2.0)	29 24	(4.5)	71 76	(4.5) (3.7)	58 51	(4.6)		(4.6)	55 52	(4.9)		(4.9)
	25 to 34 35 to 44		(2.1)	10 [™]	(2.1)	24 27	(3.7) (3.5)	76 73	(3.7)	51 59	(4.0) (3.0)	49 41	(4.0) (3.0)	52 55	(4.1)	48 45	(4.1)
	45 to 54	89 89	(2.9)	11 [™]	(2.9)	27 36	(3.5) (3.4)	73 64	(3.5) (3.4)	59 57	(3.9)	41 43	(3.9)	55 56	(4.3)	45 44	(4.3)
	45 to 54 55 to 65	89	(1.9) (2.4)	11™ 19	(1.9) (2.4)	36 30	(3.4) (3.4)	64	(3.4)	57	(3.0)	43	(3.0)	56	(3.6)	44	(3.6)

Table 2.3 (cont'd)

		S	elf-repor	ted heal	th ¹		Level o	f trust ²		Vol	unteer pa	articipa	tion ³		Political	efficacy	l ⁴
	Age group	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Saskatchewan	16 to 24	91	(2.1)	9™	(2.1)	26	(3.3)	74	(3.3)	57	(3.5)	43	(3.5)	48	(5.3)	52	(5.3)
	25 to 34	93	(2.1)	7™	(2.1)	35	(4.3)	65	(4.3)	58	(3.3)	42	(3.3)	53	(4.3)	47	(4.3)
	35 to 44	88	(3.1)	12 [™]	(3.1)	29	(3.8)	71	(3.8)	63	(4.1)	37	(4.1)	60	(4.1)	40	(4.1)
	45 to 54	82	(2.2)	18	(2.2)	35	(3.2)	65	(3.2)	61	(3.4)	39	(3.4)	53	(3.6)	47	(3.6)
	55 to 65	78	(3.1)	22	(3.1)	36	(3.7)	64	(3.7)	56	(4.4)	44	(4.4)	55	(4.3)	45	(4.3)
Alberta	16 to 24	91	(2.5)	9м	(2.5)	26	(4.3)	74	(4.3)	53	(4.3)	47	(4.3)	62	(4.4)	38	(4.4)
	25 to 34	94	(2.1)	U	(2.1)	24	(3.6)	76	(3.6)	54	(4.1)	46	(4.1)	57	(3.8)	43	(3.8)
	35 to 44	92	(2.0)	8™	(2.0)	28	(3.4)	72	(3.4)	53	(2.9)	47	(2.9)	46	(3.6)	54	(3.6)
	45 to 54	87	(2.5)	13™	(2.5)	28	(3.6)	72	(3.6)	59	(3.1)	41	(3.1)	53	(3.8)	47	(3.8)
	55 to 65	87	(2.7)	13™	(2.7)	25	(3.3)	75	(3.3)	53	(3.8)	47	(3.8)	53	(3.6)	47	(3.6)
British Columbia	16 to 24	92	(1.2)	8	(1.2)	27	(2.2)	73	(2.2)	63	(2.8)	37	(2.8)	54	(3.0)	46	(3.0)
	25 to 34	93	(1.7)	7™	(1.7)	32	(3.6)	68	(3.6)	53	(4.0)	47	(4.0)	56	(4.8)	44	(4.8)
	35 to 44	90	(2.2)	10™	(2.2)	27	(3.4)	73	(3.4)	62	(3.9)	38	(3.9)	48	(4.5)	52	(4.5)
	45 to 54	85	(2.3)	15	(2.3)	31	(3.3)	69	(3.3)	52	(3.2)	48	(3.2)	53	(4.1)	47	(4.1)
	55 to 65	81	(3.0)	19	(3.0)	34	(3.4)	66	(3.4)	48	(3.5)	52	(3.5)	56	(4.1)	44	(4.1)
/ukon	16 to 24	95	(3.0)	U	(3.0)	U	(14.1)	64 [™]	(14.1)	49 ^M	(13.1)	51 [™]	(13.1)	75™	(13.0)	U	(13.0
	25 to 34	79™	(15.1)	U	(15.1)	U	(10.0)	74	(10.0)	66™	(17.6)	U	(17.6)	62™	(19.1)	U	(19.1
	35 to 44	91	(3.3)	U	(3.3)	31™	(8.1)	69	(8.1)	63™	(11.8)	37™	(11.8)	60	(9.1)	40 [™]	(9.1)
	45 to 54	87	(3.7)	13™	(3.7)	26™	(8.2)	74	(8.2)	73	(7.8)	27™	(7.8)	70	(6.6)	30™	(6.6)
	55 to 65	81	(9.2)	U	(9.2)	U	(8.2)	80	(8.2)	67	(7.5)	33™	(7.5)	62	(6.2)	38	(6.2)
Northwest	16 to 24	88	(2.7)	12 [™]	(2.7)	25™	(4.2)	75	(4.2)	59	(4.2)	41	(4.2)	61	(6.4)	39	(6.4)
Territories	25 to 34	90	(2.9)	10™	(2.9)	29™	(5.0)	71	(5.0)	65	(4.0)	35	(4.0)	59	(4.1)	41	(4.1)
	35 to 44	89	(2.6)	11 [™]	(2.6)	27	(3.8)	73	(3.8)	66	(5.9)	34™	(5.9)	58	(6.4)	42	(6.4)
	45 to 54	78	(3.6)	22	(3.6)	28™	(5.8)	72	(5.8)	61	(4.1)	39	(4.1)	52	(3.9)	48	(3.9)
	55 to 65	75	(4.7)	25™	(4.7)	30™	(5.6)	70	(5.6)	68	(4.8)	32	(4.8)	56	(4.8)	44	(4.8)
Nunavut	16 to 24	81	(3.0)	19	(3.0)	20	(3.2)	80	(3.2)	52	(4.5)	48	(4.5)	42	(4.9)	58	(4.9)
	25 to 34	84	(3.2)	16™	(3.2)	21	(3.2)	79	(3.2)	56	(4.4)	44	(4.4)	44	(6.4)	56	(6.4)
	35 to 44	71	(4.1)	29	(4.1)	16™	(2.9)	84	(2.9)	52	(5.1)	48	(5.1)	40	(4.1)	60	(4.1)
	45 to 54	69	(4.6)	31	(4.6)	18™	(4.2)	82	(4.2)	48	(5.1)	52	(5.1)	43	(5.5)	57	(5.5)
	55 to 65	63	(6.2)	37™	(6.2)	31™	(6.6)	69	(6.6)	54	(5.6)	46	(5.6)	57	(6.6)	43	(6.6)

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and age group, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

³ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

⁴ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and educational attainment, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Se	lf-repor	ted hea	lth ¹		Level o	f trust ²		Volu	unteer pa	articipa	tion ³	I	Political	efficac	y4
	Educational attainment	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	Less than high-school diploma	81	(1.1)	19	(1.1)	20	(1.2)	80	(1.2)	42	(1.3)	58	(1.3)	32	(1.4)	68	(1.4)
	High-school diploma	88	(0.7)	12	(0.7)	23	(1.0)	77	(1.0)	44	(1.0)	56	(1.0)	41	(1.2)	59	(1.2)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	89	(0.6)	11	(0.6)	27	(0.9)	73	(0.9)	48	(0.8)	52	(0.8)	42	(1.1)	58	(1.1)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	94	(0.4)	6	(0.4)	39	(1.1)	61	(1.1)	59	(0.9)	41	(0.9)	60	(1.2)	40	(1.2)
Newfoundland and Labrador	Less than high-school diploma	75	(2.7)	25	(2.7)	13™	(2.1)	87	(2.1)	43	(3.1)	57	(3.1)	32	(3.2)	68	(3.2)
	High-school diploma	86	(2.1)	14	(2.1)	17	(2.0)	83	(2.0)	46	(2.9)	54	(2.9)	40	(3.7)	60	(3.7)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	88	(1.4)	12	(1.4)	21	(1.9)	79	(1.9)	48	(2.3)	52	(2.3)	43	(2.2)	57	(2.2)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	94	(1.6)	6™	(1.6)	43	(3.7)	57	(3.7)	75	(3.1)	25	(3.1)	72	(3.4)	28	(3.4)
Prince Edward Island	Less than high-school diploma	74	(3.9)	26	(3.9)	22™	(4.7)	78	(4.7)	50	(4.2)	50	(4.2)	26™	(4.6)	74	(4.6)
	High-school diploma	84	(2.6)	16	(2.6)	22	(2.8)	78	(2.8)	53	(3.4)	47	(3.4)	35	(3.8)	65	(3.8)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	88	(1.8)	12	(1.8)	31	(3.3)	69	(3.3)	61	(2.6)	39	(2.6)	47	(3.0)	53	(3.0)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	95	(1.5)	5™	(1.5)	47	(3.8)	53	(3.8)	72	(3.7)	28	(3.7)	67	(4.2)	33	(4.2)
Nova Scotia	Less than high-school diploma	72	(3.4)	28	(3.4)	19™	(3.4)	81	(3.4)	48	(3.8)	52	(3.8)	38	(4.6)	62	(4.6)
	High-school diploma	84	(2.5)	16	(2.5)	21	(2.7)	79	(2.7)	46	(2.8)	54	(2.8)	44	(3.8)	56	(3.8)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	86	(1.9)	14	(1.9)	23	(2.1)	77	(2.1)	52	(2.4)	48	(2.4)	45	(2.6)	55	(2.6)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	94	(1.6)	6 ^M	(1.6)	41	(3.1)	59	(3.1)	71	(2.5)	29	(2.5)	68	(3.1)	32	(3.1)
New Brunswick	Less than high-school diploma	77	(2.6)	23	(2.6)	20	(2.8)	80	(2.8)	41	(3.1)	59	(3.1)	16	(2.5)	84	(2.5)
	High-school diploma	84	(2.0)	16	(2.0)	21	(2.2)	79	(2.2)	47	(2.2)	53	(2.2)	31	(3.1)	69	(3.1)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	87	(1.6)	13	(1.6)	28	(2.7)	72	(2.7)	53	(2.5)	47	(2.5)	41	(2.6)	59	(2.6)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	95	(1.2)	5™	(1.2)	45	(3.4)	55	(3.4)	75	(3.4)	25	(3.4)	60	(3.6)	40	(3.6)

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and educational attainment, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Se	lf-repor	ted hea	lth ¹		Level o	f trust ²		Volu	unteer pa	articipa	tion ³	I	Political	efficac	y ⁴
	Educational attainment	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		not nteer	Pos	itive	Neg	jative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Quebec	Less than high-school diploma	83	(1.3)	17	(1.3)	21	(1.5)	79	(1.5)	27	(1.5)	73	(1.5)	23	(2.0)	77	(2.0)
	High-school diploma	91	(0.9)	9	(0.9)	24	(1.4)	76	(1.4)	34	(1.4)	66	(1.4)	20	(1.3)	80	(1.3)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	92	(0.6)	8	(0.6)	29	(1.3)	71	(1.3)	36	(1.1)	64	(1.1)	18	(1.1)	82	(1.1)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	94	(0.7)	6	(0.7)	47	(1.5)	53	(1.5)	46	(1.3)	54	(1.3)	31	(1.6)	69	(1.6)
Ontario	Less than high-school diploma	79	(2.3)	21	(2.3)	18	(2.4)	82	(2.4)	48	(3.1)	52	(3.1)	34	(2.4)	66	(2.4)
	High-school diploma	87	(1.2)	13	(1.2)	22	(1.6)	78	(1.6)	45	(1.9)	55	(1.9)	42	(2.5)	58	(2.5)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	89	(1.1)	11	(1.1)	25	(1.6)	75	(1.6)	49	(1.6)	51	(1.6)	48	(2.2)	52	(2.2)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	94	(0.7)	6	(0.7)	35	(1.9)	65	(1.9)	57	(1.8)	43	(1.8)	68	(1.8)	32	(1.8)
Manitoba	Less than high-school diploma	83	(2.4)	17	(2.4)	28	(3.9)	72	(3.9)	46	(3.7)	54	(3.7)	34	(3.3)	66	(3.3)
	High-school diploma	88	(1.6)	12	(1.6)	25	(3.1)	75	(3.1)	47	(3.4)	53	(3.4)	53	(3.7)	47	(3.7)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	87	(1.9)	13	(1.9)	26	(2.7)	74	(2.7)	59	(2.9)	41	(2.9)	54	(3.1)	46	(3.1)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	94	(2.2)	U	(2.2)	40	(3.4)	60	(3.4)	67	(3.5)	33	(3.5)	71	(3.4)	29	(3.4)
Saskatchewan	Less than high-school diploma	76	(3.2)	24	(3.2)	18™	(3.8)	82	(3.8)	47	(4.7)	53	(4.7)	38	(4.9)	62	(4.9)
	High-school diploma	87	(2.0)	13	(2.0)	33	(3.2)	67	(3.2)	57	(3.4)	43	(3.4)	47	(3.2)	53	(3.2)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	89	(1.7)	11	(1.7)	33	(3.0)	67	(3.0)	59	(3.6)	41	(3.6)	57	(3.5)	43	(3.5)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	90	(2.0)	10 [™]	(2.0)	43	(3.8)	57	(3.8)	72	(3.3)	28	(3.3)	71	(3.4)	29	(3.4)
Alberta	Less than high-school diploma	86	(3.2)	14 [™]	(3.2)	20™	(3.7)	80	(3.7)	48	(4.5)	52	(4.5)	37	(4.7)	63	(4.7)
	High-school diploma	92	(2.0)	8™	(2.0)	19	(3.0)	81	(3.0)	45	(4.0)	55	(4.0)	50	(3.5)	50	(3.5)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	88	(2.1)	12™	(2.1)	25	(3.2)	75	(3.2)	54	(3.0)	46	(3.0)	55	(3.4)	45	(3.4)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	96	(1.3)	4 ^M	(1.3)	39	(3.5)	61	(3.5)	70	(3.1)	30	(3.1)	67	(3.1)	33	(3.1)

Table 2.4 (cont'd)

		Se	lf-repor	ted hea	lth ¹		Level o	f trust ²		Vol	unteer pa	articipa	tion ³	I	Political	efficac	y 4
	Educational attainment	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Volur	iteered		l not nteer	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
British Columbia	Less than high-school diploma	79	(4.5)	21™	(4.5)	26	(3.8)	74	(3.8)	48	(4.2)	52	(4.2)	37	(5.4)	63	(5.4)
	High-school diploma	89	(1.8)	11	(1.8)	24	(2.7)	76	(2.7)	49	(2.4)	51	(2.4)	57	(3.4)	43	(3.4)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	89	(1.6)	11	(1.6)	31	(2.6)	69	(2.6)	56	(2.8)	44	(2.8)	50	(3.5)	50	(3.5)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	90	(1.7)	10	(1.7)	37	(3.1)	63	(3.1)	64	(3.0)	36	(3.0)	63	(3.5)	37	(3.5)
Yukon	Less than high-school diploma	86	(8.1)	U	(8.1)	U	(12.8)	67™	(12.8)	56 ^M	(10.7)	44 ^M	(10.7)	47 [™]	(12.2)	53 ^M	(12.2)
	High-school diploma	90	(5.1)	U	(5.1)	U	(5.5)	89	(5.5)	50™	(11.3)	50™	(11.3)	U	(14.7)	57™	(14.7)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	82	(8.4)	U	(8.4)	U	(11.3)	68	(11.3)	67	(8.5)	33™	(8.5)	72	(4.7)	28 ^M	(4.7)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	91	(7.3)	U	(7.3)	U	(13.6)	67™	(13.6)	81	(8.8)	U	(8.8)	83	(8.1)	U	(8.1)
Northwest Territories	Less than high-school diploma	78	(2.9)	22	(2.9)	18™	(3.1)	82	(3.1)	58	(4.2)	42	(4.2)	42	(4.8)	58	(4.8)
	High-school diploma	87	(3.1)	13 [™]	(3.1)	30	(4.6)	70	(4.6)	63	(3.7)	37	(3.7)	64	(5.1)	36	(5.1)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	85	(2.4)	15	(2.4)	26	(2.7)	74	(2.7)	63	(2.9)	37	(2.9)	53	(4.5)	47	(4.5)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	93	(2.7)	U	(2.7)	46	(4.9)	54	(4.9)	76	(3.8)	24	(3.8)	79	(5.3)	21™	(5.3)
Nunavut	Less than high-school diploma	73	(2.6)	27	(2.6)	13	(1.7)	87	(1.7)	43	(2.7)	57	(2.7)	32	(3.2)	68	(3.2)
	High-school diploma	85	(3.9)	15™	(3.9)	25™	(5.4)	75	(5.4)	58	(5.3)	42	(5.3)	59	(6.9)	41 [™]	(6.9)
	Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	72	(4.3)	28	(4.3)	26	(3.9)	74	(3.9)	61	(4.5)	39	(4.5)	55	(4.4)	45	(4.4)
	Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	92	(3.1)	U	(3.1)	41 [™]	(8.1)	59	(8.1)	82	(4.6)	18 [™]	(4.6)	67	(5.7)	33™	(5.7)

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and educational attainment, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

³ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

⁴ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 2.5a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by self-reported health, gender and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy				Ger	nder			
		Ма	ale			Fen	nale	
		Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	ted health	
	Po	ositive	Neg	gative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	79	(1.7)	21	(1.7)	81	(1.3)	19	(1.3)
Level 2	87	(1.0)	13	(1.0)	88	(0.8)	12	(0.8)
_evel 3	92	(0.8)	8	(0.8)	91	(0.7)	9	(0.7)
Level 4 or 5	95	(1.2)	5™	(1.2)	93	(1.5)	7 ^M	(1.5)
Numeracy				Ger	nder			
		Ма	ale			Fem	nale	
		Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	ted health	
	Po	ositive	Neg	gative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	79	(1.6)	21	(1.6)	83	(1.0)	17	(1.0)
Level 2	88	(1.1)	12	(1.1)	89	(0.8)	11	(0.8)
Level 3	93	(0.8)	7	(0.8)	92	(0.8)	8	(0.8)
Level 4 or 5	95	(1.0)	5 ^M	(1.0)	94	(1.4)	6 ^M	(1.4)
PS-TRE				Ger	nder			
		Ма	ale			Fem	nale	
		Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	ted health	
	Po	ositive	Neg	gative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	79	(1.6)	21	(1.6)	80	(1.4)	20	(1.4)
Below Level 1	84	(1.4)	16	(1.4)	85	(1.2)	15	(1.2)
Level 1	91	(0.8)	9	(0.8)	90	(0.7)	10	(0.7)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

94

(0.6)

Note: PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

(0.6)

93

(0.7)

7

(0.7)

6

[™] Use with caution

Level 2 or 3

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by self-reported health, age group and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy										Age g	group									
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 t	o 44			45 t	o 54			55 t	0 65	
	Se	If-repor	ted hea	alth	Se	If-repor	ted hea	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted hea	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted he	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted hea	alth
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	90	(2.2)	10 ^м	(2.2)	92	(1.8)	8™	(1.8)	85	(2.5)	15™	(2.5)	77	(2.4)	23	(2.4)	69	(2.2)	31	(2.2)
Level 2	92	(1.5)	8™	(1.5)	92	(1.6)	8™	(1.6)	91	(1.4)	9	(1.4)	86	(1.6)	14	(1.6)	80	(1.6)	20	(1.6)
Level 3	93	(1.1)	7	(1.1)	94	(1.0)	6™	(1.0)	93	(0.9)	7	(0.9)	91	(1.2)	9	(1.2)	88	(1.4)	12	(1.4)
Level 4 or 5	92	(3.1)	U	(3.1)	96	(1.2)	4™	(1.2)	95	(1.3)	5™	(1.3)	94	(2.0)	6™	(2.0)	92	(2.5)	8™	(2.5)
Numeracy										Age (group									
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 t	o 44			45 t	o 54			55 t	0 65	
	Se	lf-repor	ted hea	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted hea	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted hea	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted he	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted hea	alth
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	91	(1.7)	9 ^M	(1.7)	92	(1.6)	8™	(1.6)	86	(2.0)	14	(2.0)	78	(2.0)	22	(2.0)	71	(2.0)	29	(2.0)
Level 2	92	(1.3)	8	(1.3)	92	(1.4)	8™	(1.4)	91	(1.4)	9	(1.4)	88	(1.3)	12	(1.3)	82	(1.7)	18	(1.7)
Level 3	93	(1.4)	7™	(1.4)	95	(1.0)	5™	(1.0)	93	(1.2)	7™	(1.2)	91	(1.3)	9	(1.3)	88	(1.8)	12	(1.8)
Level 4 or 5	92	(2.3)	8™	(2.3)	96	(1.2)	4™	(1.2)	97	(1.3)	U	(1.3)	95	(1.7)	U	(1.7)	92	(3.1)	U	(3.1)
PS-TRE										Age g	group									
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 t	o 44			45 t	o 54			55 t	0 65	
	Se	lf-repor	ted hea	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted hea	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted hea	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted he	alth	Se	lf-repor	ted hea	alth
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE

	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non- respondents	92	(2.5)	8 ^M	(2.5)	94	(1.6)	6 ^M	(1.6)	87	(2.4)	13 ^M	(2.4)	79	(2.1)	21	(2.1)	71	(2.0)	29	(2.0)
Below Level 1	90	(2.6)	10 ^M	(2.6)	91	(2.4)	9™	(2.4)	88	(2.1)	12 [™]	(2.1)	81	(2.0)	19	(2.0)	81	(1.9)	19	(1.9)
Level 1	92	(1.5)	8™	(1.5)	92	(1.5)	8™	(1.5)	92	(1.1)	8	(1.1)	90	(1.3)	10	(1.3)	87	(1.5)	13	(1.5)
Level 2 or 3	93	(1.0)	7	(1.0)	95	(0.8)	5	(0.8)	94	(0.9)	6	(0.9)	93	(1.3)	7™	(1.3)	90	(1.9)	10™	(1.9)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 2.5c

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by self-reported health, educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy							Ed	lucationa	l attainm	ent						
	Less t	han high-	-school (liploma	ł	ligh-scho	ol diplor	na		secondar ow bache				seconda ielor's de	-	
		Self-repor	ted heal	th		Self-repo	ted heal	th	5	Self-repor	ted heal	th		Self-repo	ted heal	th
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	74	(1.8)	26	(1.8)	84	(1.9)	16	(1.9)	82	(2.2)	18	(2.2)	88	(3.3)	12 ^м	(3.3)
Level 2	82	(1.9)	18	(1.9)	88	(1.4)	12	(1.4)	88	(1.1)	12	(1.1)	92	(1.5)	8™	(1.5)
Level 3	91	(1.9)	9™	(1.9)	90	(1.2)	10	(1.2)	92	(1.0)	8	(1.0)	94	(0.7)	6	(0.7)
Level 4 or 5	92	(7.8)	U	(7.8)	90	(3.1)	10™	(3.1)	93	(1.7)	7™	(1.7)	96	(0.8)	4 ^M	(0.8)
Numeracy							Ed	lucationa	lattainm	ent						
	Less t	han high-	-school (liploma	H	ligh-scho	ol diplor	na		secondar low bache	•			secondai ielor's de	-	
		Self-repor	ted heal	th		Self-repo	ted heal	th	5	Self-repor	ted heal	th		Self-repo	ted heal	th
	Pog	sitive	Nor	ative	Dog	sitive	Nor	ative	Pos	itive	Nor	ative	Pos	itive	Nor	ative

	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE								
Level 1 or below	74	(1.8)	26	(1.8)	84	(1.6)	16	(1.6)	84	(1.7)	16	(1.7)	91	(2.3)	9м	(2.3)
Level 2	85	(1.7)	15	(1.7)	88	(1.4)	12	(1.4)	88	(1.1)	12	(1.1)	92	(1.5)	8™	(1.5)
Level 3	91	(2.6)	9м	(2.6)	92	(1.4)	8	(1.4)	92	(0.9)	8	(0.9)	93	(0.9)	7	(0.9)
Level 4 or 5	93	(6.1)	U	(6.1)	89	(3.2)	11™	(3.2)	95	(1.5)	5 ^M	(1.5)	97	(0.9)	3м	(0.9)

Educational attainment

PS-TRE

	Less t	han high-	school (liploma	ł	ligh-scho	ol diplor	na		tsecondar low bache				secondaı ielor's de		
		Self-repor	ted heal	th		Self-repor	ted heal	th	5	Self-repor	ted heal	th	5	Self-repoi	ted heal	th
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	69	(2.3)	31	(2.3)	85	(1.6)	15	(1.6)	81	(2.0)	19	(2.0)	88	(2.1)	12™	(2.1)
Below Level 1	80	(2.3)	20	(2.3)	85	(1.9)	15	(1.9)	86	(1.5)	14	(1.5)	90	(2.3)	10™	(2.3)
Level 1	88	(1.8)	12	(1.8)	89	(1.4)	11	(1.4)	91	(0.8)	9	(0.8)	93	(1.1)	7	(1.1)
Level 2 or 3	92	(1.7)	8™	(1.7)	91	(1.4)	9	(1.4)	93	(0.8)	7	(0.8)	96	(0.5)	4	(0.5)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 2.6a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting excellent, very good or good health, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy		Self-reported health	
		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0		
Level 2	1.4	(0.1)	**
Level 3	1.8	(0.1)	***
Level 4 or 5	2.1	(0.2)	**
Numeracy		Self-reported health	
		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0		
Level 2	1.3	(0.1)	**
Level 3	1.7	(0.1)	***
Level 4 or 5	2.4	(0.2)	***
PS-TRE		Self-reported health	
		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0		
Below Level 1	1.1	(0.1)	-
Level 1	1.6	(0.1)	***
Level 2 or 3	1.9	(0.1)	***

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

² PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting excellent, very good or good health, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Self-repo	rted health					
						Pos	sitive					
						Educationa	al attainment					
	Less than I	1igh-scho	ol diploma	High-	school di	ploma		ndary edu achelor's		Postseco bachelor'	-	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.5	(0.2)	-	1.4	(0.2)	-	1.1	(0.5)	-
Level 3	2.0	(0.3)	**	1.8	(0.2)	**	1.8	(0.2)	**	1.2	(0.4)	-
Level 4 or 5	8.6	(7.4)	_	1.7	(0.4)	-	2.2	(0.3)	*	1.6	(0.5)	-

Numeracy						Self-repo	rted health						
						Pos	itive						
						Educationa	l attainment						
	Less than h	Less than high-school diploma High-school diploma Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher dds ratio SE p-value Odds ratio SE p-value Odds ratio SE p-value											
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0			
Level 2	1.5	(0.2)	*	1.4	(0.2)	-	1.3	(0.2)	-	0.9	(0.4)	-	
Level 3	2.0	(0.3)	*	1.9	(0.2)	**	1.6	(0.2)	*	1.0	(0.4)	-	
Level 4 or 5	2.4	(1.4)	-	1.5	(0.4)	-	2.9	(0.4)	*	1.7	(0.5)	-	

PS-TRE						•	rted health					
							sitive					
						Educationa	I attainment			_ .		
	Less than I	nigh-scho	ool diploma	High-	school di	ploma		ndary edu achelor's			-	ucation – or higher
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Below Level 1	1.2	(0.2)	-	0.9	(0.2)	-	1.2	(0.2)	-	1.3	(0.3)	-
Level 1	1.5	(0.2)	-	1.2	(0.2)	-	1.7	(0.2)	**	1.6	(0.3)	-
Level 2 or 3	1.7	(0.3)	_	1.4	(0.2)	_	2.0	(0.2)	***	2.3	(0.2)	**

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

² PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Notes:

Table 2.7a

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by longstanding illness or activity limitation due to longstanding illness, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Longstand	ing illness			Activity lim	itation	
	Y	es	I	No	-	ed/Limited but everely	Not limi	ted at all
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	30	(0.5)	70	(0.5)	59	(0.8)	41	(0.8)
Newfoundland and Labrador	36	(1.3)	64	(1.3)	58	(2.3)	42	(2.3)
Prince Edward Island	36	(1.5)	64	(1.5)	57	(2.6)	43	(2.6)
Nova Scotia	41	(1.3)	59	(1.3)	63	(2.1)	37	(2.1)
New Brunswick	36	(1.4)	64	(1.4)	57	(2.2)	43	(2.2)
Quebec	28	(0.7)	72	(0.7)	51	(1.3)	49	(1.3)
Ontario	31	(0.8)	69	(0.8)	63	(1.4)	37	(1.4)
Manitoba	31	(1.4)	69	(1.4)	59	(3.6)	41	(3.6)
Saskatchewan	33	(1.8)	67	(1.8)	62	(3.2)	38	(3.2)
Alberta	29	(1.7)	71	(1.7)	56	(3.6)	44	(3.6)
British Columbia	29	(1.5)	71	(1.5)	64	(2.7)	36	(2.7)
Yukon	33	(4.1)	67	(4.1)	68	(10.4)	32™	(10.4)
Northwest Territories	29	(1.9)	71	(1.9)	64	(3.5)	36	(3.5)
Nunavut	25	(1.9)	75	(1.9)	72	(3.6)	28	(3.6)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: Self-reported longstanding illnesses or health problems that have lasted, or are expected to last, for 6 months or more.

[™] Use with caution

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by longstanding illness or activity limitation due to longstanding illness and proficiency level or socio-demographic characteristics, Canada, 2012

		Longstand	ing illness			Activity lin	nitation	
	Y	es	r	lo		y limited/ not severely	Not limi	ted at all
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Literacy proficiency level								1
Level 1 or below	33	(1.4)	67	(1.4)	71	(2.1)	29	(2.1)
Level 2	32	(0.9)	68	(0.9)	59	(1.5)	41	(1.5)
Level 3	29	(1.0)	71	(1.0)	56	(1.6)	44	(1.6)
Level 4 or 5	29	(1.5)	71	(1.5)	55	(3.1)	45	(3.1)
Numeracy proficiency level								
_evel 1 or below	33	(1.1)	67	(1.1)	70	(2.2)	30	(2.2)
_evel 2	31	(1.0)	69	(1.0)	59	(1.8)	41	(1.8)
Level 3	30	(1.0)	70	(1.0)	55	(1.8)	45	(1.8)
Level 4 or 5	28	(1.8)	72	(1.8)	51	(3.0)	49	(3.0)
PS-TRE proficiency level								
PS-TRE non-respondents	38	(1.2)	62	(1.2)	68	(1.7)	32	(1.7)
Below Level 1	33	(1.5)	67	(1.5)	64	(2.4)	36	(2.4)
evel 1	30	(1.0)	70	(1.0)	56	(1.8)	44	(1.8)
Level 2 or 3	26	(1.0)	74	(1.0)	54	(1.7)	46	(1.7)
\ge group								
6 to 24	16	(0.9)	84	(0.9)	64	(2.9)	36	(2.9)
25 to 34	21	(1.1)	79	(1.1)	60	(3.2)	40	(3.2)
35 to 44	27	(1.0)	73	(1.0)	58	(2.2)	42	(2.2)
15 to 54	35	(0.8)	65	(0.8)	61	(1.6)	39	(1.6)
55 to 65	49	(1.2)	51	(1.2)	57	(1.4)	43	(1.4)
lender								
Nale	29	(0.7)	71	(0.7)	58	(1.2)	42	(1.2)
emale	32	(0.7)	68	(0.7)	61	(1.2)	39	(1.2)
ducational attainment								
ess than high-school diploma	35	(1.2)	65	(1.2)	69	(1.9)	31	(1.9)
ligh-school diploma	29	(1.0)	71	(1.0)	61	(1.8)	39	(1.8)
Postsecondary education – below pachelor's degree	33	(0.9)	67	(0.9)	59	(1.7)	41	(1.7)
Postsecondary education – bachelor's legree or higher	26	(1.0)	74	(1.0)	51	(1.7)	49	(1.7)
mmigrant status								
Recent immigrants	16	(1.1)	84	(1.1)	58	(3.2)	42	(3.2)
Established immigrants	30	(1.5)	70	(1.5)	57	(2.5)	43	(2.5)
Canadian-born	32	(0.6)	68	(0.6)	60	(0.9)	40	(0.9)
ndigenous identification								
ndigenous	40	(1.4)	60	(1.4)	66	(2.1)	34	(2.1)
Non-Indigenous	30	(0.6)	70	(0.6)	59	(0.9)	41	(0.9)

Table 2.7b (cont'd)

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by longstanding illness or activity limitation due to longstanding illness and proficiency level or socio-demographic characteristics, Canada, 2012

		Longstand	ing illness			Activity li	mitation	
	ר	es	I	No		/ limited/ not severely	Not limi	ted at all
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Employment status								
Employed	28	(0.6)	72	(0.6)	53	(1.0)	47	(1.0)
Unemployed	24	(2.1)	76	(2.1)	73	(4.1)	27	(4.1)
Not in labour force	43	(1.2)	57	(1.2)	74	(1.5)	26	(1.5)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: Self-reported longstanding illnesses or health problems that have lasted, or are expected to last, for 6 months or more.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

x Suppressed to meet the confidentiality requirements of the Statistics Act

Table 2.7c

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting a longstanding illness or activity limitation due to longstanding illness, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy	L	ongstanding illnes	S		Activity limitation						
		Yes		Severely lim	ited/Limited but r	not severely					
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value					
Level 1 or below	0.9	(0.2)	_	1.5	(0.2)	*					
Level 2	1.0	(0.1)	_	1.0	(0.2)	-					
Level 3	0.9	(0.1)	_	1.0	(0.2)	-					
Level 4 or 5	1.0			1.0							
Numeracy	L	ongstanding illnes	s		Activity limitation						
		Yes		Severely lim	ited/Limited but r	not severely					
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value					
Level 1 or below	0.8	(0.2)	_	1.6	(0.2)	*					
Level 2	0.9	(0.1)	-	1.2	(0.2)	-					
Level 3	1.0	(0.1)	-	1.1	(0.2)	-					
Level 4 or 5	1.0			1.0							
PS-TRE	L	ongstanding illnes	s		Activity limitation						
		Yes		Severely lim	ited/Limited but r	not severely					
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value					
PS-TRE non-respondents	0.9	(0.1)	_	1.6	(0.1)	***					
Below Level 1	0.9	(0.1)	_	1.4	(0.1)	*					
Level 1	1.0	(0.1)	_	1.1	(0.1)	_					
Level 2 or 3	1.0			1.0							

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

² Self-reported longstanding illnesses or health problems that have lasted, or are expected to last, for 6 months or more.

- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant

 * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Table 2.8a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by level of trust, gender and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy	Gender												
		Ма	ale			Fem	ale						
		Level o	of trust			Level o	f trust						
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative					
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE					
Level 1 or below	19	(1.6)	81	(1.6)	17	(1.5)	83	(1.5)					
Level 2	23	(1.3)	77	(1.3)	23	(1.2)	77	(1.2)					
Level 3	28	(1.4)	72	(1.4)	37	(1.4)	63	(1.4)					
Level 4 or 5	36	(2.4)	64	(2.4)	45	(2.6)	55	(2.6)					
Numeracy				Gei	nder								
		Ма			. <u></u>	Fem							
		Level o				Level a							
		itive		ative		sitive	Negative						
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE					
Level 1 or below	20	(1.7)	80	(1.7)	19	(1.3)	81	(1.3)					
Level 2	24	(1.6)	76	(1.6)	28	(1.5)	72	(1.5)					
Level 3	28	(1.5)	72	(1.5)	38	(1.4)	62	(1.4)					
Level 4 or 5	33	(2.1)	67	(2.1)	45	(3.2)	55	(3.2)					
PS-TRE				Gei	nder								
		Ма	-		1	Fem							
		Level o				Level o							
		itive	-	ative		sitive		ative					
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE					
PS-TRE non-respondents	18	(1.5)	82	(1.5)	23	(1.5)	77	(1.5)					
Below Level 1	22	(2.2)	78	(2.2)	20	(1.7)	80	(1.7)					

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

27

31

(1.4)

(1.4)

Note: PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

73

69

(1.4)

(1.4)

29

39

(1.6)

(1.4)

71

61

(1.6)

(1.4)

SE Standard error

Level 1

Level 2 or 3

Table 2.8b

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by level of trust, age group and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy										Age g	roup									
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 t	o 44			45 t	o 54		55 to 65			
		Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust		Level of trust			Level of trust				Level of trust				
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	jative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	16™	(2.8)	84	(2.8)	18™	(3.0)	82	(3.0)	20	(2.6)	80	(2.6)	18	(2.2)	82	(2.2)	18	(2.0)	82	(2.0)
Level 2	22	(2.1)	78	(2.1)	20	(2.2)	80	(2.2)	22	(2.1)	78	(2.1)	25	(1.7)	75	(1.7)	26	(1.7)	74	(1.7)
Level 3	27	(1.8)	73	(1.8)	31	(2.2)	69	(2.2)	31	(1.9)	69	(1.9)	38	(1.9)	62	(1.9)	36	(2.4)	64	(2.4)
Level 4 or 5	35	(4.0)	65	(4.0)	41	(4.1)	59	(4.1)	37	(3.1)	63	(3.1)	42	(3.6)	58	(3.6)	46	(5.1)	54	(5.1)
NI																				

Numeracy									Aye yroup											
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 to	o 44			45 to	o 54		55 to 65			
		Level o	of trust			Level o	f trust		Level of trust			Level of trust				Level of trust				
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	17™	(2.9)	83	(2.9)	19	(2.9)	81	(2.9)	18	(2.3)	82	(2.3)	19	(1.9)	81	(1.9)	20	(1.7)	80	(1.7)
Level 2	24	(2.3)	76	(2.3)	23	(3.0)	77	(3.0)	26	(2.3)	74	(2.3)	28	(2.3)	72	(2.3)	28	(1.8)	72	(1.8)
Level 3	28	(2.2)	72	(2.2)	32	(2.7)	68	(2.7)	32	(2.5)	68	(2.5)	37	(2.3)	63	(2.3)	35	(3.0)	65	(3.0)
Level 4 or 5	31	(4.8)	69	(4.8)	40	(3.9)	60	(3.9)	33	(3.9)	67	(3.9)	41	(3.6)	59	(3.6)	44	(5.5)	56	(5.5)

PS-TRE										Age g	jroup									
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 t	o 44			45 t	o 54			55 t	0 65	
		Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust		Level of trust				Level o	of trust		Level of trust				
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non- respondents	25™	(4.4)	75	(4.4)	21™	(4.5)	79	(4.5)	20	(2.3)	80	(2.3)	20	(2.2)	80	(2.2)	21	(1.5)	79	(1.5)
Below Level 1	17™	(3.6)	83	(3.6)	17™	(3.2)	83	(3.2)	21	(3.3)	79	(3.3)	22	(2.3)	78	(2.3)	25	(2.2)	75	(2.2)
Level 1	23	(2.4)	77	(2.4)	23	(2.3)	77	(2.3)	27	(2.5)	73	(2.5)	33	(1.9)	67	(1.9)	33	(2.2)	67	(2.2)
Level 2 or 3	27	(1.8)	73	(1.8)	35	(2.2)	65	(2.2)	34	(1.9)	66	(1.9)	41	(2.2)	59	(2.2)	42	(3.4)	58	(3.4)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

[™] Use with caution

Table 2.8c

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by level of trust, educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy							E	ducational	l attainm	ent							
	Less	than high	-school a	liploma	I	High-scho	ol diplor	na		tsecondar Iow bache			Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher				
		Level	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust		
	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	
Level 1 or below	15	(1.6)	85	(1.6)	18	(2.1)	82	(2.1)	21	(2.4)	79	(2.4)	22™	(4.1)	78	(4.1)	
Level 2	21	(1.9)	79	(1.9)	20	(1.6)	80	(1.6)	23	(1.4)	77	(1.4)	31	(2.7)	69	(2.7)	
Level 3	27	(3.6)	73	(3.6)	26	(1.9)	74	(1.9)	30	(1.5)	70	(1.5)	42	(1.7)	58	(1.7)	
Level 4 or 5	U	(13.7)	60 [™]	(13.7)	30	(4.4)	70	(4.4)	36	(3.6)	64	(3.6)	45	(2.2)	55	(2.2)	
Numeracy		1.6 1.6 1.6 1.8 (2.1) 1.2 (1.2) <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>															
	Less	than high	-school a	liploma	High-school diploma					-				Postsecondary educatior bachelor's degree or high			
		Level	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust		
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	
Level 1 or below	16	(1.6)	84	(1.6)	19	(1.8)	81	(1.8)	21	(2.0)	79	(2.0)	22	(3.2)	78	(3.2)	
Level 2	23	(2.3)	77	(2.3)	23	(1.9)	77	(1.9)	24	(1.5)	76	(1.5)	37	(2.8)	63	(2.8)	
Level 3	26	(3.6)	74	(3.6)	25	(2.1)	75	(2.1)	31	(1.6)	69	(1.6)	43	(2.0)	57	(2.0)	
Level 4 or 5	U	(12.3)	67™	(12.3)	28™	(5.5)	72	(5.5)	36	(3.6)	64	(3.6)	41	(2.2)	59	(2.2)	
PS-TRE							E	ducational	l attainm	ent							
	Less	than high	-school a	liploma	I	High-scho	ol diplon	na		tsecondar Iow bache	-			secondar ielor's de			
		Level	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust		
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	
PS-TRE non- respondents	18	(1.8)	82	(1.8)	21	(2.1)	79	(2.1)	19	(1.8)	81	(1.8)	32	(3.4)	68	(3.4)	
Below Level 1	17	(2.2)	83	(2.2)	19	(2.1)	81	(2.1)	23	(2.2)	77	(2.2)	28	(3.2)	72	(3.2)	
Level 1	22	(2.8)	78	(2.8)	21	(1.8)	79	(1.8)	28	(1.7)	72	(1.7)	38	(2.2)	62	(2.2)	
Level 2 or 3	25	(3.6)	75	(3.6)	27	(1.8)	73	(1.8)	32	(2.1)	68	(2.1)	43	(1.6)	57	(1.6)	

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

[™] Use with caution

Table 2.9a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive level of trust, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy		Level of trust	
		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0		
Level 2	1.2	(0.1)	-
Level 3	1.8	(0.1)	***
Level 4 or 5	2.1	(0.1)	***
Numeracy		Level of trust	
		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0	'	
Level 2	1.3	(0.1)	**
Level 3	1.7	(0.1)	***
Level 4 or 5	1.9	(0.1)	***
PS-TRE		Level of trust	
		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0		
Below Level 1	1.0	(0.1)	-
Level 1	1.3	(0.1)	**
Level 2 or 3	1.7	(0.1)	***

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Table 2.9b

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive level of trust, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Level	of trust								
	Positive														
	Educational attainment														
	Less than	high-scho	ol diploma	High-	-school dip	loma	Postsecond bac	ary educat helor's deg		Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher					
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value			
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0					
Level 2	1.5	(0.2)	*	1.2	(0.2)	-	1.1	(0.2)	-	1.3	(0.3)	-			
Level 3	2.2	(0.3)	**	1.6	(0.2)	**	1.6	(0.2)	**	1.8	(0.3)	*			
Level 4 or 5	3.9	(0.6)	*	2.1	(0.3)	*	2.0	(0.2)	**	2.0	(0.3)	*			
Numeracy						Level	of trust								
						Pos	sitive								
						Educationa	I attainment								
	Less than	high-scho	ol diploma	High-	-school dip	loma	Postsecond bac	ary educat helor's deg			ondary edu 's degree d				
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value			
Level 1 or below	1.0		1	1.0		1	1.0		1	1.0					
Level 2	1.5	(0.2)	*	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.2	(0.1)	-	1.7	(0.2)	*			
Level 3	1.7	(0.3)	*	1.4	(0.2)	*	1.6	(0.2)	-	1.9	(0.2)	**			
Level 4 or 5	2.3	(0.6)	-	1.8	(0.3)	-	2.1	(0.1)	**	1.9	(0.2)	**			
PS-TRE						Level	of trust								
						Pos	sitive								
						Educationa	l attainment								
	Less than	high-schoo	ol diploma	High-	-school dip	loma	Postsecond bac	ary educat helor's deg			ondary edu 's degree d				
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value			
PS-TRE non- respondents	1.0		·	1.0			1.0		·	1.0					
Below Level 1	1.1	(0.2)	-	0.9	(0.2)	-	1.2	(0.2)	-	0.9	(0.2)	-			
Level 1	1.5	(0.3)	-	1.1	(0.2)	-	1.6	(0.2)	**	1.2	(0.2)	_			
Level 2 or 3	1.8	(0.3)	*	1.7	(0.2)	**	2.0	(0.2)	***	1.4	(0.2)	_			

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Table 2.10a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by volunteer participation, gender and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy				Ge	nder				
		М	ale			Fen	nale		
		Volunteer p	participation			Volunteer p	articipation		
	Volu	nteered	Did not v	olunteer	Volun	iteered	Did not volunteer		
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	
_evel 1 or below	28	(1.8)	72	(1.8)	31	(1.9)	69	(1.9)	
_evel 2	39	(1.5)	61	(1.5)	47	(1.3)	53	(1.3)	
_evel 3	52	(1.5)	48	(1.5)	60	(1.1)	40	(1.1)	
Level 4 or 5	63	(2.6)	37	(2.6)	67	(2.2)	33	(2.2)	
Numeracy			-	Gei	nder				
		М	ale			Fen	nale		
		Volunteer p	participation		Volunteer p	articipation			
	Volu	nteered	Did not v	olunteer	Volun	iteered	Did not	volunteer	
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	
evel 1 or below	30	(1.8)	70	(1.8)	36	(1.7)	64	(1.7)	
_evel 2	41	(1.7)	59	(1.7)	51	(1.5)	49	(1.5)	
_evel 3	51	(1.5)	49	(1.5)	62	(1.3)	38	(1.3)	
Level 4 or 5	61	(2.2)	39	(2.2)	66	(2.9)	34	(2.9)	
PS-TRE				Gei	nder				
		М	ale			Fen	nale		
		Volunteer p	participation			Volunteer p	articipation		
	Volu	nteered	Did not v	olunteer	Volun	iteered	Did not volunteer		
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	

Below Level 1 34 (2.1) 66 (2.1) 39 (2.1) Level 1 45 (1.6) 55 (1.6) 54 (1.5) Level 2 or 3 57 (1.4) 43 (1.4) 63 (1.3)

(1.9)

32

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

68

(1.9)

35

(1.8)

65

61

46

37

(1.8)

(2.1)

(1.5)

(1.3)

SE Standard error

PS-TRE non-respondents
Table 2.10b

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by volunteer participation, age group and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy										Age g	roup									
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 to	o 44			45 te	o 54			55 t	o 65	
	Vol	unteer p	articipa	ation	Volu	unteer p	articipa	ation	Volu	unteer pa	articipa	tion	Volu	unteer p	articipa	tion	Vol	unteer p	articipa	ition
	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Volun	teered		not nteer	Volun	teered		not nteer	Volun	teered		l not nteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	39	(3.8)	61	(3.8)	28	(3.9)	72	(3.9)	32	(3.6)	68	(3.6)	27	(2.3)	73	(2.3)	27	(2.0)	73	(2.0)
Level 2	52	(2.6)	48	(2.6)	38	(2.2)	62	(2.2)	43	(2.3)	57	(2.3)	43	(2.2)	57	(2.2)	40	(2.3)	60	(2.3)
Level 3	60	(2.2)	40	(2.2)	51	(2.2)	49	(2.2)	57	(2.1)	43	(2.1)	59	(1.9)	41	(1.9)	53	(2.9)	47	(2.9)
Level 4 or 5	66	(4.1)	34	(4.1)	55	(3.6)	45	(3.6)	68	(3.2)	32	(3.2)	72	(3.8)	28	(3.8)	69	(4.7)	31	(4.7)
Numeracy										Age g	roun									

Numeracy										Age g	roup									
		16 te	o 24			25 to	o 34			35 to	o 44			45 to	o 54			55 to	o 65	
	Vol	unteer p	articipa	tion	Volu	unteer p	articipa	tion	Volu	unteer pa	articipa	tion	Volu	unteer pa	articipa	ition	Volu	unteer p	articipa	tion
	Volun	teered		not nteer	Volun	teered		not nteer	Volun	teered		not nteer	Volun	teered		not nteer	Volun	teered	Did volu	not nteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	45	(3.0)	55	(3.0)	32	(3.3)	68	(3.3)	34	(3.1)	66	(3.1)	30	(2.5)	70	(2.5)	30	(1.9)	70	(1.9)
Level 2	54	(2.3)	46	(2.3)	42	(2.4)	58	(2.4)	47	(2.3)	53	(2.3)	48	(2.2)	52	(2.2)	43	(2.1)	57	(2.1)
Level 3	60	(2.8)	40	(2.8)	51	(2.2)	49	(2.2)	57	(2.2)	43	(2.2)	58	(2.1)	42	(2.1)	52	(2.4)	48	(2.4)
Level 4 or 5	62	(4.7)	38	(4.7)	53	(3.8)	47	(3.8)	67	(3.2)	33	(3.2)	70	(3.0)	30	(3.0)	66	(4.6)	34	(4.6)

PS-TRE										Age g	Iroup									
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 te	o 44			45 te	o 54			55 te	0 65	
	Vol	unteer p	articipa	ation	Vol	unteer p	articipa	ation	Volu	unteer p	articipa	ation	Vol	unteer p	articipa	ation	Vol	unteer p	articipa	ation
	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Volun	teered		l not inteer	Volur	iteered		l not inteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE												
PS-TRE non- respondents	49	(4.7)	51	(4.7)	30	(4.3)	70	(4.3)	33	(3.0)	67	(3.0)	31	(2.2)	69	(2.2)	33	(1.9)	67	(1.9)
Below Level 1	39	(4.5)	61	(4.5)	35	(3.9)	65	(3.9)	36	(3.6)	64	(3.6)	38	(2.4)	62	(2.4)	36	(2.6)	64	(2.6)
Level 1	53	(2.6)	47	(2.6)	43	(2.6)	57	(2.6)	49	(2.4)	51	(2.4)	53	(2.0)	47	(2.0)	49	(2.4)	51	(2.4)
Level 2 or 3	61	(1.9)	39	(1.9)	52	(2.1)	48	(2.1)	63	(2.1)	37	(2.1)	67	(2.0)	33	(2.0)	63	(3.0)	37	(3.0)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

Table 2.10c

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by volunteer participation, educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy							Edu	cationa	l attainr	nent						
	Les	ss than l dipl	nigh-sc oma	hool	Hi	gh-schoo	ol diplo	ma		econdar w bache	•			econdar lor's de	•	
	Vol	unteer p	articip	ation	Volu	unteer pa	articipa	ation	Volu	unteer p	articip	ation	Vol	unteer p	articipa	ation
	Volur	teered		d not inteer	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Volun	teered		d not inteer	Volun	teered		l not nteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	31	(2.2)	69	(2.2)	26	(2.5)	74	(2.5)	30	(2.3)	70	(2.3)	34	(4.1)	66	(4.1)
Level 2	42	(2.6)	58	(2.6)	40	(2.0)	60	(2.0)	43	(1.5)	57	(1.5)	51	(2.3)	49	(2.3)
Level 3	64	(3.5)	36	(3.5)	53	(1.6)	47	(1.6)	54	(1.6)	46	(1.6)	60	(1.5)	40	(1.5)
Level 4 or 5	81	(10.7)	U	(10.7)	61	(4.6)	39	(4.6)	61	(3.6)	39	(3.6)	67	(2.3)	33	(2.3)
Numeracy							Edu	cationa	l attainı	nent						
	Le	ss than l dipl	nigh-sc oma	hool	Hi	gh-schoo	ol diplo	ma		econdar w bache				econdar lor's de		
	Vol	unteer p	articip	ation	Volu	unteer pa	articipa	ation	Volu	unteer p	articip	ation	Vol	unteer p	articipa	ition
	Volur	teered		d not inteer	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Volun	teered		d not inteer	Volun	teered		l not nteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	32	(1.9)	68	(1.9)	30	(2.5)	70	(2.5)	35	(2.2)	65	(2.2)	42	(3.7)	58	(3.7)
Level 2	44	(3.0)	56	(3.0)	44	(2.6)	56	(2.6)	47	(1.6)	53	(1.6)	53	(2.3)	47	(2.3)
Level 3	66	(4.1)	34	(4.1)	52	(2.3)	48	(2.3)	52	(1.8)	48	(1.8)	61	(1.7)	39	(1.7)
Level 4 or 5	79	(9.2)	U	(9.2)	59	(5.0)	41	(5.0)	59	(3.1)	41	(3.1)	65	(2.3)	35	(2.3)
PS-TRE							Edu	cationa	l attainr	nent						
	Le	ss than l dipl	nigh-sc oma	hool	Hi	gh-schoo	ol diplo	ma		econdar w bache				econdar lor's de		
	Vol	unteer p	articip	ation	Volu	unteer pa	articipa	ation	Volu	unteer p	articip	ation	Vol	unteer p	articipa	ition
	Volur	teered		d not inteer	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Volun	teered		l not inteer	Volun	teered		l not nteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	28	(1.9)	72	(1.9)	29	(2.2)	71	(2.2)	40	(2.2)	60	(2.2)	42	(3.5)	58	(3.5)
Below Level 1	34	(3.1)	66	(3.1)	34	(3.1)	66	(3.1)	36	(2.4)	64	(2.4)	46	(3.8)	54	(3.8)
Level 1	50	(3.5)	50	(3.5)	44	(2.0)	56	(2.0)	48	(1.6)	52	(1.6)	56	(2.5)	44	(2.5)
Level 2 or 3	71	(3.3)	29	(3.3)	56	(2.0)	44	(2.0)	56	(1.6)	44	(1.6)	65	(1.5)	35	(1.5)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 2.11a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 volunteering, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy		Volunteer participation	
		Volunteered	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0	·	
Level 2	1.6	(0.1)	***
Level 3	2.5	(0.1)	***
Level 4 or 5	3.2	(0.1)	***
Numeracy		Volunteer participation	
		Volunteered	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0		
Level 2	1.6	(0.1)	***
Level 3	2.1	(0.1)	***
Level 4 or 5	2.6	(0.1)	***
PS-TRE		Volunteer participation	
		Volunteered	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Below Level 1	1.1	(0.1)	_
Level 1	1.6	(0.1)	***
Level 2 or 3	2.4	(0.1)	***

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

² PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant

- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Table 2.11b

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 volunteering, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy					1	Volunteer p	articipatio	n				
						Volun	teered					
					E	Educationa	l attainme	nt				
	Less t	han high diploma		High-	school di	ploma		ondary ed bachelor's	lucation – s degree			lucation – e or higher
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.2	(0.2)	-	1.7	(0.2)	**	1.6	(0.1)	***	1.7	(0.2)	*
Level 3	2.4	(0.2)	***	2.7	(0.2)	***	2.5	(0.1)	***	2.1	(0.2)	***
Level 4 or 5	5.1	(0.7)	*	3.8	(0.3)	***	3.3	(0.2)	***	2.6	(0.2)	***
Numeracy						Volunteer p	articipatio	n				
						Volun	teered					
					E	Educationa	l attainme	nt				
	Less t	han high diploma		High-	school di	ploma		ondary ed bachelor':	lucation – s degree			lucation – e or higher
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0		·	1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.7	(0.2)	**	1.5	(0.1)	**	1.3	(0.2)	-
Level 3	2.8	(0.2)	-	2.4	(0.2)	***	1.9	(0.1)	***	1.5	(0.2)	*
Level 4 or 5	4.8	(0.2)	***	3.1	(0.3)	***	2.5	(0.2)	***	1.9	(0.2)	**
PS-TRE						Volunteer p	articipatio	n				
						Volun	teered					
					E	Educationa	l attainme	nt				
	Less t	han high diploma		High-	school di	ploma		ondary ed bachelor'	lucation – s degree			lucation – e or higher
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Below Level 1	1.1	(0.2)	-	1.2	(0.2)	-	0.9	(0.1)	-	1.3	(0.2)	-
Level 1	1.6	(0.2)	*	1.6	(0.1)	***	1.3	(0.1)	*	1.7	(0.2)	**
Level 2 or 3	3.1	(0.2)	***	2.6	(0.2)	***	1.8	(0.1)	***	2.3	(0.2)	_

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

² PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant
- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Table 2.12a

Numero

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by political efficacy, gender and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy				Gen	der			
		Ма	le			Fem	nale	
		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	29	(2.0)	71	(2.0)	30	(1.8)	70	(1.8)
Level 2	36	(1.5)	64	(1.5)	40	(1.6)	60	(1.6)
Level 3	49	(1.6)	51	(1.6)	53	(1.4)	47	(1.4)
Level 4 or 5	59	(2.4)	41	(2.4)	63	(2.6)	37	(2.6)

Numeracy				uen	luci			
		Ма	ale			Fem	nale	
		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	31	(1.9)	69	(1.9)	33	(1.6)	67	(1.6)
Level 2	38	(1.8)	62	(1.8)	45	(1.5)	55	(1.5)
Level 3	47	(1.7)	53	(1.7)	54	(1.8)	46	(1.8)
Level 4 or 5	58	(2.6)	42	(2.6)	64	(3.3)	36	(3.3)

Condo

PS-TRE				Gen	der			
		Ма	le			Fen	nale	
		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	32	(2.1)	68	(2.1)	35	(2.1)	65	(2.1)
Below Level 1	32	(2.4)	68	(2.4)	33	(2.2)	67	(2.2)
Level 1	42	(1.8)	58	(1.8)	45	(1.7)	55	(1.7)
Level 2 or 3	53	(1.7)	47	(1.7)	58	(1.8)	42	(1.8)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

Table 2.12b

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by political efficacy, age group and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy										Age g	roup									
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 te	o 44			45 te	o 54			55 t	o 65	
		Political	efficac	;y		Political	efficac	y		Political	efficac	ÿ		Political	efficad	;y		Political	efficac	y
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	jative												
	%	SE	%	SE																
Level 1 or below	29	(3.6)	71	(3.6)	32	(4.3)	68	(4.3)	32	(3.5)	68	(3.5)	30	(2.8)	70	(2.8)	27	(2.5)	73	(2.5)
Level 2	40	(2.7)	60	(2.7)	39	(2.9)	61	(2.9)	37	(2.7)	63	(2.7)	39	(2.2)	61	(2.2)	36	(1.7)	64	(1.7)
Level 3	49	(2.4)	51	(2.4)	52	(2.6)	48	(2.6)	49	(2.3)	51	(2.3)	53	(2.1)	47	(2.1)	52	(2.6)	48	(2.6)
Level 4 or 5	63	(4.1)	37	(4.1)	58	(3.6)	42	(3.6)	59	(3.4)	41	(3.4)	62	(4.0)	38	(4.0)	65	(5.2)	35	(5.2)
Numeracy										Age o	roup		-							

Numeracy										Aye y	nouh									
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 te	o 44			45 to	o 54			55 to	65	
		Political	efficad	ÿ		Political	efficac	у	I	Political	efficac	у		Political	efficac	у	I	Political	efficac	y
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative												
	%	SE	%	SE																
Level 1 or below	33	(3.5)	67	(3.5)	37	(3.5)	63	(3.5)	32	(3.1)	68	(3.1)	32	(2.7)	68	(2.7)	29	(1.9)	71	(1.9)
Level 2	43	(3.0)	57	(3.0)	42	(2.9)	58	(2.9)	42	(2.9)	58	(2.9)	41	(2.4)	59	(2.4)	40	(2.0)	60	(2.0)
Level 3	48	(3.0)	52	(3.0)	50	(3.0)	50	(3.0)	48	(2.5)	52	(2.5)	54	(2.4)	46	(2.4)	50	(2.7)	50	(2.7)
Level 4 or 5	58	(4.8)	42	(4.8)	60	(3.8)	40	(3.8)	60	(3.9)	40	(3.9)	60	(3.9)	40	(3.9)	62	(5.1)	38	(5.1)

PS-TRE										Age g	roup									
		16 t	o 24			25 t	o 34			35 t	o 44			45 t	o 54			55 t	0 65	
		Political	efficac	y		Political	efficac	у		Political	efficac	у		Political	efficac	y		Political	efficac	у
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative																
	%	SE	%	SE																
PS-TRE non- respondents	39	(5.2)	61	(5.2)	30	(4.5)	70	(4.5)	37	(3.6)	63	(3.6)	34	(2.8)	66	(2.8)	32	(1.8)	68	(1.8)
Below Level 1	32	(4.6)	68	(4.6)	34	(4.8)	66	(4.8)	33	(4.3)	67	(4.3)	34	(3.3)	66	(3.3)	31	(2.8)	69	(2.8)
Level 1	40	(3.0)	60	(3.0)	42	(3.6)	58	(3.6)	42	(2.5)	58	(2.5)	46	(2.5)	54	(2.5)	48	(2.3)	52	(2.3)
Level 2 or 3	51	(2.3)	49	(2.3)	56	(2.2)	44	(2.2)	53	(2.2)	47	(2.2)	60	(2.2)	40	(2.2)	61	(3.3)	39	(3.3)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by political efficacy, educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy							Ed	ucational	attainm	ent						
	Less t	han high-	school (diploma	H	ligh-scho	ol diplor	na		secondar ow bache	-			secondar elor's deg	-	
		Political	efficacy	1		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	1		Political	efficacy	1
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	25	(2.3)	75	(2.3)	29	(2.7)	71	(2.7)	31	(2.8)	69	(2.8)	42	(5.1)	58	(5.1)
Level 2	30	(2.7)	70	(2.7)	37	(2.0)	63	(2.0)	37	(2.0)	63	(2.0)	50	(2.9)	50	(2.9)
Level 3	45	(4.2)	55	(4.2)	48	(2.4)	52	(2.4)	46	(1.9)	54	(1.9)	61	(1.9)	39	(1.9)
Level 4 or 5	67™	(11.3)	U	(11.3)	55	(6.0)	45	(6.0)	50	(3.7)	50	(3.7)	68	(2.1)	32	(2.1)
Numeracy							Ed	ucational	attainm	ent						

·····,																
	Less t	han high-	school	diploma	H	ligh-scho	ol diplor	na		secondar ow bache	-			secondar elor's de	-	
		Political	efficacy	/		Political	efficacy	,		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	,
	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Negative	
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	26			33	(2.4)	67	(2.4)	34	(2.7)	66	(2.7)	46	(4.4)	54	(4.4)	
Level 2	33	(2.9)	67	(2.9)	40	(2.0)	60	(2.0)	39	(1.8)	61	(1.8)	55	(2.6)	45	(2.6)
Level 3	44	(4.6)	56	(4.6)	47	(2.5)	53	(2.5)	45	(2.0)	55	(2.0)	60	(2.0)	40	(2.0)
Level 4 or 5	58 ^M (14.3) U (14.3)		52	(5.8)	48	(5.8)	51	(3.7)	49	(3.7)	67	(2.0)	33	(2.0)		
PS-TRE							Ed	ucational	attainm	ent						

PS-TRF

ro-Inc																
	Less t	han high-	school (diploma	H	ligh-scho	ol diplor	na		secondar ow bache	-			secondar ielor's de		
		Political	efficacy	I		Political	efficacy	I		Political	efficacy	I		Political	efficacy	1
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	27	(2.2)	73	(2.2)	33	(2.9)	67	(2.9)	35	(2.5)	65	(2.5)	50	(4.2)	50	(4.2)
Below Level 1	25	(2.8)	75	(2.8)	31	(3.4)	69	(3.4)	32	(3.0)	68	(3.0)	48	(4.4)	52	(4.4)
Level 1	32	(3.1)	68	(3.1)	41	(2.5)	59	(2.5)	42	(2.1)	58	(2.1)	55	(2.5)	45	(2.5)
Level 2 or 3	49	(4.3)	51	(4.3)	52	(2.5)	48	(2.5)	48	(2.3)	52	(2.3)	65	(1.7)	35	(1.7)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive political efficacy, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy		Political efficacy	
		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0		1
Level 2	1.3	(0.1)	**
Level 3	2.1	(0.1)	***
Level 4 or 5	2.8	(0.1)	***
Numeracy		Political efficacy	
		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0		
Level 2	1.3	(0.1)	***
Level 3	1.8	(0.1)	***
Level 4 or 5	2.4	(0.1)	***
PS-TRE		Political efficacy	
		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0		
Below Level 1	0.9	(0.1)	-
Level 1	1.4	(0.1)	***
Level 2 or 3	2.1	(0.1)	***

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

² PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of < 0.001

Table 2.13b

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive political efficacy, by educational attainment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Political	efficacy					
						Pos	itive					
					E	ducationa	l attainme	ent				
	Less t	han high diploma		High-	school d	iploma						ducation – e or higher
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.2	(0.2)	-	1.5	(0.2)	*	1.4	(0.2)	*	1.3	(0.3)	-
Level 3	2.2	(0.2)	**	2.4	(0.2)	***	2.2	(0.2)	***	1.9	(0.2)	**
Level 4 or 5	5.0	(0.5)	**	3.1	(0.3)	***	2.6	(0.2)	***	2.5	(0.3)	**
Numeracy						Political	efficacy					
						Pos	itive					
					E	ducationa	l attainme	ent				
	Less t	han high diploma		High-	school d	iploma						ducation – e or higher
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.4	(0.1)	*	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.4	(0.2)	-
Level 3	2.1	(0.2)	**	1.8	(0.2)	***	1.7	(0.2)	***	1.6	(0.2)	*
Level 4 or 5	3.4	(0.6)	-	2.2	(0.3)	**	2.3	(0.2)	*	2.2	(0.2)	**
PS-TRE						Political	efficacy					
						Pos	itive					
					E	ducationa	l attainme	ent				
	Less t	han high diploma		High-	school d	iploma	Postseco below b	ndary ed achelor'	lucation – s degree	Postseco bachelor	ondary eo 's degree	ducation – e or higher
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Below Level 1	0.9	(0.2)	-	1.0	(0.2)	-	0.9	(0.2)	-	0.8	(0.3)	-
Level 1	1.2	(0.2)	-	1.5	(0.2)	*	1.4	(0.1)	*	1.1	(0.2)	-
Level 2 or 3	2.3	(0.3)	**	2.5	(0.2)	***	1.9	(0.2)	***	1.7	(0.2)	**

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, Indigenous identification, immigrant status, employment status and testing language.

² PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant

 * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Table 3.1

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and Indigenous identification, Canada and oversampled populations, 2012

	Indigenous	S	Self-reported health ¹				Level o	f trust ²		Vol	unteer pa	articipat	tion ³	Political efficacy ⁴			I ⁴
	identification	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	Indigenous	79	(1.1)	21	(1.1)	22	(1.3)	78	(1.3)	49	(1.2)	51	(1.2)	41	(1.4)	59	(1.4)
	Non-Indigenous	89	(0.3)	11	(0.3)	28	(0.5)	72	(0.5)	49	(0.5)	51	(0.5)	45	(0.5)	55	(0.5)
Ontario	Indigenous	75	(2.5)	25	(2.5)	24	(2.3)	76	(2.3)	50	(2.5)	50	(2.5)	45	(2.9)	55	(2.9)
	Non-Indigenous	89	(0.6)	11	(0.6)	27	(0.9)	73	(0.9)	50	(1.1)	50	(1.1)	50	(1.1)	50	(1.1)
Manitoba	Indigenous	82	(2.2)	18	(2.2)	18™	(3.0)	82	(3.0)	52	(3.1)	48	(3.1)	41	(3.2)	59	(3.2)
	Non-Indigenous	89	(1.0)	11	(1.0)	31	(1.8)	69	(1.8)	56	(1.9)	44	(1.9)	55	(1.9)	45	(1.9)
Saskatchewan	Indigenous	74	(2.5)	26	(2.5)	24	(3.2)	76	(3.2)	52	(3.5)	48	(3.5)	41	(3.6)	59	(3.6)
	Non-Indigenous	88	(1.2)	12	(1.2)	33	(1.7)	67	(1.7)	60	(2.2)	40	(2.2)	55	(2.1)	45	(2.1)
British	Indigenous	74	(3.4)	26	(3.4)	28	(3.4)	72	(3.4)	49	(3.9)	51	(3.9)	47	(3.9)	53	(3.9)
Columbia	Non-Indigenous	88	(1.1)	12	(1.1)	30	(1.5)	70	(1.5)	55	(1.5)	45	(1.5)	54	(2.0)	46	(2.0)
Yukon	Indigenous	79	(9.6)	U	(9.6)	17™	(4.6)	83	(4.6)	48 [™]	(9.5)	52™	(9.5)	41™	(9.6)	59	(9.6)
	Non-Indigenous	88	(5.0)	U	(5.0)	30™	(7.0)	70	(7.0)	69	(7.1)	31™	(7.1)	72	(4.4)	28	(4.4)
Northwest	Indigenous	81	(2.2)	19	(2.2)	22	(2.1)	78	(2.1)	58	(3.0)	42	(3.0)	50	(3.1)	50	(3.1)
Territories	Non-Indigenous	89	(1.4)	11	(1.4)	34	(2.0)	66	(2.0)	69	(2.2)	31	(2.2)	63	(3.3)	37	(3.3)
Nunavut	Indigenous	73	(2.1)	27	(2.1)	16	(1.4)	84	(1.4)	49	(2.7)	51	(2.7)	40	(2.6)	60	(2.6)
	Non-Indigenous	89	(3.1)	11™	(3.1)	40	(3.0)	60	(3.0)	71	(3.8)	29	(3.8)	61	(5.0)	39	(5.0)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

³ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

⁴ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

^M Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 3.2a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by self-reported health, Indigenous identification and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy		Indigenous identification										
		Indig	enous			Non-Ind	igenous					
		Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	ted health					
	Pos	Postive		ative	Pos	itive	Negative					
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE				
Level 1 or below	69	(3.0)	31	(3.0)	80	(1.1)	20	(1.1)				
Level 2	78	(2.3)	22	(2.3)	88	(0.7)	12	(0.7)				
Level 3	84	(2.1)	16	(2.1)	92	(0.5)	8	(0.5)				
Level 4 or 5	91	(3.4)	U	(3.4)	94	(0.9)	6	(0.9)				
Numero		Indiannous identification										

Numeracy	Indigenous identification								
		Indige	enous			Non-Ind	ligenous		
		Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	ted health		
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Posi	itive	Negative		
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	
Level 1 or below	69	(2.3)	31	(2.3)	82	(1.0)	18	(1.0)	
Level 2	81	(2.2)	19	(2.2)	89	(0.7)	11	(0.7)	
Level 3	87	(2.5)	13™	(2.5)	92	(0.6)	8	(0.6)	
Level 4 or 5	93	(2.9)	U	(2.9)	95	(0.8)	5	(0.8)	

DC TDC

PS-TRE	Indigenous identification									
		Indig	enous			Non-Ind	igenous			
		Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	ted health			
	Pos	stive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Negative			
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE		
PS-TRE non-respondents	67	(2.8)	33	(2.8)	80	(1.1)	20	(1.1)		
Below Level 1	75	(3.3)	25	(3.3)	85	(1.0)	15	(1.0)		
Level 1	82	(2.4)	18	(2.4)	91	(0.5)	9	(0.5)		
Level 2 or 3	87	(2.3)	13 [™]	(2.3)	94	(0.5)	6	(0.5)		

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 3.2b

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by level of trust, Indigenous identification and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy		Indigenous identification										
		Indig	enous			Non-Ind	igenous					
		Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust					
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Negative					
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE				
Level 1 or below	17	(2.4)	83	(2.4)	18	(1.1)	82	(1.1)				
Level 2	20	(2.5)	80	(2.5)	23	(0.9)	77	(0.9)				
Level 3	26	(3.0)	74	(3.0)	33	(0.9)	67	(0.9)				
Level 4 or 5	36 ^M	(7.3)	64	(7.3)	40	(2.0)	60	(2.0)				
Numoraov		Indigonous identification										

Numeracy	Indigenous identification								
		Indige	enous			Non-Ind	igenous		
		Level o	f trust			Level o	f trust		
	Posi	tive	Nega	ative	Posi	tive	Negative		
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	
Level 1 or below	17	(1.8)	83	(1.8)	19	(0.9)	81	(0.9)	
Level 2	22	(2.4)	78	(2.4)	26	(1.1)	74	(1.1)	
Level 3	27 (3.1)		73	(3.1)	33	(1.1)	67	(1.1)	
Level 4 or 5	40 ^M	(7.9)	60	(7.9)	37	(1.9)	63	(1.9)	

PS-TRE	Indigenous identification										
		Indige	enous			Non-Ind	igenous				
		Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust				
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Negative				
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE			
PS-TRE non-respondents	21	(2.6)	79	(2.6)	21	(1.1)	79	(1.1)			
Below Level 1	18	(2.9)	82	(2.9)	21	(1.3)	79	(1.3)			
Level 1	22	(2.4)	78	(2.4)	28	(1.1)	72	(1.1)			
Level 2 or 3	28	(2.7)	72	(2.7)	35	(1.1)	65	(1.1)			

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

[™] Use with caution

Table 3.2c

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by volunteer participation, Indigenous identification and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy				Indigenous i	dentification			
		Indig	enous			Non-Ind	igenous	
		Volunteer p	articipation			Volunteer p	articipation	
	Volun	teered	Did not v	volunteer	Volun	teered	Did not	volunteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	35	(2.8)	65	(2.8)	29	(1.4)	71	(1.4)
Level 2	49	(2.7)	51	(2.7)	43	(1.1)	57	(1.1)
Level 3	57	(3.1)	43	(3.1)	56	(0.9)	44	(0.9)
Level 4 or 5	61	(6.9)	39™	(6.9)	65	(1.9)	35	(1.9)

Numeracy	Indigenous identification Indigenous Non-Indigenous Volunteer participation Volunteer participation Volunteered Did not volunteer Volunteered Did not volunteer										
		Indige	enous			Non-Ind	igenous				
		Volunteer pa	articipation			Volunteer p	articipation				
	Volunt	teered	Did not v	olunteer	Volunt	eered	Did not v	volunteer			
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE			
Level 1 or below	38	(2.5)	62	(2.5)	33	(1.4)	67	(1.4)			
Level 2	52	(3.1)	48	(3.1)	47	(1.1)	53	(1.1)			
Level 3	59	(3.5)	41	(3.5)	56	(1.0)	44	(1.0)			
Level 4 or 5	52	(7.7)	48	(7.7)	63	(1.8)	37	(1.8)			

anava idantificati

PS-TRE Indigenous identification Indigenous Non-Indigenous Volunteer participation Volunteer participation Volunteered Did not volunteer Volunteered Did not volunteer % % SE % SE SE SE % PS-TRE non-respondents 34 (2.7)66 (2.7)33 (1.3)(1.3) 67 Below Level 1 40 (3.8) 60 (3.8) 36 (1.6) 64 (1.6) Level 1 55 (2.8) 45 (2.8) 49 51 (1.1)(1.1) Level 2 or 3 58 (2.8) 42 (2.8) 60 (1.0) 40 (1.0)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

[™] Use with caution

Table 3.2d

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by political efficacy, Indigenous identification and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy				Indigenous i	dentification						
		Indige	enous			Non-Ind	igenous				
		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy				
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative			
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE			
Level 1 or below	33	(3.4)	67	(3.4)	29	(1.4)	71	(1.4)			
Level 2	37	(2.9)	63	(2.9)	38	(1.1)	62	(1.1)			
Level 3	50	(3.6)	50	(3.6)	51	(1.1)	49	(1.1)			
Level 4 or 5	49	(7.8)	51	(7.8)	61	(1.8)	39	(1.8)			
Numoraov		Indiagnous identification									

Numeracy				Indigenous id	dentification		2) 68 (1.2)				
		Indige	enous			Non-Ind	igenous				
		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy				
	Posi	tive	Nega	tive	Posit	tive	Nega	tive			
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE			
Level 1 or below	35	(2.7)	65	(2.7)	32	(1.2)	68	(1.2)			
Level 2	41	(3.0)	59	(3.0)	41	(1.0)	59	(1.0)			
Level 3	49	(4.0)	51	(4.0)	50	(1.3)	50	(1.3)			
Level 4 or 5	48 [™]	(8.8)	52 ^M	(8.8)	60	(2.1)	40	(2.1)			

PS-TRE Indigenous identification Indigenous Non-Indigenous **Political efficacy Political efficacy** Positive Negative Positive Negative % SE % SE % SE % SE PS-TRE non-respondents 36 (2.9)64 (2.9)34 (1.5) 66 (1.5) Below Level 1 35 (4.5) 65 (4.5) 33 (1.8) 67 (1.8) Level 1 41 (3.4) 59 (3.4) 44 (1.3) 56 (1.3) Level 2 or 3 51 (3.4) 49 (3.4) 56 (1.3) 44 (1.3)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

Table 3.3

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of Indigenous populations aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Indigenous	populations					
	Self-r	eported h	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	st³	Volunte	eer partici	pation ⁴	Poli	tical effic	acy⁵
	Positive				Positive		v	/olunteere	d		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0		·	1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.2	(0.3)	-	1.6	(0.2)	*	1.0	(0.2)	-
Level 3	1.4	(0.2)	-	1.7	(0.2)	*	2.0	(0.2)	**	1.5	(0.2)	-
Level 4 or 5	2.1	(0.5)	-	2.4	(0.4)	*	2.2	(0.3)	*	1.2	(0.3)	-

Nume	eracy						Indigenous	populations					
		Self-ı	reported he	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	t ³	Volunt	eer partici	pation⁴	Poli	tical effica	icy⁵
			Positive			Positive		l v	olunteere	d		Positive	
		Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level	1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level	2	1.4	(0.2)	-	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.5	(0.2)	*	1.0	(0.2)	-
Level	3	1.8	(0.3)	*	1.7	(0.2)	*	2.0	(0.2)	**	1.3	(0.3)	-
Level	4 or 5	2.7	(0.5)	*	2.8	(0.4)	*	1.4	(0.3)	-	1.1	(0.4)	-

PS-TRE						Indigenous	populations					
	Self-r	eported h	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	st ³	Volunte	er partici	pation ⁴	Poli	tical effic	acy⁵
		Positive			Positive		v	olunteere	d		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Below Level 1	1.1	(0.2)	-	0.9	(0.3)	-	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.0	(0.3)	-
Level 1	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.1	(0.2)	-	2.1	(0.2)	***	1.1	(0.2)	-
Level 2 or 3	1.4	(0.3)	-	1.5	(0.3)	-	2.2	(0.2)	***	1.4	(0.2)	-

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status and testing language.

- ² PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.
- ³ PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.
- ⁴ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."
- ⁵ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.
- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant
- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001
- SE Standard error

Table 3.4

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and immigrant status, Canada and oversampled populations, 2012

	Immigrant status	Se	elf-repor	ted heal	th1		Level o	f trust ²		Vol	unteer p	articipa	tion ³		Political	efficacy	/ ⁴
		Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	Recent immigrants	93	(0.6)	7	(0.6)	22	(1.2)	78	(1.2)	37	(1.3)	63	(1.3)	46	(1.6)	54	(1.6)
	Established immigrants	85	(1.0)	15	(1.0)	25	(1.4)	75	(1.4)	40	(1.5)	60	(1.5)	46	(1.7)	54	(1.7)
	Canadian-born	89	(0.4)	11	(0.4)	29	(0.6)	71	(0.6)	52	(0.6)	48	(0.6)	44	(0.6)	56	(0.6)
Quebec	Recent immigrants	95	(1.2)	5™	(1.2)	27	(2.5)	73	(2.5)	28	(2.4)	72	(2.4)	35	(2.9)	65	(2.9)
	Established immigrants	86	(2.0)	14	(2.0)	28	(2.1)	72	(2.1)	36	(2.6)	64	(2.6)	32	(2.7)	68	(2.7)
	Canadian-born	91	(0.5)	9	(0.5)	32	(0.8)	68	(0.8)	37	(0.7)	63	(0.7)	20	(0.7)	80	(0.7)
Ontario	Recent immigrants	93	(1.2)	7	(1.2)	19	(1.9)	81	(1.9)	34	(2.2)	66	(2.2)	48	(2.4)	52	(2.4)
	Established immigrants	85	(1.3)	15	(1.3)	24	(1.9)	76	(1.9)	37	(2.2)	63	(2.2)	47	(2.7)	53	(2.7)
	Canadian-born	89	(0.8)	11	(0.8)	28	(1.1)	72	(1.1)	57	(1.4)	43	(1.4)	52	(1.4)	48	(1.4)
British	Recent immigrants	90	(1.9)	10 ^M	(1.9)	27	(3.1)	73	(3.1)	44	(3.0)	56	(3.0)	48	(3.8)	52	(3.8)
Columbia	Established immigrants	85	(2.8)	15™	(2.8)	29	(3.9)	71	(3.9)	44	(4.1)	56	(4.1)	53	(4.8)	47	(4.8)
	Canadian-born	88	(1.2)	12	(1.2)	32	(1.8)	68	(1.8)	61	(1.9)	39	(1.9)	56	(2.2)	44	(2.2)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

³ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

⁴ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

Table 3.5a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by self-reported health, immigrant status and and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Immigra	nt status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	immigrants	6		Canadia	an-born	
		Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	rted health			Self-repor	ted health	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	gative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	89	(1.7)	11	(1.7)	77	(2.5)	23	(2.5)	79	(1.4)	21	(1.4)
Level 2	93	(1.3)	7 [™]	(1.3)	87	(1.9)	13	(1.9)	87	(0.8)	13	(0.8)
Level 3	95	(1.2)	5™	(1.2)	89	(2.1)	11 ^M	(2.1)	92	(0.5)	8	(0.5)
Level 4 or 5	97	(1.6)	U	(1.6)	89	(4.0)	U	(4.0)	95	(0.9)	5™	(0.9)

Numeracy	Immigrant status												
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	immigrants	;		Canadia	an-born		
		Self-repo	rted health			Self-repo	rted health			Self-repor	ted health		
	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	
Level 1 or below	90	(1.3)	10	(1.3)	79	(2.2)	21	(2.2)	80	(1.2)	20	(1.2)	
Level 2	93	(1.5)	7™	(1.5)	85	(2.1)	15	(2.1)	89	(0.8)	11	(0.8)	
Level 3	94	(1.4)	6 ^м	(1.4)	89	(2.3)	11™	(2.3)	92	(0.7)	8	(0.7)	
Level 4 or 5	97	(1.5)	U	(1.5)	92	(3.3)	U	(3.3)	95	(0.8)	5™	(0.8)	

PS-TRE						Immigra	nt status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	immigrants	6		Canadia	an-born	
-		Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	ted health	
	Positive		Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
-	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	87	(2.1)	13	(2.1)	77	(2.6)	23	(2.6)	78	(1.3)	22	(1.3)
Below Level 1	93	(1.7)	7™	(1.7)	82	(2.5)	18	(2.5)	84	(1.2)	16	(1.2)
Level 1	94	(1.1)	6™	(1.1)	88	(2.2)	12™	(2.2)	91	(0.6)	9	(0.6)
Level 2 or 3	97	(0.7)	3м	(0.7)	92	(1.7)	8 ^M	(1.7)	93	(0.5)	7	(0.5)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 3.5b

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by level of trust, immigrant status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Immigra	nt status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	immigrants	6		Canadia	an-born	
		Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust	
	Pos	itive	Neg	jative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	19	(2.5)	81	(2.5)	21	(3.0)	79	(3.0)	17	(1.3)	83	(1.3)
Level 2	21	(2.6)	79	(2.6)	24	(2.6)	76	(2.6)	23	(1.1)	77	(1.1)
Level 3	25	(2.4)	75	(2.4)	28	(2.9)	72	(2.9)	34	(1.1)	66	(1.1)
Level 4 or 5	32™	(5.8)	68	(5.8)	34™	(6.2)	66	(6.2)	41	(2.2)	59	(2.2)

Numeracy						Immigra	nt status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	immigrants	5		Canadia	an-born	
		Level	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust	
	Pos	Positive Negative				itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	18	(2.1)	82	(2.1)	21	(2.3)	79	(2.3)	18	(1.2)	82	(1.2)
Level 2	22	(2.4)	78	(2.4)	26	(2.9)	74	(2.9)	27	(1.3)	73	(1.3)
Level 3	27	(2.4)	73	(2.4)	27	(3.4)	73	(3.4)	34	(1.1)	66	(1.1)
Level 4 or 5	30™	(5.1)	70	(5.1)	33™	(5.8)	67	(5.8)	39	(2.2)	61	(2.2)

PS-TRE						Immigra	nt status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	immigrants	S		Canadia	an-born	
		Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	21	(3.1)	79	(3.1)	22	(2.3)	78	(2.3)	20	(1.2)	80	(1.2)
Below Level 1	20	(2.5)	80	(2.5)	20	(3.1)	80	(3.1)	22	(1.5)	78	(1.5)
Level 1	21	(1.9)	79	(1.9)	30	(3.0)	70	(3.0)	28	(1.2)	72	(1.2)
Level 2 or 3	28	(2.8)	72	(2.8)	27	(3.2)	73	(3.2)	36	(1.2)	64	(1.2)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

[™] Use with caution

Table 3.5c

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by volunteer participation, immigrant status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Immigra	ant status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	l immigrants	S		Canadi	an-born	
		Volunteer p	participation	ı		Volunteer	participation	1		Volunteer p	participation	
	Volunteered Did not					nteered	Did not	volunteer	Volun	teered	Did not	volunteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	23	(2.8)	77	(2.8)	26	(3.0)	74	(3.0)	33	(1.8)	67	(1.8)
Level 2	36	(2.7)	64	(2.7)	38	(2.9)	62	(2.9)	45	(1.3)	55	(1.3)
Level 3	47	(3.2)	53	(3.2)	49	(3.1)	51	(3.1)	58	(1.0)	42	(1.0)
Level 4 or 5	50	(6.7)	50	(6.7)	56	(5.3)	44	(5.3)	67	(2.1)	33	(2.1)

Numeracy						Immigra	ant status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	l immigrants	;		Canadi	an-born	
		Volunteer p	participation	1		Volunteer p	participation			Volunteer p	articipation	l
	Volun	teered	Did not	volunteer	Volun	teered	Did not	volunteer	Volun	teered	Did not	volunteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	25	(2.2)	75	(2.2)	29	(2.8)	71	(2.8)	37	(1.7)	63	(1.7)
Level 2	39	(2.9)	61	(2.9)	42	(2.9)	58	(2.9)	49	(1.2)	51	(1.2)
Level 3	45	(2.8)	55	(2.8)	46	(3.3)	54	(3.3)	58	(1.1)	42	(1.1)
Level 4 or 5	47	(4.5)	53	(4.5)	53	(5.6)	47	(5.6)	66	(1.9)	34	(1.9)

PS-TRE						Immigra	ant status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	l immigrants	S		Canad	ian-born	
-		Volunteer p	participatior	1		Volunteer p	participation	l		Volunteer	participation	1
	Volur	iteered	Did not	volunteer	Volur	nteered	Did not	volunteer	Volur	iteered	Did not	volunteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	24	(2.3)	76	(2.3)	24	(2.5)	76	(2.5)	40	(1.6)	60	(1.6)
Below Level 1	33	(3.3)	67	(3.3)	35	(3.4)	65	(3.4)	38	(2.1)	62	(2.1)
Level 1	39	(3.0)	61	(3.0)	46	(3.1)	54	(3.1)	51	(1.2)	49	(1.2)
Level 2 or 3	48	(3.0)	52	(3.0)	53	(3.4)	47	(3.4)	62	(1.1)	38	(1.1)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

Table 3.5d

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by political efficacy, immigrant status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Immigra	nt status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	immigrants	;		Canadia	an-born	
		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative	Pos	sitive	Nega	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	36	(3.4)	64	(3.4)	36	(3.7)	64	(3.7)	26	(1.6)	74	(1.6)
Level 2	43	(2.8)	57	(2.8)	43	(3.2)	57	(3.2)	36	(1.4)	64	(1.4)
Level 3	55	(3.4)	45	(3.4)	54	(3.9)	46	(3.9)	50	(1.1)	50	(1.1)
Level 4 or 5	60	(5.9)	40	(5.9)	61	(8.0)	39™	(8.0)	61	(1.8)	39	(1.8)

Numeracy						Immigra	nt status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	immigrants	6		Canadia	an-born	
		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	
	Pos	Positive Negative % SF % SF				itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	38	(3.2)	62	(3.2)	38	(3.3)	62	(3.3)	29	(1.5)	71	(1.5)
Level 2	46	(3.4)	54	(3.4)	46	(3.6)	54	(3.6)	40	(1.3)	60	(1.3)
Level 3	51	(3.7)	49	(3.7)	50	(4.2)	50	(4.2)	50	(1.4)	50	(1.4)
Level 4 or 5	56	(5.9)	44	(5.9)	60	(6.1)	40	(6.1)	60	(2.3)	40	(2.3)

PS-TRE						Immigra	nt status					
		Recent in	nmigrants			Established	immigrants	5		Canadia	an-born	
		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	42	(3.8)	58	(3.8)	37	(3.4)	63	(3.4)	32	(1.6)	68	(1.6)
Below Level 1	41	(3.3)	59	(3.3)	42	(4.3)	58	(4.3)	29	(2.1)	71	(2.1)
Level 1	43	(3.1)	57	(3.1)	49	(3.8)	51	(3.8)	43	(1.4)	57	(1.4)
Level 2 or 3	56	(3.0)	44	(3.0)	56	(4.3)	44	(4.3)	56	(1.3)	44	(1.3)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

Table 3.6a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of recent immigrants aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Recent ir	nmigrants							
	Self-r	eported h	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	t ³	Volunt	eer particip	ation⁴	Poli	tical effica	iCy⁵		
		Positive			Positive		N N	/olunteerec	I		Positive			
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value		
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		·		
Level 2	1.2	(0.3)	-	1.1	(0.3)	-	1.7	(0.3)	-	1.3	(0.2)	-		
Level 3	1.3	(0.4)	-	1.4	(0.2)	-	2.5	(0.2)	***	2.0	(0.2)	**		
Level 4 or 5	2.2	(0.7)	-	1.8	(0.3)	_	3.0	(0.3)	**	2.6	(0.3)	**		
Numeracy		2.2 (0.7) – 1.8 (0.3) – 3.0 (0.3) ^{**} 2.6 (0.3) ^{**} Recent immigrants												

	Self-	reported he	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	it ³	Volunt	eer particip	oation ⁴	Poli	itical effica	cy⁵
		Positive			Positive		۱ I	/olunteered	I		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.0	(0.3)	-	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.7	(0.2)	*	1.3	(0.2)	-
Level 3	1.0	(0.3)	-	1.6	(0.2)	*	2.1	(0.2)	***	1.5	(0.2)	*
Level 4 or 5	1.8	(0.6)	-	1.7	(0.3)	-	2.2	(0.3)	**	1.8	(0.3)	-

PS-TRE						Recent in	nmigrants					
	Self-r	eported h	ealth ²	Le	evel of trus	it ³	Volunte	er partici	pation ⁴	Poli	tical effic	acy⁵
		Positive			Positive		v	olunteere	d		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Below Level 1	1.3	(0.3)	-	0.9	(0.2)	-	1.4	(0.2)	-	0.9	(0.2)	-
Level 1	1.4	(0.3)	-	1.0	(0.2)	-	1.8	(0.2)	**	0.9	(0.2)	-
Level 2 or 3	2.3	(0.3)	*	1.5	(0.2)	-	2.4	(0.2)	***	1.6	(0.2)	*

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status and testing language.

² PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

³ PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

- ⁴ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."
- ⁵ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.
- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant
- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001
- SE Standard error

Table 3.6b

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of established immigrants aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Established	l immigrants							
	Self-r	eported h	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	it ³	Volunte	er partici	pation ⁴	Poli	tical effica	acy⁵		
		Positive			Positive		v	olunteere	d		Positive			
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value		
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0				
Level 2	1.5	(0.2)	-	1.2	(0.3)	-	1.5	(0.2)	-	1.2	(0.2)	-		
Level 3	1.6	(0.3)	-	1.4	(0.3)	-	2.1	(0.2)	**	1.9	(0.3)	*		
Level 4 or 5	1.5	(0.5)	-	1.8	(0.4)	-	2.6	(0.3)	**	2.6	(0.4)	*		
Numeracy		Established immigrants												

	Self-r	eported he	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	t ³	Volunt	eer particip	ation ⁴	Poli	itical effica	cy⁵
		Positive			Positive		۱ ا	/olunteered	l		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.2	(0.2)	-	1.3	(0.2)	-	1.4	(0.2)	-	1.3	(0.2)	-
Level 3	1.6	(0.3)	-	1.3	(0.3)	-	1.5	(0.2)	-	1.5	(0.2)	-
Level 4 or 5	1.9	(0.5)	-	1.6	(0.3)	-	1.9	(0.3)	-	2.3	(0.3)	*

PS-TRE						Established	l immigrants					
	Self-r	eported he	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	t ³	Volunte	er partici	pation⁴	Poli	tical effica	acy⁵
		Positive			Positive		v	olunteere	d		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Below Level 1	1.0	(0.2)	-	0.8	(0.3)	-	1.5	(0.2)	*	1.2	(0.2)	-
Level 1	1.5	(0.3)	-	1.4	(0.2)	-	2.2	(0.2)	***	1.5	(0.2)	-
Level 2 or 3	2.1	(0.3)	*	1.3	(0.3)	_	2.8	(0.3)	***	2.1	(0.3)	**

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, employment status and testing language.

- ² PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.
- ³ PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.
- ⁴ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."
- ⁵ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.
- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant
- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001
- SE Standard error

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and employment status, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		S	elf-repor	ted heal	th ¹		Level o	f trust ²		Vol	unteer p	articipa	tion ³		Political	efficacy	I ⁴
	Employment status	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		l not nteer	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	Employed	92	(0.3)	8	(0.3)	30	(0.6)	70	(0.6)	50	(0.6)	50	(0.6)	46	(0.6)	54	(0.6)
	Unemployed	87	(1.6)	13	(1.6)	19	(2.1)	81	(2.1)	44	(2.2)	56	(2.2)	39	(2.8)	61	(2.8)
	Not in labour force	76	(1.0)	24	(1.0)	24	(0.9)	76	(0.9)	44	(1.0)	56	(1.0)	41	(1.2)	59	(1.2)
Newfoundland	Employed	91	(1.0)	9	(1.0)	25	(1.6)	75	(1.6)	54	(1.7)	46	(1.7)	47	(2.1)	53	(2.1)
and Labrador	Unemployed	91	(3.2)	U	(3.2)	16 [™]	(4.1)	84	(4.1)	60	(5.3)	40	(5.3)	49	(7.0)	51	(7.0)
	Not in labour force	72	(2.4)	28	(2.4)	15	(1.9)	85	(1.9)	42	(2.2)	58	(2.2)	37	(2.6)	63	(2.6)
Prince Edward	Employed	91	(1.2)	9	(1.2)	33	(2.1)	67	(2.1)	62	(1.9)	38	(1.9)	45	(2.1)	55	(2.1)
Island	Unemployed	80	(5.7)	20™	(5.7)	23™	(6.0)	77	(6.0)	51	(6.8)	49	(6.8)	36™	(8.6)	64	(8.6)
	Not in labour force	71	(3.6)	29	(3.6)	21	(3.2)	79	(3.2)	53	(4.3)	47	(4.3)	43	(4.0)	57	(4.0)
Nova Scotia	Employed	90	(1.4)	10	(1.4)	28	(1.7)	72	(1.7)	56	(1.6)	44	(1.6)	50	(1.6)	50	(1.6)
	Unemployed	80	(5.0)	20™	(5.0)	14 ^M	(4.2)	86	(4.2)	45	(7.0)	55	(7.0)	41 [™]	(7.4)	59	(7.4)
	Not in labour force	69	(2.6)	31	(2.6)	22	(2.3)	78	(2.3)	52	(2.9)	48	(2.9)	48	(3.2)	52	(3.2)
New	Employed	90	(1.2)	10	(1.2)	29	(1.7)	71	(1.7)	56	(1.9)	44	(1.9)	40	(1.8)	60	(1.8)
Brunswick	Unemployed	81	(5.0)	19™	(5.0)	30™	(6.3)	70	(6.3)	40™	(6.8)	60	(6.8)	26 ^м	(7.6)	74	(7.6)
	Not in labour force	74	(2.3)	26	(2.3)	24	(2.7)	76	(2.7)	50	(3.0)	50	(3.0)	30	(3.5)	70	(3.5)
Quebec	Employed	94	(0.4)	6	(0.4)	33	(0.8)	67	(0.8)	37	(0.8)	63	(0.8)	21	(0.8)	79	(0.8)
	Unemployed	95	(1.5)	5™	(1.5)	20™	(3.5)	80	(3.5)	37	(3.4)	63	(3.4)	25	(4.0)	75	(4.0)
	Not in labour force	80	(1.5)	20	(1.5)	27	(1.2)	73	(1.2)	33	(1.4)	67	(1.4)	26	(1.6)	74	(1.6)
Ontario	Employed	93	(0.6)	7	(0.6)	29	(1.1)	71	(1.1)	51	(1.3)	49	(1.3)	53	(1.3)	47	(1.3)
	Unemployed	86	(2.7)	14 [™]	(2.7)	14 [™]	(3.1)	86	(3.1)	47	(4.5)	53	(4.5)	42	(4.9)	58	(4.9)
	Not in labour force	73	(1.9)	27	(1.9)	21	(1.9)	79	(1.9)	46	(2.1)	54	(2.1)	42	(2.5)	58	(2.5)
Manitoba	Employed	91	(0.8)	9	(0.8)	30	(1.8)	70	(1.8)	57	(1.8)	43	(1.8)	55	(2.0)	45	(2.0)
	Unemployed	79	(7.8)	U	(7.8)	U	(8.2)	81	(8.2)	48™	(10.3)	52™	(10.3)	51™	(10.3)	49™	(10.3)
	Not in labour force	74	(2.8)	26	(2.8)	25™	(4.3)	75	(4.3)	47	(3.9)	53	(3.9)	48	(4.4)	52	(4.4)
Saskatchewan	Employed	89	(1.3)	11	(1.3)	34	(2.0)	66	(2.0)	60	(2.2)	40	(2.2)	56	(2.0)	44	(2.0)
	Unemployed	82	(6.4)	U	(6.4)	U	(10.0)	71	(10.0)	54™	(9.0)	46™	(9.0)	37™	(11.5)	63™	(11.5)
	Not in labour force	71	(3.2)	29	(3.2)	27	(3.6)	73	(3.6)	54	(4.7)	46	(4.7)	48	(4.2)	52	(4.2)
Alberta	Employed	92	(1.2)	8	(1.2)	28	(1.9)	72	(1.9)	56	(1.8)	44	(1.8)	55	(2.2)	45	(2.2)
	Unemployed	75	(11.5)	U	(11.5)	х	х	х	Х	U	(15.5)	65™	(15.5)	U	(11.0)	70	(11.0)
	Not in labour force	84	(3.1)	16 [™]	(3.1)	21 [™]	(3.8)	79	(3.8)	51	(4.2)	49	(4.2)	52	(4.5)	48	(4.5)
British	Employed	91	(1.0)	9	(1.0)	30	(1.8)	70	(1.8)	57	(1.8)	43	(1.8)	53	(2.3)	47	(2.3)
Columbia	Unemployed	87	(4.7)	U	(4.7)	35™	(7.9)	65	(7.9)	46	(7.1)	54	(7.1)	53	(7.5)	47	(7.5)
	Not in labour force	77	(2.9)	23	(2.9)	29	(2.7)	71	(2.7)	50	(3.1)	50	(3.1)	55	(3.8)	45	(3.8)
Yukon	Employed	89	(3.7)	U	(3.7)	26 ^м	(6.8)	74	(6.8)	65	(7.2)	35™	(7.2)	67	(3.8)	33	(3.8)
	Unemployed	88	(9.1)	U	(9.1)	U	(32.6)	U	(32.6)	72™	(17.4)	U	(17.4)	79™	(18.0)	U	(18.0)
	Not in labour force	71	(9.8)	U	(9.8)	U	(10.8)	69	(10.8)	58™	(15.3)	U	(15.3)	U	(18.6)	U	(18.6)
Northwest	Employed	87	(1.2)	13	(1.2)	30	(2.0)	70	(2.0)	68	(2.0)	32	(2.0)	59	(2.9)	41	(2.9)
Territories	Unemployed	84	(7.2)	U	(7.2)	U	(6.4)	86	(6.4)	61	(9.6)	39™	(9.6)	38™	(10.6)	62™	(10.6)
	Not in labour force	78	(3.4)	22	(3.4)	23™	(4.0)	77	(4.0)	49	(5.1)	51	(5.1)	55	(5.3)	45	(5.3)

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and employment status, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

		Se	elf-repor	ted heal	th1		Level o	of trust ²		Vol	unteer pa	articipat	ion ³		Political	efficacy	4
	Employment status	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		not nteer	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Nunavut	Employed	80	(2.2)	20	(2.2)	22	(2.2)	78	(2.2)	60	(2.6)	40	(2.6)	47	(2.5)	53	(2.5)
	Unemployed	71	(5.6)	29™	(5.6)	18™	(5.5)	82	(5.5)	49	(7.6)	51	(7.6)	39м	(7.7)	61	(7.7)
	Not in labour force	67	(4.6)	33	(4.6)	16 ^м	(3.2)	84	(3.2)	36	(4.4)	64	(4.4)	38	(4.3)	62	(4.3)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

- ¹ PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.
- ² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.
- ³ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."
- ⁴ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.
- [™] Use with caution
- U Too unreliable to be published
- x Suppressed to meet the confidentiality requirements of the Statistics Act
- SE Standard error

Table 4.2a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by self-reported health, employment status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Employm	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	ployed			Not in lab	our force	
		Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	rted health			Self-repor	ted health	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	87	(1.4)	13	(1.4)	78	(5.6)	22 ^M	(5.6)	65	(2.1)	35	(2.1)
Level 2	91	(0.8)	9	(0.8)	89	(2.7)	11 ^M	(2.7)	75	(1.7)	25	(1.7)
Level 3	93	(0.5)	7	(0.5)	92	(2.8)	8 ^M	(2.8)	84	(1.8)	16	(1.8)
Level 4 or 5	96	(0.8)	4 ^M	(0.8)	84	(8.2)	U	(8.2)	86	(4.1)	14™	(4.1)

Numeracy						Employm	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	ployed			Not in lab	our force	
		Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	ted health			Self-repor	ted health	
	Pos	Positive Negative				sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	89	(1.0)	11	(1.0)	83	(3.5)	17™	(3.5)	66	(1.8)	34	(1.8)
Level 2	91	(0.6)	9	(0.6)	89	(2.9)	11™	(2.9)	78	(1.8)	22	(1.8)
Level 3	94	(0.6)	6	(0.6)	92	(3.3)	U	(3.3)	85	(1.9)	15	(1.9)
Level 4 or 5	96	(0.7)	4 ^M	(0.7)	84	(10.7)	U	(10.7)	89	(3.8)	U	(3.8)

PS-TRE						Employm	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	ployed			Not in lab	our force	
-		Self-repo	rted health			Self-repor	rted health			Self-repor	ted health	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative
-	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	87	(1.2)	13	(1.2)	77	(5.6)	23™	(5.6)	65	(2.0)	35	(2.0)
Below Level 1	90	(0.9)	10	(0.9)	87	(5.3)	U	(5.3)	69	(2.4)	31	(2.4)
Level 1	93	(0.6)	7	(0.6)	88	(3.2)	12™	(3.2)	81	(1.8)	19	(1.8)
Level 2 or 3	94	(0.5)	6	(0.5)	91	(2.6)	9™	(2.6)	89	(1.7)	11	(1.7)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 4.2b

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by level of trust, employment status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Employm	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	ployed			Not in lab	our force	
		Level	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	19	(1.5)	81	(1.5)	U	(5.3)	85	(5.3)	17	(1.9)	83	(1.9)
Level 2	24	(1.0)	76	(1.0)	16™	(3.5)	84	(3.5)	22	(1.9)	78	(1.9)
Level 3	34	(1.0)	66	(1.0)	22™	(4.1)	78	(4.1)	28	(2.2)	72	(2.2)
Level 4 or 5	41	(2.1)	59	(2.1)	25™	(8.1)	75	(8.1)	37	(4.8)	63	(4.8)

Numeracy						Employme	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	oloyed			Not in lab	our force	
		Level	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust	
	Pos	Positive Negative				sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	20	(1.2)	80	(1.2)	16™	(3.9)	84	(3.9)	17	(1.6)	83	(1.6)
Level 2	27	(1.4)	73	(1.4)	17™	(4.1)	83	(4.1)	24	(1.9)	76	(1.9)
Level 3	34	(1.1)	66	(1.1)	24™	(5.6)	76	(5.6)	29	(2.6)	71	(2.6)
Level 4 or 5	38	(1.9)	62	(1.9)	U	(11.6)	75	(11.6)	36	(5.0)	64	(5.0)

PS-TRE						Employm	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	oloyed			Not in lab	our force	
-		Level	of trust			Level o	of trust			Level o	of trust	
	Positive Negative				Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
-	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	22	(1.3)	78	(1.3)	U	(6.3)	82	(6.3)	19	(1.6)	81	(1.6)
Below Level 1	22	(1.6)	78	(1.6)	U	(5.5)	85	(5.5)	21	(2.6)	79	(2.6)
Level 1	29	(1.3)	71	(1.3)	17™	(3.6)	83	(3.6)	26	(2.7)	74	(2.7)
Level 2 or 3	36	(1.2)	64	(1.2)	22 ^м	(3.9)	78	(3.9)	29	(2.7)	71	(2.7)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 4.2c

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by volunteer participation, employment status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Employm	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	ployed			Not in la	bour force	
		Volunteer p	participation	ı		Volunteer p	articipation	1		Volunteer p	participation	1
	Volun	iteered	Did not	volunteer	Volur	nteered	Did not	volunteer	Volun	iteered	Did not	volunteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	30	(1.8)	70	(1.8)	32™	(6.0)	68	(6.0)	28	(2.1)	72	(2.1)
Level 2	44	(1.2)	56	(1.2)	46	(5.1)	54	(5.1)	39	(2.4)	61	(2.4)
Level 3	57	(1.1)	43	(1.1)	47	(5.0)	53	(5.0)	56	(2.6)	44	(2.6)
Level 4 or 5	65	(2.2)	35	(2.2)	56™	(10.2)	44 ^M	(10.2)	67	(4.9)	33	(4.9)

Numeracy						Employm	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	ployed			Not in la	oour force	
		Volunteer p	articipation	1		Volunteer p	articipation			Volunteer p	articipation	
	Volun	Volunteered Did not volunteer % SF % SF				teered	Did not	volunteer	Volun	teered	Did not v	volunteer
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	34	(1.8)	66	(1.8)	38	(4.8)	62	(4.8)	30	(2.0)	70	(2.0)
Level 2	47	(1.4)	53	(1.4)	44	(4.7)	56	(4.7)	45	(2.7)	55	(2.7)
Level 3	56	(1.1)	44	(1.1)	48	(6.3)	52	(6.3)	56	(2.9)	44	(2.9)
Level 4 or 5	63	(1.9)	37	(1.9)	62™	(15.2)	U	(15.2)	64	(5.3)	36	(5.3)

PS-TRE						Employm	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	ployed			Not in la	bour force	
-		Volunteer p	participation	1		Volunteer p	participation			Volunteer p	participation	1
	Volun	iteered	Did not	volunteer	Volun	teered	Did not	volunteer	Volur	iteered	Did not	volunteer
-	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	34	(1.6)	66	(1.6)	24 ^M	(4.3)	76	(4.3)	33	(1.8)	67	(1.8)
Below Level 1	38	(1.8)	62	(1.8)	35™	(6.8)	65	(6.8)	32	(2.8)	68	(2.8)
Level 1	50	(1.3)	50	(1.3)	48	(5.0)	52	(5.0)	46	(2.4)	54	(2.4)
Level 2 or 3	60	(1.1)	40	(1.1)	53	(4.6)	47	(4.6)	62	(2.6)	38	(2.6)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 4.2d

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by political efficacy, employment status and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy						Employm	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	oloyed			Not in lab	our force	
		Politica	efficacy			Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	jative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
	%			SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	30	(1.6)	70	(1.6)	27™	(6.4)	73	(6.4)	28	(2.6)	72	(2.6)
Level 2	38	(1.3)	62	(1.3)	33	(5.4)	67	(5.4)	37	(2.4)	63	(2.4)
Level 3	52	(1.2)	48	(1.2)	46	(6.0)	54	(6.0)	50	(2.7)	50	(2.7)
Level 4 or 5	61	(1.9)	39	(1.9)	57™	(10.9)	43™	(10.9)	61	(5.0)	39	(5.0)

Numeracy						Employme	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unemp	loyed			Not in lab	our force	
		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	
	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
	%			SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	33	(1.5)	67	(1.5)	32™	(5.8)	68	(5.8)	30	(2.2)	70	(2.2)
Level 2	42	(1.3)	58	(1.3)	37	(5.5)	63	(5.5)	40	(2.6)	60	(2.6)
Level 3	50	(1.3)	50	(1.3)	44	(6.8)	56	(6.8)	51	(3.3)	49	(3.3)
Level 4 or 5	60	(2.1)	40	(2.1)	56™	(14.6)	U	(14.6)	60	(5.2)	40	(5.2)

PS-TRE						Employm	ent status					
		Emp	loyed			Unem	oloyed			Not in lab	our force	
-		Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy			Political	efficacy	
	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	33	(1.7)	67	(1.7)	35™	(7.7)	65	(7.7)	34	(2.5)	66	(2.5)
Below Level 1	34	(2.1)	66	(2.1)	32™	(8.2)	68	(8.2)	28	(2.5)	72	(2.5)
Level 1	45	(1.5)	55	(1.5)	36	(5.1)	64	(5.1)	43	(2.4)	57	(2.4)
Level 2 or 3	56	(1.4)	44	(1.4)	47	(5.6)	53	(5.6)	55	(3.0)	45	(3.0)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Note: PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 4.3

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of the unemployed population aged 16 to 65 reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, 2012

Literacy						Unemploye	d population					
	Self-r	eported h	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	it ³	Volunt	eer partici	pation⁴	Poli	tical effica	icy⁵
		Positive			Positive		l v	olunteere	d		Positive	
	Odds ratio	• • • • • •			SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.8	(0.5)	-	0.9	(0.5)	-	1.7	(0.4)	-	1.5	(0.5)	-
Level 3	2.2	(0.5)	-	1.3	(0.6)	-	1.7	(0.4)	-	2.8	(0.5)	*
Level 4 or 5	0.9	(0.9)	-	1.3	(0.7)	-	2.5	(0.5)	-	4.4	(0.8)	-
Numeracy						Unemploye	d nonulation					

Numeracy						onempioye	ս բօբանասօր					
	Self-	reported he	alth ²	L	evel of trus	t ³	Volunt	eer particip	ation⁴	Poli	tical effica	cy⁵
		Positive			Positive		١	/olunteered			Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	Odds ratio SE p-value Od 1.0		1.0			1.0			1.0			
Level 2	1.4	(0.4)	-	1.0	(0.5)	-	1.3	(0.3)	-	1.4	(0.4)	-
Level 3	2.1	(0.5)	-	1.5	(0.5)	-	1.6	(0.4)	-	2.1	(0.5)	-
Level 4 or 5	3.6	(0.8)	-	1.2	(0.9)	-	2.4	(0.8)	-	3.6	(0.8)	-

PS-TRE						Unemploye	d population					
	Self-r	eported he	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	t ³	Volunte	er partici	pation⁴	Poli	tical effica	acy⁵
		Positive			Positive		v	olunteere	ł		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Below Level 1	1.0	(0.5)	-	1.0	(0.5)	-	2.1	(0.6)	-	1.0	(0.5)	-
Level 1	1.4	(0.5)	-	1.5	(0.5)	-	1.6	(0.5)	-	1.4	(0.5)	-
Level 2 or 3	2.6	(0.5)	-	1.2	(0.9)	-	2.1	(0.5)	-	2.6	(0.5)	-

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status and testing language.

² PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

³ PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

- ⁴ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."
- ⁵ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.
- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant
- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001
- SE Standard error

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and type of employment, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

	Type of	S	elf-report	ed heal	th1		Level o	f trust ²		Vol	unteer pa	articipa	tion ³		Political	efficacy	l ⁴
	employment	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volun	teered		l not Inteer	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Canada	Secure	93	(0.4)	7	(0.4)	31	(0.8)	69	(0.8)	48	(0.8)	52	(0.8)	46	(0.9)	54	(0.9)
	Precarious	91	(0.9)	9	(0.9)	32	(1.5)	68	(1.5)	54	(1.5)	46	(1.5)	47	(2.0)	53	(2.0)
	No contract	94	(0.8)	6	(0.8)	20	(1.9)	80	(1.9)	45	(2.0)	55	(2.0)	46	(2.6)	54	(2.6)
Newfoundland	Secure	90	(1.3)	10	(1.3)	28	(2.2)	72	(2.2)	53	(2.4)	47	(2.4)	51	(2.8)	49	(2.8)
and Labrador	Precarious	92	(1.8)	8™	(1.8)	22	(3.2)	78	(3.2)	60	(3.7)	40	(3.7)	40	(4.5)	60	(4.5)
	No contract	х	Х	Х	Х	U	(4.5)	87	(4.5)	41 [™]	(7.1)	59	(7.1)	27™	(7.4)	73	(7.4)
Prince Edward	Secure	90	(1.7)	10	(1.7)	33	(3.1)	67	(3.1)	61	(2.5)	39	(2.5)	47	(2.8)	53	(2.8)
Island	Precarious	92	(2.5)	8™	(2.5)	37	(4.2)	63	(4.2)	63	(4.3)	37	(4.3)	38	(5.0)	62	(5.0)
	No contract	x	Х	х	х	28™	(8.1)	72	(8.1)	43™	(8.3)	57	(8.3)	52™	(10.2)	48™	(10.2)
Nova Scotia	Secure	94	(1.2)	6™	(1.2)	27	(2.3)	73	(2.3)	57	(2.3)	43	(2.3)	51	(2.6)	49	(2.6)
	Precarious	84	(3.6)	16 [™]	(3.6)	25	(4.0)	75	(4.0)	53	(3.9)	47	(3.9)	49	(3.5)	51	(3.5)
	No contract	83	(5.1)	17™	(5.1)	22™	(4.9)	78	(4.9)	41	(5.6)	59	(5.6)	50	(6.0)	50	(6.0)
New	Secure	90	(1.2)	10	(1.2)	31	(2.2)	69	(2.2)	55	(2.0)	45	(2.0)	42	(2.6)	58	(2.6)
Brunswick	Precarious	88	(4.3)	U	(4.3)	28	(4.3)	72	(4.3)	58	(4.3)	42	(4.3)	40	(5.2)	60	(5.2)
	No contract	90	(3.4)	U	(3.4)	13™	(4.0)	87	(4.0)	43™	(7.4)	57	(7.4)	26 ^м	(7.5)	74	(7.5)
Quebec	Secure	94	(0.5)	6	(0.5)	34	(1.0)	66	(1.0)	36	(1.1)	64	(1.1)	20	(1.0)	80	(1.0)
	Precarious	95	(0.9)	5™	(0.9)	38	(2.4)	62	(2.4)	42	(2.5)	58	(2.5)	26	(2.6)	74	(2.6)
	No contract	94	(1.7)	6™	(1.7)	26	(3.2)	74	(3.2)	28	(2.8)	72	(2.8)	25	(2.9)	75	(2.9)
Ontario	Secure	94	(0.7)	6	(0.7)	29	(1.6)	71	(1.6)	49	(1.6)	51	(1.6)	54	(1.7)	46	(1.7)
	Precarious	87	(2.4)	13 [™]	(2.4)	26	(2.8)	74	(2.8)	55	(3.4)	45	(3.4)	53	(4.0)	47	(4.0)
	No contract	94	(1.4)	6™	(1.4)	19	(2.8)	81	(2.8)	49	(3.3)	51	(3.3)	49	(3.7)	51	(3.7)
Manitoba	Secure	91	(1.0)	9	(1.0)	28	(2.0)	72	(2.0)	57	(2.2)	43	(2.2)	56	(2.8)	44	(2.8)
	Precarious	92	(3.0)	U	(3.0)	38	(5.4)	62	(5.4)	57	(5.1)	43	(5.1)	48	(6.9)	52	(6.9)
	No contract	87	(2.9)	13 [™]	(2.9)	26™	(5.1)	74	(5.1)	46	(5.4)	54	(5.4)	56	(6.2)	44	(6.2)
Saskatchewan	Secure	90	(1.5)	10	(1.5)	37	(2.6)	63	(2.6)	60	(2.5)	40	(2.5)	56	(2.4)	44	(2.4)
	Precarious	88	(3.2)	12 [™]	(3.2)	24™	(4.7)	76	(4.7)	61	(5.8)	39	(5.8)	45	(5.9)	55	(5.9)
	No contract	90	(3.2)	10 ^м	(3.2)	14™	(4.4)	86	(4.4)	52™	(10.4)	48™	(10.4)	59	(8.1)	41™	(8.1)
Alberta	Secure	92	(1.5)	8™	(1.5)	29	(2.6)	71	(2.6)	55	(2.3)	45	(2.3)	60	(2.8)	40	(2.8)
	Precarious	90	(3.8)	U	(3.8)	31	(5.0)	69	(5.0)	55	(5.3)	45	(5.3)	57	(6.3)	43	(6.3)
	No contract	94	(2.9)	U	(2.9)	18™	(4.7)	82	(4.7)	51	(5.1)	49	(5.1)	45™	(9.1)	55	(9.1)
British	Secure	90	(1.4)	10	(1.4)	32	(2.6)	68	(2.6)	53	(2.4)	47	(2.4)	52	(2.9)	48	(2.9)
Columbia	Precarious	94	(1.8)	6™	(1.8)	41	(5.4)	59	(5.4)	68	(3.5)	32	(3.5)	60	(4.3)	40	(4.3)
	No contract	95	(2.1)	U	(2.1)	21™	(5.1)	79	(5.1)	43	(5.3)	57	(5.3)	56	(7.0)	44	(7.0)
Yukon	Secure	94	(2.1)	6™	(2.1)	28™	(6.6)	72	(6.6)	73	(6.1)	27™	(6.1)	71	(4.6)	29	(4.6)
	Precarious	84	(11.6)	U	(11.6)	U	(12.5)	81	(12.5)	U	(24.2)	U	(24.2)	58™	(13.8)	42™	(13.8)
	No contract	78™	(18.9)	U	(18.9)	U	(14.8)	75™	(14.8)	U	(23.6)	U	(23.6)	72™	(12.9)	U	(12.9)
Northwest	Secure	86	(1.6)	14	(1.6)	31	(2.7)	69	(2.7)	69	(2.5)	31	(2.5)	61	(3.2)	39	(3.2)
Territories	Precarious	87	(3.3)	13 [™]	(3.3)	30	(4.5)	70	(4.5)	65	(3.8)	35	(3.8)	58	(6.6)	42	(6.6)
	No contract	x	x	х	x	х	x	х	x	44 ^M	(8.5)	56	(8.5)	47™	(15.1)	53™	(15.1)

Table 4.4 (cont'd)

Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by health and social outcomes and type of employment, Canada, provinces and territories, 2012

	Type of	S	elf-repor	ted heal	th1		Level o	of trust ²		Vo	unteer pa	articipa	tion ³		Political	efficacy	4
	employment	Pos	sitive	Neg	ative	Pos	itive	Neg	ative	Volur	teered		l not nteer	Pos	itive	Neg	ative
		%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Nunavut	Secure	85	(2.7)	15™	(2.7)	24	(2.7)	76	(2.7)	65	(3.3)	35	(3.3)	51	(3.3)	49	(3.3)
	Precarious	81	(3.2)	19 ^м	(3.2)	19 ^м	(3.3)	81	(3.3)	54	(4.3)	46	(4.3)	42	(3.9)	58	(3.9)
	No contract	73	(10.5)	U	(10.5)	U	(9.2)	79	(9.2)	37™	(11.5)	63™	(11.5)	U	(12.3)	67™	(12.3)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

- ¹ PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.
- ² PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.
- ³ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."
- ⁴ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.
- M Use with caution
- U Too unreliable to be published
- x Suppressed to meet the confidentiality requirements of the Statistics Act
- SE Standard error

Table 4.5

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by type of employment and proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy			Type of e	mployment		
	Secu	ire	Prec	arious	No co	ontract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	68	(1.7)	16	(1.4)	16	(1.4)
Level 2	71	(1.2)	14	(0.9)	14	(1.0)
Level 3	74	(1.1)	15	(0.9)	11	(0.8)
Level 4 or 5	75	(1.8)	17	(1.5)	9	(1.2)
Numeracy			Type of e	mployment		
	Secu	ire	Prec	arious	No co	ontract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	68	(1.7)	16	(1.3)	17	(1.4)
Level 2	72	(1.4)	15	(1.1)	13	(0.9)
Level 3	74	(1.3)	15	(1.0)	10	(0.8)
Level 4 or 5	75	(1.7)	16	(1.6)	9	(1.3)
PS-TRE			Type of e	mployment		
	Secu	ire	Prec	arious	No co	ontract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	72	(1.5)	15	(1.2)	12	(1.2)

(1.9)

(1.3)

(1.1)

15

14

17

(1.4)

(0.9)

(0.9)

15

13

11

(1.5)

(1.0)

(0.8)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

71

73

72

SE Standard error

Below Level 1

Level 2 or 3

Level 1

Table 4.6

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by type of employment, proficiency level and gender, Canada, 2012

Gender												Liter	acy											
		L	evel 1	or bela	w				Le	/el 2					Lev	vel 3					Level	4 or 5		
		Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of ei	mployr	nent	
	See	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Male	68	(2.3)	16	(2.1)	16	(2.0)	71	(1.8)	15	(1.3)	14	(1.5)	74	(1.4)	14	(1.1)	12	(1.1)	76	(2.3)	14	(1.9)	10	(1.7)
Female	68	(2.6)	15	(2.0)	16	(2.0)	72	(1.6)	14	(1.3)	14	(1.2)	74	(1.5)	17	(1.3)	10	(0.9)	73	(2.7)	20	(2.4)	7™	(1.5)
Gender												Nume	eracy											
		L	evel 1	or bela	w				Le	/el 2					Lev	vel 3					Level	4 or 5		
		Type of employment						Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of ei	mployr	nent	
	Secure Precarious No contrac				ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	See	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Male	67	(2.1)	17	(1.8)	16	(1.7)	71	(2.0)	15	(1.7)	14	(1.6)	74	(1.7)	14	(1.3)	11	(1.3)	76	(2.2)	14	(1.9)	10 ^M	(1.7)
Female	68	(2.3)	15	(1.8)	17	(1.8)	73	(1.7)	15	(1.3)	12	(1.1)	74	(1.7)	17	(1.6)	9	(0.9)	74	(2.8)	20	(2.8)	6™	(1.6)
Gender												PS-1	TRE											
		PS-TR	E non-	respo	ndents	;		I	Below	Level	1				Lev	vel 1					Level	2 or 3		
	Type of employment							Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of ei	mployr	nent	
	See	cure	Precarious No contract Secure Pr				Preca	arious	No co	ontract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	See	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract		
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Male	72	(2.0)	16	(1.6)	12	(1.6)	70	(2.3)	15	(1.8)	15	(2.0)	73	(1.8)	14	(1.4)	13	(1.4)	73	(1.4)	15	(1.2)	12	(1.1)
Female	72	(2.1)	15	(1.8)	13	(1.7)	72	(2.7)	14	(2.0)	14	(2.1)	73	(1.7)	14	(1.2)	13	(1.3)	72	(1.5)	18	(1.2)	9	(1.0)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

^M Use with caution

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by type of employment, proficiency level and age group, Canada, 2012

Age												Lite	racy											
group		L	evel 1	or belo	w				Lev	el 2					Lev	vel 3					Level	4 or 5		
		Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent	
	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
16 to 24	49	(5.8)	25 [™]	(4.8)	26 [™]	(5.1)	49	(3.5)	32	(2.9)	19	(2.9)	50	(2.9)	36	(2.8)	14	(1.8)	42	(5.9)	43	(5.8)	15™	(3.8)
25 to 34	66	(5.7)	16™	(3.8)	18™	(4.0)	70	(3.2)	13™	(2.4)	17	(2.6)	72	(2.8)	16	(2.1)	11 [™]	(2.0)	70	(4.1)	22	(3.5)	8™	(2.5)
35 to 44	70	(4.5)	15™	(3.6)	16 [™]	(3.6)	78	(2.3)	9™	(1.6)	13	(1.9)	82	(1.8)	10	(1.3)	8™	(1.3)	86	(2.7)	8™	(2.0)	U	(1.9)
45 to 54	75	(3.0)	14™	(2.4)	12™	(2.3)	80	(2.3)	9	(1.5)	11	(1.7)	83	(2.0)	7	(1.1)	9™	(1.6)	84	(3.3)	6™	(1.7)	10™	(3.0)
55 to 65	69	(3.5)	15™	(2.6)	16 [™]	(2.7)	74	(2.6)	14	(1.9)	12	(1.9)	75	(2.6)	13	(2.1)	11 [™]	(2.0)	74	(5.5)	17™	(4.7)	U	(3.4)
Age										-	-	Nume	eracy								-			
group		L	evel 1	or belo	w				Lev	el 2					Lev	vel 3					Level	4 or 5		
		Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent	
	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
16 to 24	49	(5.4)	25™	(4.9)	26 ^м	(4.8)	49	(3.4)	33	(3.1)	18	(2.5)	50	(3.1)	36	(2.9)	14	(1.8)	43	(5.6)	44	(5.7)	13™	(4.3)
25 to 34	67	(4.6)	15™	(3.2)	18 [™]	(3.4)	69	(3.2)	15	(2.4)	16	(2.5)	72	(2.9)	17	(2.1)	11™	(2.0)	73	(3.9)	18™	(3.4)	9™	(2.5)
35 to 44	70	(3.7)	15™	(2.9)	16 [™]	(3.0)	80	(2.3)	9м	(1.8)	11™	(1.8)	83	(1.9)	9	(1.3)	8™	(1.4)	85	(3.0)	9м	(2.2)	U	(2.1)
45 to 54	74	(2.4)	14	(2.0)	13	(1.9)	81	(1.8)	9	(1.2)	10	(1.6)	84	(1.9)	7	(1.0)	9™	(1.6)	84	(3.3)	U	(1.9)	10™	(3.1)
55 to 65	70	(3.1)	15	(2.2)	16 [™]	(2.6)	75	(2.8)	14	(2.3)	11 [™]	(2.1)	74	(3.3)	14 [™]	(2.5)	12™	(2.4)	78	(5.0)	14 ^M	(4.5)	U	(3.7)
Age												PS-	TRE											
group		PS-TF	RE non-	respo	ndents				Below	Level 1	1				Lev	/el 1					Level	2 or 3		
		Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent	
	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
16 to 24	56	(6.4)	21™	(5.3)	23™	(5.4)	55	(6.6)	25™	(5.9)	20™	(4.9)	49	(3.7)	32	(3.6)	19	(2.8)	46	(2.7)	38	(2.4)	16	(1.8)
25 to 34	73	(5.9)	17™	(4.8)	10 ^м	(2.9)	63	(6.0)	17™	(3.7)	20™	(4.5)	72	(3.1)	14 [™]	(2.4)	14 [™]	(2.4)	71	(2.3)	18	(1.9)	11	(1.7)
35 to 44	78	(3.9)	U	(3.2)	13™	(3.1)	72	(3.7)	15™	(3.2)	13™	(3.2)	80	(2.3)	10	(1.5)	11™	(1.9)	84	(1.8)	9	(1.3)	7™	(1.3)
45 to 54	74	(2.5)	16	(2.2)	10 ^м	(1.7)	76	(2.8)	12	(1.8)	12 [™]	(2.3)	83	(2.0)	7	(1.1)	10 ^м	(1.8)	84	(2.4)	6™	(1.0)	10 ^м	(2.0)
55 to 65	69	(2.7)	17	(1.9)	14 [™]	(2.3)	74	(3.1)	13™	(2.4)	13™	(2.5)	75	(2.9)	13	(2.0)	12™	(2.3)	77	(3.6)	13™	(2.6)	10 ^м	(2.8)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 4.8

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by type of employment, proficiency level and educational attainment, Canada, 2012

Educational												Lite	racy															
attainment		L	evel 1	or belo	ow				Lev	/el 2			Level 3							Level 4 or 5								
	Type of employment							Type of employment						Тур	mployr	nent		Type of employment										
	Se	cure	Precarious		No contract		Secure		Precarious		No co	ontract	Se	Secure		Precarious		No contract		cure	Prec	arious	No co	ontract				
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE				
Less than high- school diploma	61	(3.5)	19	(2.8)	20	(2.9)	60	(4.0)	21	(2.7)	19 ^м	(3.4)	55	(4.9)	28	(4.6)	16 ^м	(3.9)	U	(22.1)	U	(22.3)	x	х				
High school diploma	69	(3.2)	18	(2.9)	13 [™]	(2.2)	67	(2.4)	17	(1.8)	15	(1.8)	65	(2.4)	20	(1.7)	16	(1.8)	54	(5.5)	30™	(5.5)	16 ^м	(3.9)				
Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	75	(3.2)	11	(1.8)	14™	(2.9)	75	(2.0)	11	(1.3)	14	(1.7)	76	(1.6)	12	(1.3)	12	(1.3)	78	(3.3)	12™	(2.8)	10 ^м	(2.3)				
Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	64	(5.6)	17™	(4.5)	20 ^M	(4.5)	79	(2.4)	12	(1.9)	9м	(1.7)	81	(1.9)	15	(1.4)	5™	(1.0)	78	(2.1)	15	(1.8)	6 ^м	(1.3)				
Educational												Nume	eracy															
attainment	Level 1 or below							Level 2							Level 3							Level 4 or 5						
		Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of ei	mployr	nent			Тур	e of e	mployr	nent					
	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract	See	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract	Se	cure	Prec	arious	No co	ontract	Se	cure	Prec	arious	No co	ontract				
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE				
Less than high- school diploma	60	(3.2)	19	(2.6)	21	(2.7)	60	(4.3)	23	(3.6)	17™	(3.2)	54	(6.1)	29 ^M	(5.0)	17™	(4.2)	U	(19.4)	U	(18.1)	Х	х				
High ophool																												

School diploma																									
High school diploma	69	(2.9)	17	(2.4)	14	(2.1)	67	(2.6)	17	(1.9)	16	(2.2)	65	(3.1)	20	(2.3)	14	(2.0)	51	(6.7)	33™	(7.0)	16 ^м	(5.2)	
Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	73	(2.7)	12	(1.8)	15™	(2.5)	76	(1.9)	12	(1.6)	12	(1.6)	76	(1.7)	11	(1.4)	12	(1.4)	78	(3.7)	11 [™]	(2.6)	11 [™]	(2.7)	
Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	66	(4.7)	17™	(3.3)	17™	(3.4)	78	(2.5)	14	(1.9)	8 ^M	(1.6)	80	(1.7)	15	(1.4)	5 ^M	(1.0)	80	(1.9)	14	(1.8)	6™	(1.2)	

Educational												PS-1	FRE												
attainment	PS-TRE non-respondents							Below Level 1							Lev	vel 1			Level 2 or 3						
	Type of employment						Type of employment						Type of employment							Type of employment					
	Secure			arious	No contract		Secure		Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Secure		Precarious		No contract		Secure		Precarious		No contract		
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	
Less than high- school diploma	66	(3.1)	17	(2.2)	17	(2.6)	62	(4.8)	18™	(3.4)	20™	(4.1)	57	(5.7)	23™	(4.0)	21™	(4.6)	46	(5.3)	36	(4.9)	18 ^M	(4.4)	
High school diploma	72	(2.9)	15™	(2.7)	13	(2.0)	71	(3.4)	16™	(2.9)	13™	(2.6)	66	(2.9)	18	(2.2)	16	(2.1)	59	(2.7)	24	(2.1)	16	(2.0)	
Postsecondary education – below bachelor's degree	77	(2.7)	15	(2.3)	9м	(1.9)	73	(2.5)	13	(1.8)	14	(2.2)	76	(1.7)	11	(1.2)	13	(1.5)	76	(1.6)	11	(1.4)	13	(1.5)	
Postsecondary education – bachelor's degree or higher	72	(4.2)	14 ^M	(3.0)	14 ^M	(3.4)	72	(4.4)	14 ^M	(3.3)	13 ^M	(3.1)	81	(1.8)	13	(1.4)	7™	(1.4)	79	(1.4)	15	(1.2)	5	(0.8)	

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Table 4.8 (cont'd)

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

x Suppressed to meet the confidentiality requirements of the Statistics Act
Table 4.9

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by type of employment, proficiency level and Indigenous identification, Canada, 2012

Indigenous												Liter	acy											
identification		Le	evel 1	or belo	w				Lev	el 2					Lev	el 3					Leve	4 or 5		
		Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of e	mployr	nent	
	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Prec	arious	No co	ontract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Indigenous	58	(5.0)	26	(4.1)	16 [™]	(4.8)	67	(3.4)	21	(3.2)	13™	(2.3)	72	(3.1)	19	(3.1)	9™	(1.7)	70	(7.9)	U	(7.5)	U	(4.4)
Non-Indigenous	68	(1.8)	15	(1.5)	16	(1.5)	72	(1.2)	14	(0.9)	14	(1.0)	74	(1.1)	15	(0.9)	11	(0.8)	75	(1.8)	17	(1.6)	9	(1.2)
Indigenous												Nume	eracy											
identification		Le	evel 1	or belo	w				Lev	el 2					Lev	el 3					Level	4 or 5		
		Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of e	mployr	nent	
	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Prec	arious	No co	ontract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Indigenous	59	(4.1)	26	(3.3)	15™	(3.4)	71	(3.5)	18	(2.8)	11™	(2.3)	70	(4.2)	19™	(3.6)	11 [™]	(2.5)	68	(9.1)	U	(9.2)	U	(3.2)
Non-Indigenous	68	(1.7)	15	(1.3)	17	(1.4)	72	(1.4)	15	(1.1)	13	(0.9)	74	(1.3)	15	(1.0)	11	(0.9)	76	(1.8)	16	(1.7)	9	(1.4)
Indigenous												PS-1	FRE											
identification		PS-TR	E non-	respo	ndents	5		I	Below	Level	1				Lev	el 1					Level	2 or 3		
		Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of e	mployr	nent	
	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Prec	arious	No co	ontract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Indigenous	66	(4.1)	25	(4.1)	9 ^M	(2.1)	63	(5.6)	21™	(4.4)	16 ^м	(5.3)	69	(3.5)	19	(2.8)	12 [™]	(2.6)	69	(3.7)	22	(3.5)	10 ^M	(1.8)
Non-Indigenous	72	(1.6)	15	(1.2)	13	(1.3)	71	(1.9)	14	(1.4)	15	(1.5)	73	(1.3)	14	(1.0)	13	(1.0)	73	(1.1)	17	(0.9)	11	(0.8)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 4.10

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by type of employment, proficiency level and immigrant status, Canada, 2012

Immigrant												Liter	acy											
status		Le	evel 1	or belo	w				Lev	vel 2					Lev	vel 3					Level	4 or 5		
		Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тура	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of er	nployr	nent	
	See	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Recent immigrants	64	(3.6)	15™	(3.6)	21	(2.9)	66	(3.4)	18™	(3.2)	16	(2.1)	68	(3.9)	22	(3.5)	10 ^м	(2.0)	74	(6.9)	U	(6.6)	U	(3.2)
Established immigrants	75	(3.6)	11™	(3.1)	14 [™]	(3.2)	78	(3.2)	9м	(2.4)	14 [™]	(2.7)	78	(3.6)	10™	(2.1)	12 [™]	(3.0)	74	(6.3)	U	(4.8)	U	(5.8)
Canadian-born	67	(2.4)	17	(1.9)	15	(2.0)	71	(1.4)	15	(1.0)	14	(1.2)	74	(1.2)	15	(1.0)	10	(0.9)	75	(2.0)	17	(1.8)	8	(1.2)
Immigrant									-			Nume	eracy											
status		Le	evel 1	or belo	w				Lev	el 2					Lev	vel 3					Level	4 or 5		
		Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of er	nployr	nent	
	See	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Recent immigrants	61	(3.3)	17™	(3.3)	22	(2.5)	67	(3.8)	20	(3.1)	13™	(2.3)	71	(4.6)	20 ^M	(4.0)	9 ^M	(1.8)	71	(6.8)	20 ^M	(6.2)	U	(3.0)
Established immigrants	77	(3.6)	9м	(2.7)	14™	(2.6)	75	(4.0)	11™	(2.6)	14 [™]	(3.1)	77	(4.3)	11™	(2.8)	12 [™]	(2.9)	79	(6.0)	U	(3.2)	U	(5.9)
Canadian-born	66	(2.1)	17	(1.6)	16	(1.8)	72	(1.5)	15	(1.3)	13	(1.1)	75	(1.2)	15	(1.0)	10	(0.9)	75	(2.0)	17	(1.9)	8™	(1.4)
Immigrant												PS-1	ΓRE											
status		PS-TR	E non-	-respo	ndents	5		I	Below	Level	1				Lev	vel 1					Level	2 or 3		
		Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of er	nployr	nent	
	See	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Se	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ontract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Recent immigrants	64	(4.1)	18 [™]	(3.6)	18 [™]	(2.9)	64	(4.9)	16™	(4.8)	20™	(3.6)	68	(3.8)	19 ^м	(3.3)	13™	(2.3)	69	(3.2)	21	(3.2)	10 ^M	(1.7)
Established immigrants	79	(3.7)	11 [™]	(3.0)	9м	(2.1)	74	(4.1)	9м	(2.6)	17™	(3.6)	77	(3.8)	10 ^м	(2.1)	13™	(3.2)	75	(4.2)	11 [™]	(2.2)	14 [™]	(3.4)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

^M Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

Table 4.11

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65, by type of employment, proficiency level and hourly earnings quintiles, Canada, 2012

Hourly												Liter	acy											
earnings quintile		Le	evel 1	or belo	w				Lev	el 2					Lev	vel 3					Level	4 or 5		
quintito		Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of en	nployn	nent	
	See	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Lowest quintile	55	(3.5)	21	(3.0)	25	(3.2)	54	(2.5)	26	(2.3)	20	(2.4)	51	(2.8)	35	(2.8)	14	(1.9)	44	(6.5)	38™	(6.8)	18 ^M	(5.1)
4 th quintile	72	(3.3)	15™	(2.7)	13 [™]	(2.7)	70	(2.4)	13	(2.0)	17	(2.1)	66	(2.6)	20	(2.2)	14	(2.0)	58	(6.0)	33	(5.2)	U	(3.1)
3 rd quintile	77	(3.6)	11™	(2.5)	12 [™]	(2.7)	78	(2.5)	11	(1.7)	11™	(2.0)	76	(2.3)	13	(1.7)	12 [™]	(2.0)	72	(4.9)	18™	(3.7)	U	(3.9)
2 nd quintile	71	(5.3)	15™	(4.3)	14 ^M	(4.3)	82	(2.7)	10 [™]	(2.1)	9™	(2.3)	83	(2.0)	9 ^M	(1.6)	8™	(1.5)	81	(2.9)	13™	(2.5)	U	(2.3)
Highest quintile	77	(6.0)	12 [™]	(4.0)	U	(4.9)	80	(3.0)	9™	(1.9)	11™	(2.5)	84	(2.0)	9	(1.4)	7™	(1.5)	84	(2.3)	9 ^M	(1.8)	7™	(1.8)
Hourly												Nume	racy											

поилу												Nume	racy											
earnings quintile		Le	evel 1	or belo	w				Lev	el 2					Lev	vel 3					Level	4 or 5		
quintile		Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Туре	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of en	nploym	nent	
	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	ure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Lowest quintile	55	(3.2)	22	(2.6)	23	(2.7)	54	(3.0)	27	(2.7)	19	(2.2)	49	(3.4)	35	(3.2)	16	(2.2)	41 [™]	(6.8)	45	(7.1)	14 [™]	(4.6)
4 th quintile	72	(2.8)	14	(2.2)	14	(2.3)	70	(2.7)	14	(2.0)	16	(2.3)	66	(3.0)	21	(2.3)	13 [™]	(2.4)	54	(6.6)	33™	(5.6)	U	(4.3)
3 rd quintile	74	(3.3)	12™	(2.1)	13™	(2.8)	79	(2.5)	11™	(2.0)	10™	(2.0)	75	(2.5)	13	(1.7)	12 [™]	(2.2)	73	(5.5)	15™	(4.0)	U	(4.7)
2 nd quintile	73	(5.1)	13™	(3.8)	13™	(3.7)	81	(2.8)	10™	(1.8)	9м	(2.2)	83	(2.3)	10 [™]	(1.6)	7™	(1.7)	81	(3.3)	12 [™]	(2.5)	U	(2.8)
Highest quintile	76 (5.6) 12 ^M (3.7) U (4.7)						80	(3.3)	10 [™]	(2.2)	10 [™]	(2.5)	83	(1.8)	9м	(1.5)	8™	(1.4)	85	(2.2)	8™	(1.9)	6™	(1.6)

Hourly												PS-1	RE											
earnings quintile		PS-TR	E non-	-respo	ndents	3		E	Below	Level [.]	1				Lev	el 1					Level	2 or 3		
quintile		Тур	e of er	nployr	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent			Тур	e of er	nployn	nent	
	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	See	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract	Sec	cure	Preca	arious	No co	ntract
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Lowest quintile	59	(3.4)	21	(2.3)	20™	(3.5)	56	(4.3)	23	(3.8)	21	(3.3)	52	(3.0)	28	(2.9)	20	(2.6)	47	(2.8)	37	(2.8)	16	(1.9)
4 th quintile	71	(3.2)	17	(2.7)	12	(2.0)	72	(3.5)	13™	(2.6)	15™	(3.1)	70	(2.8)	13	(2.0)	16	(2.5)	62	(2.7)	24	(2.2)	14 [™]	(2.4)
3 rd quintile	80	(3.4)	13™	(3.2)	7™	(1.6)	76	(3.6)	11™	(2.2)	14™	(2.9)	78	(2.5)	11	(1.5)	11™	(2.1)	73	(2.4)	14	(1.7)	13	(2.1)
2 nd quintile	79	(4.3)	8™	(2.3)	12™	(3.6)	75	(4.1)	15™	(3.7)	10 ^м	(3.0)	82	(2.5)	10 ^м	(2.0)	8™	(1.8)	83	(1.7)	10	(1.4)	8 ^M	(1.4)
Highest quintile	77	(5.1)	13™	(3.4)	U	(3.8)	81	(4.4)	11 [™]	(3.2)	U	(3.8)	82	(2.1)	8	(1.4)	10 [™]	(1.8)	84	(1.7)	9	(1.4)	7™	(1.2)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

x Suppressed to meet the confidentiality requirements of the Statistics Act

Table 4.12a

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 in precarious employment reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, 2012

Literacy						Precarious	employment					
	Self-r	eported h	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	it ³	Volunt	eer partici	pation ⁴	Poli	tical effica	acy⁵
		Positive			Positive		۱ N	/olunteere	d		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0		·	1.0		·
Level 2	1.0	(0.6)	-	1.9	(0.4)	-	1.5	(0.3)	-	1.0	(0.3)	-
Level 3	1.5	(0.5)	-	2.9	(0.4)	**	2.3	(0.3)	**	1.5	(0.4)	-
Level 4 or 5	2.0	(0.8)	-	4.2	(0.5)	**	3.0	(0.3)	**	2.0	(0.4)	-

Numeracy						Precarious	employment					
	Self-	reported h	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	t ³	Volunt	eer particip	ation⁴	Poli	tical effica	Cy⁵
		Positive			Positive		V	olunteered	l i		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.2	(0.4)	-	1.7	(0.3)	-	1.7	(0.3)	*	1.2	(0.3)	-
Level 3	1.8	(0.4)	-	2.1	(0.3)	*	2.1	(0.2)	**	1.5	(0.3)	-
Level 4 or 5	2.4	(0.6)	-	3.4	(0.4)	**	2.7	(0.3)	**	1.9	(0.4)	-

PS-TRE						Precarious	employment					
	Self-r	eported h	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	st ³	Volunte	er partici	pation ^₄	Poli	tical effica	acy⁵
		Positive			Positive		v	olunteere	d		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Below Level 1	1.4	(0.4)	-	1.1	(0.4)	-	1.0	(0.3)	-	1.4	(0.3)	-
Level 1	2.1	(0.4)	*	1.6	(0.3)	-	1.7	(0.3)	-	1.2	(0.3)	-
Level 2 or 3	3.0	(0.4)	**	2.8	(0.3)	**	2.4	(0.3)	**	2.0	(0.3)	**

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status and wages.

- ² PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.
- ³ PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.
- ⁴ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."
- ⁵ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.
- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant
- * represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05
- ** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01
- *** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001
- SE Standard error

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Adjusted¹ likelihood of population aged 16 to 65 in "no contract" employment reporting positive health and social outcomes, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy					6	No contract	" employmer	nt				
	Self-r	eported h	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	st ³	Volunt	eer partici	pation ⁴	Poli	tical effic	acy⁵
		Positive			Positive		۱	/olunteere	d		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.8	(0.5)	-	0.9	(0.4)	-	1.7	(0.4)	-	1.2	(0.4)	-
Level 3	2.2	(0.5)	-	1.6	(0.4)	-	2.6	(0.3)	**	2.0	(0.4)	-
Level 4 or 5	2.9	(1.5)	-	1.5	(0.6)	-	3.7	(0.5)	*	3.1	(0.5)	*

Numeracy					-	No contract	<i>«</i> employmen	τ				
	Self-ı	reported h	ealth ²	L	evel of trus	st ³		eer partici	•	Polit	tical effica	acy⁵
		Positive			Positive		V	/olunteere	d		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
Level 1 or below	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Level 2	1.5	(0.4)	-	1.1	(0.4)	-	1.7	(0.3)	-	1.4	(0.4)	-
Level 3	2.0	(0.5)	-	1.8	(0.4)	-	2.4	(0.3)	**	1.8	(0.4)	-
Level 4 or 5	2.5	(1.9)	-	2.0	(0.5)	-	2.7	(0.4)	*	3.7	(0.6)	*

PS-TRE					6	No contract	" employmen	t				
	Self-r	eported h	ealth ²	Le	evel of trus	st ³	Volunte	er partici	pation ^₄	Poli	tical effica	acy⁵
		Positive			Positive		v	olunteere	d		Positive	
	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value	Odds ratio	SE	p-value
PS-TRE non-respondents	1.0			1.0			1.0			1.0		
Below Level 1	0.7	(0.5)	-	1.1	(0.4)	-	1.1	(0.3)	-	1.3	(0.4)	-
Level 1	1.3	(0.5)	-	1.4	(0.3)	-	2.2	(0.3)	**	1.7	(0.3)	_
Level 2 or 3	1.1	(0.5)	-	2.2	(0.4)	*	3.3	(0.3)	***	3.0	(0.4)	**

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

Notes:

¹ Odds ratios are adjusted for age, gender, educational attainment, Indigenous identification, immigrant status and wages.

² PIAAC measures self-reported health by having respondents respond to the following question: "In general, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Responses of "excellent," "very good," or "good" are considered measures of positive health status, while responses of "fair" or "poor" are considered measures of negative health status.

³ PIAAC measures trust by the extent to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "there are only a few people you can trust completely." Those who disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement are considered to have positive level of trust. Those who strongly agreed or agreed were considered to have negative level of trust.

⁴ PIAAC measures volunteer participation by whether respondents report doing any voluntary work "in the previous 12 months, including unpaid work for a charity, political party, trade union or other non-profit organization."

⁵ PIAAC measures political efficacy by whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the statement: "People like me don't have any say about what the government does." Respondents have high or positive political efficacy if they strongly disagreed or disagreed with this statement. Those who strongly agreed or agreed with the statement are considered to have low or negative political efficacy.

- represents a p-value that is not statistically significant

* represents a statistically significant p-value of <0.05

** represents a statistically substantially significant p-value of <0.01

*** represents a statistically highly significant p-value of <0.001

Literacy, numeracy and PS-TRE — Percentage distributions of population aged 16 to 65 who report leaving or not seeking employment for health or family reasons, by proficiency level, Canada, 2012

Literacy	Stop	oing wo reas		health		ooking ing tem or in				t lookin long-te disal	•			opping y respo child	nsibili			ooking oking at ho		
	Y	es	I	lo	Y	es	Ν	lo	Y	es	I	lo	Y	es	1	No	Y	es	N	lo
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	17	(2.7)	83	(2.7)	4 ^M	(0.9)	96	(0.9)	28	(2.4)	72	(2.4)	13™	(2.4)	87	(2.4)	22	(2.0)	78	(2.0)
Level 2	12	(1.8)	88	(1.8)	3™	(0.8)	97	(0.8)	16	(1.5)	84	(1.5)	11	(1.5)	89	(1.5)	21	(1.8)	79	(1.8)
Level 3	7™	(1.4)	93	(1.4)	U	(0.5)	99	(0.5)	10	(1.4)	90	(1.4)	9™	(1.7)	91	(1.7)	16	(1.8)	84	(1.8)
Level 4 or 5	U	(1.4)	97	(1.4)	х	х	100	(0.4)	U	(3.8)	90	(3.8)	U	(4.1)	89	(4.1)	16™	(4.0)	84	(4.0)
Numeracy	Stop	Stopping work for health reasons Yes No				ooking ing tem or in				t lookin long-te disal	•			opping y respo child	nsibili			ooking oking at ho		
	Y	es	I	lo	Y	es	N	lo	Y	es	I	lo	Y	es	I	lo	Y	es	ľ	lo
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
Level 1 or below	16	(2.1)	84	(2.1)	4 ^M	(0.9)	96	(0.9)	27	(2.1)	73	(2.1)	14	(2.1)	86	(2.1)	23	(1.7)	77	(1.7)
Level 2	11	(1.6)	89	(1.6)	3™	(0.9)	97	(0.9)	14	(1.6)	86	(1.6)	11 [™]	(1.9)	89	(1.9)	21	(1.9)	79	(1.9)
Level 3	6™	(1.7)	94	(1.7)	U	(0.4)	99	(0.4)	10™	(1.8)	90	(1.8)	9м	(2.2)	91	(2.2)	14	(2.0)	86	(2.0)
Level 4 or 5	U	(1.3)	98	(1.3)	х	Х	100	(0.3)	U	(2.6)	94	(2.6)	U	(3.4)	94	(3.4)	U	(4.1)	90	(4.1)
PS-TRE	Stop	oing wo reas		health		ooking ing tem or in				t lookin long-te disa	•			opping y respo child	nsibili			ooking oking at ho		
	Y	es	I	lo	Y	es	N	lo	Ŷ	es	I	No	Y	es		No	Y	es	N	lo
	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE	%	SE
PS-TRE non-respondents	17	(2.5)	83	(2.5)	3™	(0.7)	97	(0.7)	27	(1.9)	73	(1.9)	9™	(1.9)	91	(1.9)	20	(1.8)	80	(1.8)
Below Level 1	18	(2.8)	82	(2.8)	5™	(1.5)	95	(1.5)	23	(2.7)	77	(2.7)	13 [™]	(2.8)	87	(2.8)	19	(2.4)	81	(2.4)
Level 1	10™					(1.0)	98	(1.0)	12	(1.8)	88	(1.8)	11™	(2.1)	89	(2.1)	21	(2.1)	79	(2.1)
Level 2 or 3	U	(1.3)	97	(1.3)	U	(0.3)	99	(0.3)	6™	(1.3)	94	(1.3)	10 [™]	(2.2)	90	(2.2)	17	(2.0)	83	(2.0)

Source: The Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, 2012.

[™] Use with caution

U Too unreliable to be published

x Suppressed to meet the confidentiality requirements of the Statistics Act



APPENDIX III

LIST OF PARTNERS

The following dedicated professionals working in federal, provincial, and territorial departments and agencies across the country were instrumental in making this study a reality through analysis, collaboration, and provision of guidance and various other forms of support.

The Public Health Agency of Canada, and the Council of Ministers of Education, Canada, thank them for their support and encouragement.

AUTHORS

Linda Jacobsen	Public Health Agency of Canada
Andrea Long	Public Health Agency of Canada

ANALYSTS AND CONSULTANTS

Rojiemiahd Edjoc	Public Health Agency of Canada
Yipu Shi	Public Health Agency of Canada
Yitian Tao	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Tanya Scerbina	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Scott Murray	DataAngel Policy Research Inc.
Paul Peters	Departments of Sociology and Economics, University of New Brunswick

PRODUCTION TEAM²⁴

Peter Aterman	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Laura Blakeley-Dejy	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Chelsea Smith	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Jelena Zikic	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada

PARTNERS AND CONTRIBUTORS

Expert group	
Karen Serwonka	Government of Manitoba, Health, Seniors and Active Living
Patricia Noble	Government of New Brunswick, Department of Post-Secondary Education, Training and Labour
Jill Casey	Government of Nova Scotia, Department of Health and Wellness
Diane Gordon	Government of Nova Scotia, Department of Labour and Advanced Education
Li Xu	Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada
Xiaodi Xie	Employment and Social Development Canada

²⁴ Note of appreciation to the copy-editing, translation, and design services at the Council of Ministers of Education, Canada.

Rojiemiahd Edjoc	Public Health Agency of Canada
Andrea Long	Public Health Agency of Canada
Yipu Shi	Public Health Agency of Canada
Laura Blakeley-Dejy	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Marie Macauley	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Tanya Scerbina	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Chelsea Smith	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Katerina Sukovski	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Yitian Tao	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada

Members of the PIAAC Advisory Committee

Heather McTiernan	Government of New Brunswick, Department of Post-Secondary Education, Training and Labour
Diane Gordon	Government of Nova Scotia, Department of Labour and Advanced Education
Patricia Mangeol	Government of Ontario, Ministry of Advanced Education and Skills Development
Alexandra Schwenger	Government of Ontario, Ministry of Advanced Education and Skills Development
Mylène Jetté	Government of Quebec, ministère de l'Éducation et de l'Enseignement supérieur
Valérie Saysset	Government of Quebec, ministère de l'Éducation et de l'Enseignement supérieur
Nancy Buchanan	Government of Manitoba, Department of Children and Youth Opportunities
Dallas Morrow	Government of Manitoba, Department of Education and Advanced Learning
Marie Larsson	Government of the Northwest Territories, Department of Education, Culture and Employment
Rita Mueller	Government of the Northwest Territories, Department of Education, Culture and Employment
Kathryn Walker	Government of the Northwest Territories, Education, Culture and Employment
Louis Chen	Government of British Columbia, Ministry of Advanced Education
Barbara MacNutt	Government of Prince Edward Island, Department of Workforce and Advanced Learning
Tracy Camilleri	Government of Yukon, Yukon Education
Pamela Cunningham	Government of Alberta, Ministry of Advanced Education
Lindsay Manz	Government of Alberta, Ministry of Advanced Education
Anne-Marie Chevalier	Government of Saskatchewan, Ministry of Education
Maureen Johns	Government of Saskatchewan, Ministry of Education
Cindy Christopher	Government of Newfoundland and Labrador Department of Advanced Education, Skills and Labour
Heather Legge	Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, Department of Advanced Education, Skills and Labour
Joan Wamiti	Government of Nunavut, Department of Education
Peter McIntyre	Canadian Northern Economic Development Agency
Gilles Bérubé	Employment and Social Development Canada
Bruno Rainville	Employment and Social Development Canada
Jonathan Will	Employment and Social Development Canada

Li Xu	Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada
Xiaoyi Yan	Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada
Christopher Penney	Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada
Jeanette Steffler	Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada
Jane Laishes	Public Health Agency of Canada
Andrea Long	Public Health Agency of Canada
Sylvie Grenier	Statistics Canada
Chantal C. Beaulieu	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada
Katerina Sukovski	Council of Ministers of Education, Canada

www.piaac.ca